
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk

28 May 2021

Committee Overview and Scrutiny

Date Tuesday, 8 June 2021

Time of Meeting 4:30 pm

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1.  ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the 
nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the 
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions 
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point; 
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so. 

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 
leaving the building.  

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions. 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare any 
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the 
approved Code applies.

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Item Page(s)

2

4.  MINUTES 1 - 9

To approve the Minutes of the meetings held on 6 April and 4 May 2021. 

5.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 10 - 18

To determine whether there are any questions for the relevant Lead 
Members and what support the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can 
give to work contained within the Plan.

6.  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
2021/22

19 - 28

To consider the forthcoming work of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

7.  PRESENTATION FROM SEVERN TRENT WATER

To receive an update on the works carried out to the Severn Ham as a 
result of the Scrutiny Review of Water Supply Outage in 2019.

8.  COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER AND COVID-19 
RECOVERY TRACKER - QUARTER FOUR 2020/21

29 - 117

To review and scrutinise the performance management and recovery 
information and, where appropriate, to require response or action from the 
Executive Committee. 

9.  CORPORATE LIST OF POLICIES AND STRATEGIES 118 - 126

To consider the list of polices and strategies that will inform the Executive 
Committee Work Programme 2021/22.

10.  CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE - PROGRESS OF ACTION PLAN 127 - 152

To consider the progress made in delivering the corporate peer challenge 
action plan.  

11.  PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR HOUSING SCHEME 153 - 159

To receive a report on progress of the Private Rented Housing Sector 
Scheme. 

12.  SEPARATE BUSINESS

The Chair will move the adoption of the following resolution:

That under Section 100(A)(4) Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded for the following items on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act.

13.  SEPARATE MINUTES 160 - 161

To approve the separate Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
6 April 2021. 



Item Page(s)

3

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
TUESDAY, 13 JULY 2021

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE
Councillors: G J Bocking, C L J Carter, K J Cromwell (Chair), P A Godwin, H C McLain,                                  
P D McLain, H S Munro, J W Murphy (Vice-Chair), J K Smith, R J G Smith, S A T Stevens,                                 
P D Surman, S Thomson, M J Williams and P N Workman 

Substitution Arrangements 

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings 

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with. 

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting 
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting. 



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held remotely on 
Tuesday, 6 April 2021 commencing at 4:30 pm

Present:

Chair Councillor K J Cromwell
Vice Chair Councillor J W Murphy

and Councillors:

G J Bocking, C L J Carter, P A Godwin, P D McLain, H S Munro, J K Smith, R J G Smith,                          
P D Surman and M J Williams

also present:

Councillor J R Mason

OS.80 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

80.1 The Chair advised that the meeting was being held under the emergency provisions 
of the Coronavirus Act 2020 and, specifically, the Local Authorities and Police and 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime 
Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020.  The meeting was being 
broadcast live via the internet, it was not being recorded by the Council but, under 
the usual transparency rules, it may be being recorded by others.  

OS.81 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

81.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H C McLain, S Thomson and 
P N Workman. 

OS.82 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

82.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from                 
1 July 2012.

82.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

OS.83 MINUTES 

83.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2021, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record.  

83.2 The Chief Executive advised that he would be circulating previously promised 
updates on the development at the airport, the A417 missing links and Junctions 9 
and 10 of the M5 motorway to Members later in the week. 

1

Agenda Item 4



OS.06.04.21

OS.84 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

 84.1 Attention was drawn to the Executive Committee Forward Plan, circulated at Pages 
No. 12-18. Members were asked to determine whether there were any questions for 
the relevant Lead Members and what support the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
could give to the work contained within the Plan. 

84.2 Accordingly, it was 
RESOLVED That the Executive Committee Forward Plan be NOTED. 

OS.85 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

85.1 Attention was drawn to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
2021/22, circulated at Pages No. 19-32, which Members were asked to consider.  

85.2 The Head of Corporate Services advised that the Work Programme was shaping up 
nicely and he drew attention to some key points of interest: the presentation from 
Severn Trent Water, which was an outstanding action following the scrutiny review 
of the water outage in 2019, had now been added for consideration  at the meeting 
on 8 June; the monitoring of the Local Government Association (LGA) Peer 
Challenge Report Action Plan would be considered for the first time at the meeting 
on 8 June; and, on 13 July, the first annual report on the work of the Climate 
Change and Flood Risk Management Group would be received. There were still a 
number of items in the pending section and it was hoped they would be 
programmed in as soon as possible. 

85.3 Accordingly, it was 
RESOLVED That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

2021/22 be NOTED. 

OS.86 GROWTH HUB PRESENTATION 

86.1 The Economic and Community Development Manager indicated that the 
presentation aimed to provide Members with the context of where the Borough was 
from an economic point of view. The presentation covered the following main 
points: 

 The whole country had been affected by the COVID pandemic and 
Tewkesbury Borough was no different. The Borough had 4,390 businesses 
of which 3,875 were micro businesses (up to nine employees). The 
unemployment rate was 3.7% which equated to 2,090 people in February 
2020 – the Gloucestershire rate was 4.4%. Up to March 2020, the total staff 
on furlough was 15,600 but as of January 2021 this was 6,400. Primarily the 
furlough was within the accommodation, hospitality, wholesale and retail 
sectors. This economic context had influenced, and would continue to 
influence, the Growth Hub delivery and service. 

 Tewkesbury Growth Hub – flagship delivery – the Growth Hub had been 
opened in 2018 and was the first one in the world delivered within a local 
authority setting. The key aims of the Growth Hub network were to help 
businesses to start-up, grow and reach their full potential; to provide support 
for businesses to accelerate growth; and to enable businesses to meet, 
network and promote their services to each other. The Council’s award 
winning Hub did all of that and continued to be a flagship for the County and 
Growth Hub network successfully delivering the unique selling point of 
linking hub support with Council services. The Hub currently had two full-
time members of staff – Hub Manager and Navigator - yet it still punched 

2



OS.06.04.21

above its weight in terms of the work it did with, and support offered to, 
businesses. 

 Growth Hub Service – offered a support solution for every business with the 
support available being dependent on the growth stage and ambition of 
each business. Advice was provided to pre, new start and growing 
businesses with a full business navigator service providing free online 
support – this would be face to face again when COVID rules allowed – 
including specialist advice and signposting with mentors, guides and 
delivery partners. It provided an online resource centre and business 
directory as well as workshops and one-to-one advice sessions. It also had 
the unique selling point of being a one-stop-shop for regulatory, planning 
and environmental health advice. 

 Growth Hub Network – the network in Gloucestershire was unique in that it 
had a Hub in each district. This had started in Gloucester in 2014, followed 
by smaller access points in county libraries; Cirencester Hub had opened in 
2018, followed shortly thereafter by Tewkesbury Growth Hub, and Stroud 
Hub had opened in 2020 – this meant it had opened and almost immediately 
had offered its services remotely due to the COVID pandemic. The Forest of 
Dean Hub was due to open later this year and Cheltenham was due to open 
properly in December 2021 – although it had been operating virtually since 
March 2021. 

 Engagement – the Tewkesbury Growth Hub continued to achieve high 
engagement with Hub visitors at 1,967 to February 2020; delivery of 384 
intensive growth business plans; delivery of over 5,000 business support 
interactions; delivery of 193 business events/webinars; and 770 attendees 
welcomed since opening in November 2018. As one of the smaller Hubs in 
the network the team was extremely proud of its engagement figures. 

 Businesses supported – there was roughly a 40:60 ratio trend of start-up to 
existing businesses. The Borough coverage included a diverse range of 
sectors including manufacturing, food/drink, tourism and retail/hospitality. 
The key support themes included digital, marketing, growth strategy, 
diversification and staffing and the Tewkesbury Hub had worked with library 
Growth Hubs on a creative sector business group - which now had 30 
Members – as well as on innovation labs. As part of its integrated delivery 
with other agencies within the Council Offices building it had worked with 
Job Centre Plus to deliver 14 confidence and upskilling workshop events. 
These had been successful and the teams were now looking at working 
together as a partnership to deliver a Youth Hub. 

 How the Hub had adapted during COVID-19 – the Hub had acted rapidly to 
realign services to virtual business support with all Hub events and one-to-
one sessions, including targeted COVID support – being moved online to 
deliver 107 events to 364 attendees. The COVID-19 business survey had 
been set up to ensure targeted support and that information was used to 
feed back to government - this had been reflected in some of the changes 
made to government support throughout the pandemic. Growth Hub 
mentors had run three panel Q&A sessions providing COVID support and 
advice and a ‘thrive and survive’ advice section had been developed on the 
Hub website – this helped people get support as quickly as possible as well 
as helping to manage the amount of telephone calls that were being 
received. 

 Wider COVID support – as well as business support interactions, the Hub 
worked across a number of other areas: business cell support – supported 
the promotion and roll out of government schemes getting assistance out to 
companies as quickly as possible; proactively contacted over 2,000 

3



OS.06.04.21

businesses in lockdown to promote grants; offered a ‘wraparound’ business 
support and advice service; and gave advice to businesses which were not 
eligible for the grants/reliefs announced. Recovery cell support – delivery of 
the government’s ‘Reopening the High Street Safely’ fund; proactively 
contacted businesses to signpost advice on reopening; business survey to 
capture feedback on current needs; town centre ambassadors programme; 
promotion of shop safe and shop local messages. The team had also 
administered business flood grants to those affected by flooding early in 
2020. 

 Wider support activities – European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 
for small and medium enterprises (SME); Recovery Grants for SME 
economic recovery and visitor economy; Scale Up 4 Growth funding 
programme which provided grants of £10,000 to £40,000 to help SMEs 
scale up and grow; peer networks which was a peer to peer networking 
programme for SMEs delivered locally by the Growth Hub Network; 
specialist guides which offered one to one advice in skills, digital, 
sustainability and change management; EU exit advisors who supported 
business which had EU exit questions; and a skills portal which worked with 
GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and provided careers and skills 
support. 

 Case Studies – examples of some support provided included: a 
manufacturing company which had been supported with its growth plan, 
helped to identify funding opportunities for new equipment and to scale up 
and gain advice on apprentice opportunities and link with schools; a retail 
business that had been supported to build an online presence and shop, 
helped with skills development in marketing, including social media, and 
how to use video and photography to raise its profile;  a pub which had been 
helped to adapt in line with government guidance to maintain viability and 
footfall as well as with its online presence; and a hospitality business had 
been advised on diversification of its business to maintain growth and 
viability, pivoting its offer and raising its profile through marketing, social 
media and development of its online presence. 

 The Future – a plan was being developed for reopening Tewkesbury Growth 
Hub in line with government guidance. It was likely to take an appointment 
based approach initially and would also retain elements of the virtual offer 
and webinars going forward. Recovery work would form part of the everyday 
activities of the Hub for the foreseeable future and Tewkesbury’s Growth 
Hub would work closely with key partners at the LEP, and across the 
Growth Hub network to support businesses with their recovery plans. In 
terms of recovery plan delivery, the effort in the coming months would be 
focussed on a potential Youth Hub; support grants; the ‘support local’ 
campaign; and sector focussed support. 

86.2 A Member noted that the logistical challenges of face to face meetings would 
create additional work and take time to implement and he questioned whether, with 
two members of staff, the Hub was able to meet the challenges of the recovery 
work. In response, the Growth and Enterprise Manager advised that the Hub had 
the support of the wider Growth Hub network which was invaluable but she was 
also reviewing the resources within the Tewkesbury Growth Hub and there may be 
a need to bring in extra people to help. The team endeavoured to keep on top of its 
own staff training in order that it was able to continue to provide the best support 
and the team had already sat in on events which had been run by specialist 
advisors to ensure they were always learning and developing their own knowledge. 
In addition, the Head of Development Services confirmed that the Growth Hub had 
the support of a number of other teams within the Council and it was that wide 
range of knowledge and advice that made Tewkesbury’s Growth Hub so 

4



OS.06.04.21

successful. There was also a really good network across the county which shared 
information to ensure the best support was offered to all businesses. In terms of 
the team members, she advised that she had recently gained approval for another 
post in the team which would provide the opportunity to bolster the resource within 
it. 

86.3 In response to a query regarding charging for advice, the Growth and Enterprise 
Manager confirmed that ERDF funding was fully funded but there may be elements 
going forward that the Council could look at charging for outside of the standard 
Growth Hub advice and support and she would be looking at how that could work. 
For example, the Cirencester Hub charged for people to co-work there and this 
would be a possibility for Tewkesbury going forward; however, the priority at this 
stage was getting back into the Hub. In response to a query regarding the 
challenges throughout the year, the Growth and Enterprise Manager indicated that 
changing the whole offer to an online service had been immensely challenging and 
she was proud of the work that had been done. She felt that not being able to have 
face to face meetings had been restricting as that interaction was important in 
building relationships which was something Tewkesbury Growth Hub prided itself 
on so she was keen to return to the Hub as quickly as possible. All of the 
networking events, seminars etc. had been delivered online in the last year and all 
promotional material and paperwork had been converted to ensure they could be 
circulated digitally. It was fully understood that some businesses would not 
necessarily be going back to their offices so it was important to retain the options 
of face to face and digital interaction to run alongside each other. 

86.4 Some Members questioned how businesses in their areas could gain advice and 
the Growth and Enterprise Manager confirmed that any business could go to any 
of the Growth Hubs in the county network. In normal times the Tewkesbury Growth 
Hub team would visit businesses that were not able to get to Tewkesbury but this 
had not been possible during the pandemic. The Hub was conscious of retaining 
its own specific identity and maintaining its own relationships, delivery partners and 
local providers so it could remain sustainable going forward. It had its own in-
house services that businesses needed and that set Tewkesbury apart from other 
Growth Hubs within the county. Its setting, alongside other partners such as the 
Department for Work and Pensions via the Job Centre Plus, within the Council 
Offices enabled it to pursue new ideas like the creation of a Youth Hub to help 
young people with employment opportunities. 

86.5 Members thanked the Officers for their informative presentation and, it was 
RESOLVED That the Growth Hub presentation be NOTED. 

OS.87 DEPOT SERVICES WORKING GROUP UPDATE 

87.1 The report of the Head of Community Services, circulated at Pages No. 33-38, set 
out the progress made by the Depot Services Working Group and asked the 
Committee to agree that the Working Group continue its work for the forthcoming 
Municipal Year. 

87.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair welcomed the Chair of the Depot 
Services Working Group (and Lead Member for Clean and Green Environment) to 
introduce the report. He explained that the Depot Services Working Group had 
now come to the end of the workstream it had been set up to complete but 
Members felt there was still a lot of work for the Working Group to do in respect of 
waste, recycling and grounds maintenance and it would like to continue if agreed 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Ubico was growing and, as both a 
partner and user of the service, Members felt it would be prudent to keep a close 
eye on its contract to ensure it was being delivered in the best way possible. The 
Council had been looking at the different ways of delivering its commercial waste 
service and would soon start looking for a new depot – likely in partnership with 

5



OS.06.04.21

Cheltenham Borough Council – and it was hoped the Depot Services Working 
Group would be able to help with those workstreams. 

87.3 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee indicated that, as a Member of 
the Depot Services Working Group, he felt the Working Group should continue but 
that it may be beneficial for it to meet more regularly than the quarterly 
arrangement suggested. He was aware that it was grass cutting season and that, 
along with the commercial waste service changes, quarterly may not be frequent 
enough going forward. It was understood that there needed to be a balance 
between Members being kept informed and some projects not having much 
movement between meetings so it was agreed that an item would be included on 
the Agenda for the next Working Group meeting to consider the frequency of 
meetings. 

87.4 Accordingly, it was 
RESOLVED 1.  That the progress of the Depot Services Working Group be 

     NOTED. 
2.  That the Depot Services Working Group continue to meet 
     for the forthcoming Municipal Year. 

OS.88 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 

88.1 The report of the Head of Corporate Services, circulated at Pages No. 39-56, set 
out the Committee’s annual report for 2020/21 which Members were asked to 
approve.  

88.2 The Committee was advised that it was a requirement of the Council’s Constitution 
that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee reported annually to Council and the 
report before Members sought to ensure the Council’s scrutiny work was 
transparent and that the Council was held accountable for its decision-making with 
the needs of the community being considered. The annual report provided the 
opportunity for both the Council and the public to view the work of the Committee. 
The Head of Corporate Services advised that the Committee had undertaken 
fantastic work throughout 2020/21 and had more than fulfilled its Terms of 
Reference with Working Groups, speakers, Motions and strategy action plan 
reviews. 

88.3 Members were advised that, within the report, it had been noted that the annual 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee report would be considered by the Council in 
April; subsequently that meeting had been cancelled and the report would now go to 
Council in June. In the meantime, if any Members wished to suggest any contextual 
amendments, which did not change the substance of the report, they were invited to 
email them to the Head of Corporate Services who would make the changes. 
Accordingly, it was 
RESOLVED 1.  That Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual Report 

     2020/21 be APPROVED. 
2.  That any suggested contextual amendments be delegated 
     to the Head of Corporate Services, in consultation with the 
     Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee, subject to them not 
     changing the substance of the report. 

6



OS.06.04.21

OS.89 SEPARATE BUSINESS 

89.1 The Chair proposed, and it was
RESOLVED That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items on the grounds that they involve the likely discussion of 
exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act.

OS.90 SEPARATE MINUTES 

90.1 The separate Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2021, copies of which had 
been circulated, were approved as a correct record. 

OS.91 TRADE / COMMERCIAL WASTE SERVICE BUSINESS CASE - INITIAL 
PROJECT MILESTONES 

(Exempt –Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 –Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information))

91.1 The Committee noted the report which set out the initial project milestones for the 
trade/commercial waste service. 

The meeting closed at 6:00 pm

7



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held remotely on 
Tuesday, 4 May 2021 commencing at 6:45 pm

Present:

Chair Councillor K J Cromwell
Vice Chair Councillor J W Murphy

and Councillors:

G J Bocking, P A Godwin, P D McLain, J K Smith, R J G Smith, P D Surman, S Thomson,                          
M J Williams and P N Workman

OS.1 ELECTION OF CHAIR 

1.1 The Mayor opened the meeting by seeking nominations for the Chairmanship of the 
Committee. 

1.2 It was proposed and seconded that Councillor K J Cromwell be nominated as Chair 
of the Committee. Upon being put to the vote it was 
RESOLVED That Councillor K J Cromwell be elected as Chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the ensuing Municipal 
Year.   

OS.2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR 

2.1 Councillor K J Cromwell took the chair and invited nominations for Vice-Chair of the 
Committee. 

2.2 It was proposed and seconded that Councillor J W Murphy be nominated as Vice-
Chair of the Committee. Upon being put to the vote it was 
RESOLVED That Councillor J W Murphy be appointed as Vice-

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
ensuing Municipal Year.   

OS.3 NOMINATION TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

3.1 The Chair invited nominations for a representative and a reserve representative to 
sit on the County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
ensuing Municipal Year.  It was proposed and seconded that Councillor J K Smith 
be the representative. There was no reserve representative appointed.  Accordingly 
it was
RESOLVED That Councillor J K Smith be appointed as the Council’s 

representative on the Gloucestershire Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for the ensuing Municipal Year.

8



OS.04.05.21

OS.4 NOMINATION TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

4.1 The Chair invited nominations for a representative and a reserve representative to 
sit on the County Council’s Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee for the ensuing 
Municipal Year.  It was proposed and seconded that Councillor J W Murphy be the 
representative. There was no reserve representative appointed.  Accordingly it was
RESOLVED That Councillor J W Murphy be appointed as the Council’s 

representative on the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Scrutiny Committee for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

The meeting closed at 6:50 pm

9



1
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 2021/22

REGULAR ITEM:
 Forward Plan – To note the forthcoming items.

Committee Date:  2 June 2021  

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Call for Evidence on 
Remote Meetings. 

To agree a response to the call for 
evidence on remote meetings.

Head of Democratic Services. No. 

Community Governance 
Review. 

To consider. Head of Democratic Services. No. 

Decision Taken Under 
Urgency Powers – Heritage 
Action Zone Funding.

To note the decision taken under 
urgency powers. 

Chief Executive. No. 

Welcome Back Fund. To delegate authority for the spending 
of the fund. 

Community and Economic 
Development Manager. 

No. 

Confidential Item: Financial 
Support for Crown Close 
Redevelopment by Rooftop 
Housing. 

To consider a proposal from Rooftop 
and, pending planning approval, 
support the use of the commuted sums 
funding for the Crown Close 
Development. 

Housing Services Manager. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)).

10

A
genda Item

 5



2
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date:  7 July 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Financial Outturn Report 
(including Capital Financing 
and Earmarked Reserves) 
(Annual). 

To consider the Council’s financial 
outturn.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No. 

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Four 2020/21.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter four performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

A417 Missing Link 
Development Consent 
Order.

To consider the Consent Order. Head of Development Services. No. 

Tewkesbury Shop Front 
Design Guidance 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD).

To agree the document for the 
purposes of consultation. 

Planning Policy Manager. No. 

Heritage Strategy. To seek approval for consultation Planning Policy Manager. No. 

11



3
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 1 September 2021     

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Financial Update – Quarter 
One 2021/22.

To consider the quarterly budget 
position.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Proceeds of Crime and 
Anti-Money Laundering 
Policy. 

To approve the Money Laundering 
Policy following a recommendation 
from the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

Head of Corporate Services. Yes – Moved from June meeting 
to enable consideration by the 
Audit and Governance Committee 
in July. 

Internet and Social Media 
Investigation Policy. 

To approve the Internet and Social Media 
Investigation Policy following a 
recommendation from the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-Off 
Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

12



4
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 6 October 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
One 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter one performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. 

13



5
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date:  17 November 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Financial Update – Quarter 
Two 2020/21.

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

14



6
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date:  5 January 2022   

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (Annual).

To recommend to Council the adoption of 
the five-year MTFS which describes the 
financial environment the Council is 
operating in and the pressures it will face 
in delivering its services and a balanced 
budget over the period.

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Housing Strategy Monitoring 
Report (Annual).

To approve the Housing Strategy 
Monitoring Report.  

Housing Services Manager. No.

Treasury and Capital 
Management (Annual)

To approve and recommend approval to 
Council, a range of statutorily required 
polices and strategies relating to treasury 
and capital management. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

15



7
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 February 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Budget 2022/23 (Annual). To recommend a budget for 2022/23 to 
the Council. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Financial Update - Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.

No.

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Two 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter two performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly).

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)).

16



8
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

Committee Date: 2 March 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Committee Date: 30 March 2022    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management and recovery information.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

Council Plan 2020/24 
Refresh (Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a 
recommendation to Council.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual).

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2021/22.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

17



9
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold

PENDING ITEMS

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Date Item Added to 
Pending 

Spring Gardens Regeneration 
Phase 1a report.

To agree the recommendation of the preferred option for the regeneration of 
Spring Gardens.

4 September 2019

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 6 January 2020

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the statutory responses to the Parking Strategy Review. 6 January 2020

Council Plan 2020/24 Refresh 
(Annual).

To consider the Council Plan and make a recommendation to Council. 3 February 2021

COVID-19 Corporate 
Recovery Plan Refresh 

To consider the COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan. 3 February 2021

18



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22

REGULAR ITEMS:
 Executive Committee Forward Plan
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2021/22

Additions to 8 June 2021 

Deletions from 8 June 2021  

Committee Date: 13 July 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Climate Change Strategy 
Annual Report 

To receive the annual report on the work 
of the Climate Change and Flood Risk 
Management Group. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management

No.

Annual Workforce 
Development Strategy 
Review

To consider progress made against 
delivery of the Workforce Development 
Strategy. 

Head of Corporate Services No

Ubico Report 2020/21 To consider the Ubico performance 
report for 2020/21

Head of Community Services No.

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (9 June 2021).

N/A No.

19

A
genda Item

 6



Committee Date: 13 July 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (15 June 2021).

N/A No.

Gloucestershire Police and 
Crime Panel Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (7 July 2021).

N/A No.

Trade/Commercial Waste 
Service Business Case – 
Project Update 
(Confidential).

To receive an update on the project. Head of Commercial Services. No.

20



Committee Date: 7 September 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Citizens’ Advice Bureau 
Presentation

To consider the annual update on 
Citizens’ Advice Bureau activity in the 
borough.

Economic and Community 
Development Manager

No.

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
One 2021/22 

To review and scrutinise the performance 
management and recovery information 
and, where appropriate, to require 
response or action from the Executive 
Committee.

Head of Corporate Services No.

Lessons learned review 
following the COVID-19 
pandemic

To receive a report setting out lessons 
learned in responding to and recovery 
from COVID-19.

Head of Corporate Services No. 

Development Services 
Improvement Plan

To receive an update on the outcomes of 
the customer satisfaction survey on 
experience of planning application 
process and the pre-application planning 
advice service and, if relevant, an 
explanation on any outstanding actions.

Head of Development Services Yes – deferred from 16 June 2020. 
Improvement plan to be reviewed by 
new Head of Development Services. 

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (13 July 2021).

N/A No.

21



Committee Date: 12 October 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy

To consider the progress made against 
the delivery of the Economic 
Development and Tourism Strategy – 
year 4 (2021/22 actions) 

Economic and Community 
Development Manager

No.

Complaints Report To consider the annual update to provide 
assurance that complaints are managed 
effectively.

Head of Corporate Services No.

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (14 September 2021).

N/A No.

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (15 September 2021).

N/A No.

Gloucestershire Police and 
Crime Panel Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (28 September 2021).

N/A No.

22



Committee Date: 23 November 2021

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

LGA Peer Challenge Report 
Action Plan

To monitor implementation of the action 
plan (6 monthly).

Head of Corporate Services No.

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (20 October and 17 
November 2021).

N/A No.

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (16 November 2021).

N/A No.

Gloucestershire Police and 
Crime Panel Update

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (3 November 2021).

N/A No.

23



Committee Date:  11 January 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Two 2021/22 

To review and scrutinise the performance 
management and recovery information 
and, where appropriate, to require 
response or action from the Executive 
Committee.

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

24



Committee Date:  8 February 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Annual Growth Hub report To receive a report on the performance 
of the Growth Hub and the support given 
to the economic growth of the borough. 

Economic and Community 
Development Manager.

No.

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 2022/23 
Financial Contribution

To conduct the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Council’s 
involvement in the Gloucestershire 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
in order to authorise payment of the 
Council’s contribution to the running 
costs for the forthcoming year. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.

25



Committee Date: 8 March 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Three 2021/22.

To review and scrutinise the performance 
management and recovery information 
and, where appropriate, to require 
response or action from the Executive 
Committee.

Head of Corporate Services No.

26



Committee Date: 5 April 2022

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required  

Customer Care Strategy To consider the progress made against 
the actions within the Customer Care 
Strategy during 2021/22 and to endorse 
the action plan for 2022/23.

Head of Corporate Services No.

Communications Strategy 
2020-24

To consider the progress made against 
the actions within the Communications 
Strategy during 2021/22 and to endorse 
the action plan for 2022/23.

Corporate Services Manager No.

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Annual Report 
2021/22

To approve the annual report as required 
by the Council’s Constitution to ensure 
that the activities of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are promoted, both 
internally and publicly, to reinforce 
transparency and accountability in the 
democratic process.

Head of Corporate Services. No.

Depot Services Working 
Group

To receive an annual update on the 
progress of the Depot Services Working 
Group. 

Head of Community Services. No

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme 
2022/23

To consider and approve the forthcoming 
Committee work programme. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

27



PENDING ITEMS

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Date Item Added to 
Pending

Housing Strategy 2022 
onwards 

Does the development of a new strategy require the setting up of an O&S task and finish 
working group? 

24 November 2020

Parking Strategy Review Not completed during 2020/21 24 November 2020

Community Services 
Improvement Review

To consider the progress made against the Community Services Improvement Plan. Moved 
from 14 July 2020 and 9 March 2021. Little activity has taken place over recent months due 
to COVID-19.

14 July 2020

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme Review

To set up an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Working Group to review the scheme and 
make a recommendation to the Executive Committee/Council. (deferred from 2020/21) 

April 2020

Update on Local Policing 
Arrangements

To receive an update from the Police on local arrangements. 13 October 2020

Advice and Information 
Centres (AIC) 

To set up an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Working Group to review the scheme and 
make a recommendation to the Executive Committee.  (deferred from 2020/21)

-------------------

Active Gloucestershire 
Report on the progress of 
its ‘We Can Move’ Project. 

To report on an annual basis following the Council’s decision to provide funding to the 
project of £10,000 per year for five years. Annual reports will commence once the project is 
up and running. 

3 March 2021 following 
Executive Committee. 

28



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 8 June 2021

Subject: Council Plan Performance Tracker and COVID-19 Recovery 
Plan Tracker 2020/21 (Qtr4) 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Members: Leader of the Council 

Number of Appendices: Two

Executive Summary:
A new Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing and 
communities and customer first, plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden communities 
and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives and actions. 
Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a Council Plan 
Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which also includes a 
set of key performance indicators. 
Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, residents, 
businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst COVID-19 
continues to present the Council with significant challenges, a corporate COVID-19 recovery 
plan has been established to address those challenges. The plan has been designed around 
the six priorities of the Council Plan as the strategic priorities of the council remain the same 
despite COVID-19. Similar to the Council Plan, the recovery plan has a number of objectives 
and actions. The recovery plan was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. A 
recovery plan tracker has been created to monitor progress in delivering those objectives and 
actions (Appendix 2). 
Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably mean 
that some of the actions within the Council Plan will not have progressed as intended. It could 
also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to actions within the 
recovery plan. 
Key financial information is usually reported alongside the tracker documents but given the 
complexities of year end closedown this information is not yet available. The outturn reports will 
be presented to Executive Committee in July and the Statement of Accounts will go to Audit and 
Governance Committee in September.
This performance information is reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis and the outcome is then reported to the Executive Committee by the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

29

Agenda Item 8



Recommendation:
To scrutinise the performance management information and, where appropriate, require 
action or response from the Executive Committee. 

Reasons for Recommendation:
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference require it to review and scrutinise 
the decisions and performance of the Council and its Committees. 

Resource Implications:
None directly associated with this report other than to note that a number of actions have been 
impacted by the Council’s response to COVID-19.

Legal Implications:
None directly associated with this report.

Risk Management Implications:
If delivery of the Council’s priorities is not effectively monitored, then the Council cannot identify 
where it is performing strongly or where improvement in performance is necessary. The impact 
of COVID-19 has been commented upon in relation to a number of Council Plan actions. A 
separate corporate recovery plan has been developed to assist in risk identification and risk 
management in relation to COVID-19 and the Council’s responsibilities in relation to recovery. 

Performance Management Follow-up:
Performance management information is reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis. The outcome of each quarterly review is then reported to Executive Committee.

Environmental Implications: 
None directly associated with this report. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 A new Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing 
and communities and customer first plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden 
communities and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives 
and actions. Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a 
Council Plan Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which 
also includes a set of key performance indicators.

30



1.2 Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the Council’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, 
residents, businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst 
COVID-19 continues to present the Council with significant challenges, a corporate COVID-
19 recovery plan has been established to address those challenges. The plan has been 
designed around the six priorities of the Council Plan as despite COVID-19 the strategic 
priorities of the Council remain the same. Similar to the Council Plan, the recovery plan has 
a number of objectives and actions. The recovery plan was approved by Executive 
Committee on 5 August 2020. A recovery plan tracker has been created to monitor progress 
in delivering those objectives and actions (Appendix 2). 

1.3 Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the Council Plan will not have progressed as intended. 
It could also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to 
actions within the recovery plan. 

2.0 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER 

2.1 The Council Plan (2020-24) has six priorities which contribute to the overall Council Plan 
vision “Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of life is open to all”. The 
priorities are: 

 Finance and resources.

 Economic growth.

 Housing and communities.  

 Customer first.

 Garden communities.

 Sustainable environment.
Each of the six priorities is supported by a number of objectives and actions which will focus 
activity on delivery of the priorities. The tracker has been developed and contains a set of 
key performance measures to monitor delivery of each Council Plan action. The actions are 
reviewed and where appropriate refreshed on an annual basis.  

2.2 For monitoring the progress of the Council Plan actions, the following symbols are used: 

 – action progressing well.

 – the action has some issues or delay but there is no significant slippage in the delivery 
of the action.

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 
timetable or performance is below target.
Grey – project has not yet commenced.
– action complete or annual target achieved.
For monitoring of key performance indicators, the following symbols are used: 

↑ - PI is showing improved performance on previous year.

↔ - PI is on par with previous year performance.

31



↓- PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year.

2.3 This report presents the final quarter’s update of the new Council Plan (2020-2024). Key 
successful activities to bring to Members’ attention since the last performance report 
include:

 A recent investment benchmarking activity with 128 other Councils highlighted 
Tewkesbury’s excellent performance in 2020/21. (Page 1 of the tracker).

 A new 10-year lease was agreed and signed for the long term let of Cleeve Hill Golf 
Club from 1 April 2021. (Page 3 of the tracker).

 Five homeless properties are now managed in-house resulting in £18,000 savings. 
(Page 3 of the tracker).

 The Growth Hub delivered over 100 events throughout the year which includes 
online business workshops, 1-2-1 events to help support businesses. (Page 5 of the 
tracker).

 The cultural consortium (also known as Tewkesbury Culture) has been successful in 
its bid to Historic England for up to £80,000 for the projects that will cover the three-
year Heritage Action Zone (HAZ). Official launch of the HAZ is due to take place in 
June 2021. (Page 10 of the tracker).

 Since April 2020 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments have been paid out 
to multiple Parish Councils resulting in a collective total of over £192,000 being paid. 
(Page 20 of the tracker).

 The annual renewal of garden waste subscriptions has been highly successful with 
an income generated to date of £910,000. (Page 30 of the tracker).

 A new digital platform has now been development and implemented. With the first 
services going live in April. These were bulky waste, missed bins and assisted waste 
collections. (Page 31 of the tracker).

 The implementation of the new bulky waste service includes a new service provider, 
the provision of a recycling service, a reduction in wait times from 5-6 weeks to one 
week, the ability to book online and a revision of charges. (Page 32 of the tracker).

 The evolution of the concept masterplan for Tewkesbury Garden Town is in its final 
draft and has been presented to the Member Reference Panel. This will be 
submitted as supporting evidence for the JCS review later in the year. (Page 41 of 
the tracker).

 The Ashchurch Bridge planning application was approved by the Planning 
Committee in March. (Page 41 of the tracker).

2.4 Reported to Members through various channels, both formally and informally since the 
onset of the pandemic, has been the Council’s response and recovery to this significant 
challenge - whilst still maintaining core service delivery. This is evident through the various 
commentaries within the tracker and why some actions have not progressed as well as 
intended or have been deferred. This is exemplified within the tables below.

32



2.5 Even in ‘normal’ times, due to the complex nature of the actions being delivered, inevitably 
some may not progress as smoothly or quickly as envisaged. This has obviously been 
amplified by the response to COVID-19. Actions with either a  or  are highlighted 
below: 

Action Status and reason for status 

Deliver employment land through 
allocating land in the Joint Core 
Strategy (JCS) and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan (TBP).

(Page No. 6 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Tewkesbury Borough Plan - The target 
date has been amended from Autumn 
2021 to February 2022. The Council is 
awaiting for comments from the Inspector 
following the examination in Feb/March. 
Timings are dependant on the Inspector’s 
preliminary findings and if further work is 
required the target date could be subject 
to change. 

Finalise and adopt the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan. 
(Page No. 14 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

For same reasons above.

Ensure adequate land is allocated 
within the JCS and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan to meet housing need. 
(Page No. 17 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

 For same reasons above.

Deliver the planning service 
improvement plan. 
(Page No. 30 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

The previous improvement plan 
inherited by the Head of Development 
Services has been reviewed and the 
remaining actions are not proposed to be 
brought forward. This is due to a new 
review of the systems and procedures of 
Development Management Service being 
undertaken which commenced in April by 
Planning Officers Enterprises.  

2.6 Some actions of the Council Plan have been put on hold as staff resource has been 
deployed to the response and recovery from COVID-19. The greyed actions within the 
Council Plan affected as a result are as follows:

Introducing and complying with CIPFA’s 
new Financial Management Code
(Page No. 1 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred - until the next 
financial year or until resources become 
available. The majority of the code is within 
the Council’s working practices so broadly 
compliant in any case.  

Update the Council’s Asset Management 
Plan (AMP).
(Page No. 2 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred until the next 
financial year. The current AMP will be 
rolled over into the new year. 

33



Approve a new planned maintenance 
programme.
(Page No. 2 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred until the next 
financial year.

Work with the Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) and other partners to deliver the 
Local Industrial Strategy (LIS).
(Page No. 5 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

The LEP is still awaiting guidance from 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) on the next steps and timescales. 
Until this has been received no further 
updates can been provided. 

Bring forward plans for the redevelopment 
of Spring Gardens.
(Page No. 9 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred until resources 
become available. Whilst a draft phase 1a 
report has been completed by the 
consultants and presented to the Member 
Working Group, there is no dedicated 
internal resources to take this project 
forward.   

Continue to improve the proactive 
homelessness prevention programme.
(Page No. 29 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred - due to the 
changes in the last year in the way the 
housing team works with clients. The 
learning from this will be picked up as part 
of the COVID-19 review and learning.  

Implement an online offering for the 
licensing service.
(Page No. 32 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

This project is yet to start - it has been 
identified as one of the Business 
Transformation Team’s priority projects to 
deliver between June and September.

Work with Gloucestershire County Council 
and other partners to help local residents 
and businesses take action to reduce their 
own carbon footprint, and to make better 
use of resources. 
(Page No. 44 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred for six months.

Improve bio-diversity across the borough 
and educate communities on its benefits.
(Page No. 45 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Project has been deferred for six months - 
initial projects had commenced.

34



3.0 COUNCIL PLAN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIs)

3.1 The set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are a combination of contextual indicators and 
target related indicators. The set of KPIs must remain flexible to ensure they meet our 
needs. The data reported is the position at end of March 2021. For 2020/21, four new KPI’s 
(KPI 15- KPI 18) have been added. These were requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and relate to planning enforcement responsiveness. Crime related indicators 
have been removed, again this was at the request of the Committee. 

3.2 Of the 21 indicators with targets, their status as at the end of the final quarter for 2020/ 21 is:  



 (on target) 


(below target)
Data not available

5 13 3*

In terms of the direction of travel i.e. performance compared to last year, for all indicators 
the status is: 

 (better 
performance than last 

year)

 (not as good 
as last year)

↔  (on par with 
previous year 
performance)

Data not available

3 13 2 3*

*3 KPIs where data is not available relate to KPI 5 (number of visitors to Tewkesbury Tourist 
Information Centre), KPI 6 (number of visitors to Winchcombe Tourist Information Centre) 
and KPI 7 (number of visitors entering the Growth Hub). The sites in which the KPIs relate to 
are currently closed due to the pandemic. 

3.3 KPIs where the direction of travel is down and/ or KPI is  are highlighted below: 

KPI 
No.

KPI description
Reason for   or ↓

12

Percentage of ‘major’ 
applications determined within 
13 weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant.
(Page No. 24 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓  Whilst Q4 seen all major decisions 
being made within the target timescale. 
The cumulative figure for the year (80%- 
20 out of 25 decisions) is slightly below the 
outturn of last year (81%) and did not meet 
the 85% target for 2020-21. It did however 
meet the national target of 60%.

13

Percentage of ‘minor’ 
applications determined within 8 
weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant. 
(Page No. 24 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓  The Q4 figure is significantly lower 
than other quarters with only 26 out of 54 
(48.15%) decisions being issued within the 
timescale. The over figure for the year- 
121 out of 173 decisions issued resulted in 
a cumulative figure of 69.94%. This meant 
the target figure of 80% and the outturn for 
last year 75.27% were not met. 

35



14

Percentage of ‘other’ 
applications determined within 8 
weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant. 
(Page No. 25 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ 140 of 172 decisions were made 
within agreed timescales during Q4. This 
equates to performance of 81.40%. For 
the year 84.37% (475 of 563) applications 
were agreed in the timescale, which is just 
below last year’s outturn of 87% and 
below the local target of 90%. 

16

Investigate category B cases 
within five working days 
(development causing, or likely 
to cause, irreparable harm or 
damage). 
(Page No 27 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

 Two category B cases were received 
during Q4, neither were investigated within 
the timescale. The overall year 
performance- 8 cases of 13 were 
investigated within the timescale, totalling 
to 61.54%. This is lower than the local 
target of 90%. It was an improvement 
when compared to last year’s outturn of 
57.14%.

17

Investigate category C cases 
within 10 working days (risk of 
material harm to the 
environment or undue harm to 
residential amenity).
(Page No. 28 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ 42 category C cases were received 
in Q4, and 12 of these were handled within 
the target timeframe. Cumulatively for the 
year 46 of 126 cased (36.51%) have been 
handled within the timeframe for the year 
so far. This is below both the local target 
of 80% and last year’s outturn of 66.10%. 

18

Investigate category D cases 
within 15 working days 
(breaches causing limited 
material disturbance to local 
residents or to the environment).
(Page No. 28 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ During Q4, 12 category D cases 
were received, and four cases (33.33%) of 
these were handled within the target 
timeframe. The cumulative figure for the 
year is 40.68%. This is lower than this 
year’s target of 70% and also last year’s 
outturn of 76.92%.

24

Average number of days to 
process new benefit claims.
(Page No. 36 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ Whilst performance for quarter Q4 
(eight days), is well below the council’s 
target of 14 days, it is slightly above last 
year’s outturn of six days. It is still 
considerably lower than the national 
average of 17 days.   

26

Percentage of council tax 
collected.
(Page No. 37 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ During the year the council tax 
collection performance has been 
significantly affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Council remains unable to 
take formal action for unpaid council tax as 
the Magistrates’ Court has not reopened 
for liability order hearings. This has 
resulted in 97.6% collected which slightly 
below both last year’s outturn (98.1%) and 
the local target of 98.3%.

36



27
Percentage of NNDR collected.
(Page No. 37 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓ Business rates collection was below 
target at the end of year. We continue to 
send reminders for non-payment, however 
as the Magistrates’ Court remained closed 
for the whole of 2020/21 financial year to 
liability order hearings, no further 
enforcement action to collect outstanding 
debt could be taken. This has resulted in 
95.9% NNDR collected. 

28

Average number of sick days 
per full time equivalent.
(Page 38 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

Whilst this year’s performance of 9.68 
days has been a significant improvement 
compared to last year’s outturn of 12.62 
days, it is above the local target of 8 days.   

30

Percentage of Freedom of 
information (FOI) requests 
answered on time. 
(Page 40 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

↓ The overall performance for the year 
was slightly lower than last years 
performance of 90%. This year has seen 
575 requests of which 498 were answered 
within the timescale- 87%.

31

Percentage of formal complaints 
answered on time
(Page 40 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker).

↓ 47 formal complaints were received 
in Q4, of which 35 were answered within 
the timeframe. The overall figure for the 
year for complaints answered on time is 
84%. This is below this year’s target of 
90% and also slightly below the outturn of 
last year’s performance of 86%. The 
impact of the pandemic has affected 
capacity to respond within the required 
timescales throughout the year. 

32

Number of reported enviro 
crimes.
(Page No. 47 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓   716 enviro crimes were reported in 
Q4 bringing the total this year to 2,185. 
This is exceeding both this year’s target of 
1000 and last year’s outturn of 1,271. 
There has been an increase in all areas of 
enviro-crimes when compared to 2019/20. 

33

Percentage of waste recycled or 
composted.
(Page No. 48 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker).

↓   The figure is an unverified figure 
and might be subject to change but 
performance for Q4 was 45.18%. Overall 
performance for the year was 48.73% this 
is below the local target of 52% and last 
year’s outturn of 51.47%. This has been 
due to an increase in all waste streams 
during the pandemic. There has been an 
increase of recyclable material in the 
residual waste and fly tipping. 

37



34

Residual household waste 
collected per property in Kgs.
(Page No. 49 of performance 
tracker).

↓   The residual household waste 
collected during Q4 is 116kg, and the 
cumulative figure for the year is 461kg -  
and increase as a result of the pandemic. 
Both last year’s outturn of 414kg and this 
year’s local target of 430kg has not been 
met.

4.0 COVID-19 CORPORATE RECOVERY TRACKER

4.1 For monitoring the progress of the corporate recovery plan actions and for consistency, the 
same symbols as the Council Plan tracker are used: 

 – action progressing well.

 – the action has some issues or delay but there is no significant slippage in the delivery 
of the action.

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 
timetable or performance is below target.
Grey – project has not yet commenced.

4.2 Key activities to bring to Members’ attention include:

 Tewkesbury Leisure Centre reopened on 12 April. An additional £11,000 grant has 
been received from Sports England to support the costs of re-opening the centre. A 
total of £181,000 has now been received. (Page 2 of the recovery tracker).

 Tewkesbury Tourist Information Centre re-opened week commencing 12 April. (Page 
5 of the recovery tracker).

 Worked with our partners at Cotswold Tourism and other district Councils to launch a 
recovery strategy in April 2021 for the newly established Visit Gloucestershire. (Page 
5 of the recovery tracker).

 With new legislation and guidance changes Officers continue to carry out regular 
patrols and provide advice to businesses, including to licenced premises at 
weekends and evenings. (Page 6 of the recovery tracker).

 The Growth Hub Network promoted and delivered the government’s Small and 
Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) recovery grant and Kickstart Tourism Grant. (Page 
7 of the recovery tracker).

 A draft bid has been developed with Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to 
offer a Youth Hub Service, hosted within the Tewkesbury Growth Hub. This will 
provide advice and information for young people, particularly focussing on young 
people impacted by COVID-19. (Page 8 of the recovery tracker).

 A survey carried out with householders on the housing register to assess the 
potential demand once restrictions are lifted. Responses indicated positive trends 
regarding percentages of respondents in fields such as difficulties paying rent, 
furloughed or lost employment. (Page 12 of the recovery tracker).

 Working with groups such as Caring for Communities and People (CCP), 
Foodbanks, Children’s Centres and Health Visitors has helped 556 vulnerable 
families who are struggling to pay for food, essential supplies and fuel costs. This 
was using the Winter Grant Scheme from Gloucestershire County Council. (Page 13 
and 14 of the recovery tracker).

38



 The Council has realigned reopening its buildings to with the government’s roadmap 
out of lockdown. This be being led by Operational Managers within the Council with 
the key date being 21 June. (Page 18 of the recovery tracker). 

 The new Mixed Recycling Facility (MRF) contract has been mobilised and is going 
well. (Page 27 of the recovery tracker).

4.3 As explained when the recovery tracker was first presented in October 2020, a number of 
areas of the Council are still in response mode - for example in relation to business grants. 
This means there are services operating across one of response, recovery and business as 
usual mode or, in some cases, operating across a combination of the three, for example, 
communications. This will inevitably mean that actions within the recovery tracker may not 
progress as originally intended. Such actions are detailed in the table below: 

Action Status of action 

Produce a new six-monthly internal audit 
plan and review the whole suite of internal 
audit recommendations to determine if 
recommendations remain relevant and 
timescales for implementation remain 
feasible. (Page 1 of recovery tracker).

 At present due to new roll out of 
government grants, internal audit work is 
limited to reviewing the suite of previous 
audit recommendations. No planned audit 
assignments have yet commenced.  

Maximise the use of business intelligence 
within the Council to ensure the accuracy of 
the rating list. (Page 3 of recovery tracker).

 The target date has been amended 
from March 2021 to March 2022. 
Recruitment of a new business intelligence 
officer has commenced. A cross service 
project plan will need to be developed so 
business intelligence is shared by relevant 
services moving forward.

Work with businesses and residents an 
seek to rebuild council tax and business 
rate collection rates. (Page 4 of recovery 
tracker).

The target date has been amended from 
March 2021 to March 2022. Formal 
recovery action has been outside of the 
control of the council for over 12 months 
due to courts being closed. In recent weeks 
the Courts have reopened.

Undertake an economic impact assessment 
and analysis to understand the needs of 
local businesses. (Page 5 of the recovery 
tracker). 

Deferred - This assessment will be 
commissioned once the long-term impact 
on the business community is clearer.

Refocus the Council’s Place Approach to 
reflect the issues within our communities 
arising from COVID-19. (Page 11 of 
recovery tracker).

Deferred for six months - The place 
approach will be simplified to reflect some 
of the key priorities arising through the 
community from COVID-19. Principles 
around how we can work best with our 
communities have been drafted.

Consider future working arrangements 
within new communities to ensure there are 
adequate local businesses and self-
employment hubs. (Page 15 of recovery 
tracker). 

Deferred - Work has not yet commenced. 

39



Review the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the environmental health service, including 
an assessment of additional demand and 
available resources. (Page 16 of recovery 
tracker).

Deferred - The effectiveness review has 
been on hold due to the level of COVID-19 
response needed.  Once we are through 
the remaining stages of lockdown and seen 
cases further stabilise this can be revisited. 

Re- instigate and deliver the council tax and 
business rates paperless project. (Page 19 
of the recovery tracker). 

 Due to priority being focused on the 
annual billing run, this has resulted in the 
target date has been amended from May 
2021 to July 2021 to allow the team time to 
test the new system before it goes live. 

Seek further government funding with our 
partners to support sustained delivery of 
the garden community programmes.
(Page 21 of the recovery tracker)

Awaiting decision from MHCLG- A 
decision for a bid for further capacity 
funding to support the early stages of the 
Garden Town programme was due in 
December from the Ministry of Housing and 
Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG). The MHCLG have informed the 
team it is still pending.

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1 None.

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 None.

7.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

7.1 Council Plan 2020-24.
COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020.

8.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

8.1 None directly. 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

9.1 None directly. 

10.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

10.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions. 

40



11.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety)

11.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions.

12.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

12.1 Council Plan 2020-24 approved by Council 28 January 2020.
COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020 approved by Executive Committee 8 August 
2020.

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer: Head of Corporate Services 
 Tel: 01684 272002 email: graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
                                               
Appendices: 1 – Council Plan Performance Tracker Qtr 4 2020/21. 

 2 – COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker 2020/21.

41

mailto:graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 1 
 

 
PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 1. To ensure the council remains financially secure in the long term. 

a) Introducing and 
complying with 
CIPFA’s new 
Financial 
Management 
Code. 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 
Deferred for 

2020/21 

Project on hold until the next financial year or until 
resource becomes available to support it. The 
majority of the code’s requirements are already 
standard practice within the council. 

b) To maximise the 
return and balance 
the risk of our 
treasury 
investments. 

Target date: March 
2021  

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 
 

 

 

 

Recent benchmarking activity with 128 other 
councils highlights Tewkesbury’s good performance 
in 2020/21 compared to others. 

Yield Tewkesbury 
BC 

128 LA's 
average 

Internal Investment 
Return 0.58% 0.15% 

Council Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key: KPI direction of travel key: 

 Action progressing well/ PI on or above target ↑ PI is showing improved performance on previous year  

 Action has some issues/ delay but not significant 
slippage/ PI below target but likely to achieve end of year 
target 

↔ PI is on par with previous year performance  

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has 
been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance 
is below target/ PI significantly below target and unlikely 
to achieve target 

↓ PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or 
required to report 

 
 
   Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

42



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 2 
 

All External Funds - 
Income Only Return 4.67% 3.85% 

All External Funds - 
Capital Gains/Losses 7.54% 5.49% 

Total Investments - 
Income Only Return 2.46% 0.90% 

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 2. Maintain a low council tax. 

a) Produce a Medium-
Term Financial 
Strategy, which 
ensures that 
council tax remains 
low for our 
residents.   

Target date: January 
2021 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

MTFS approved at Council on 26 January 2021. 

 

Objective 3. Maintain our assets to maximise financial returns. 

a) Update the 
council’s asset 
management plan. 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

Deferred for 
2020/21 

 

 

No resource available to undertake the task in the 
current year. The current Asset Management Plan 
(AMP) will be rolled over for a further year and the 
need for an updated version will be addressed in the 
new financial year. 
 

b) Approve a new 
planned 
maintenance 
programme. 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 

Deferred for 
2020/21 

 

No resource available to undertake the task in the 
current year. 

43



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 3 
 

c) Review our 
property portfolio to 
ensure ongoing 
benefits to our 
communities. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
Lease agreed and signed for the long-term let of 
Cleeve Hill Golf Club from 1 April 2021.  

A new tenant has moved into a vacant unit within the 
public service centre. 

A new 10-year lease agreed with existing tenant for 
the commercial property in Clevedon. 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date  Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 4. Deliver the council’s commercial strategy. 

a) Develop a business 
case to ensure our 
trade waste service 
operates more 
commercially.  

Target date: April 
2017 July 2017 
August 2017 April 
2018 April 2019 
December 2019 
September 2020 
 February 2021 
Target date: March 
2021 March 2022 
(in accordance with 
project milestones 
reported to O&S 6 
April 2021) 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

 

A business case for commercially improving the 
service was approved by Executive Committee in 
March 2021. A high-level overview of project 
milestones was presented to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 6 April 2021. The recruitment process 
for the project manager has commenced in 
accordance with those milestones.     

b) In-source the 
management of our 
homeless property 
portfolio.  

Target date: 
April 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

 

 

The five homeless properties are now managed 
internally. Management was previously outsourced 
to Stonham Housing. This has resulted in £18k 
savings. Property Services will oversee the on-going 
maintenance and Housing Services will oversee the 
management of tenants.  

44



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 4 
 

 
PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver our strategic plans and economic development plans. 

a) Deliver the final 
year of the 
Economic 
Development 
and Tourism 
Strategy  

Target date:  
June 2021 
June 2022 
(reported to O&S 
committee in 
November 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

Year four of the strategy started in June 2020. 
 
Work achieved includes: 

• Growth Hub service moved online 
• Proactive support to the business community 
• Year 2 delivery of Tewkesbury Growth Hub and Service. 
• Roll out and delivery of Hub Surgery Sessions for 

businesses with a Planning Champion. 
• Delivery of Countywide Inward Investment Service 
• Year 2 delivery of ‘Uncover the Cotswolds’ project. 
• Successful Tewkesbury Heritage Action Zone Fund bid 

and delivery programme development. 
• Delivery of Reopening High Streets Safely and Welcome 

Back Fund – working closely with the retail centres in the 
borough, supporting the safe re-opening of businesses. 

As reported to November O&S committee, the current strategy will 
now run until 2022. 
 
This will be monitored through the Covid-19 recovery performance 
tracker. (Economic Growth- refocus- action a). 

45



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 5 
 

b) Deliver growth 
hub services in 
the Public 
Services 
Centre. 

Target date: April 
2021 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

The hub was launched in November 2018 and continues to 
support the business community. Since opening, 1965 businesses 
have visited the hub.  

In this quarter, 23 online business workshops and 1-2-1 events 
have been delivered including social media, video promotion, 
branding, developing an eco-business and social enterprise. A 
total of 107 events has taken place throughout 2020/21.  

Advice continues to include Covid-19 response and recovery 
support, providing advice and signposting to relevant support, as 
well as ‘business as usual’ Growth Plans. In line with Government 
guidelines the service remains as a virtual offer - online and 
telephone. The team has also been partially redeployed into both 
the Covid-19 business cell and the recovery cell.  A presentation 
on the hub’s activities was reported to O&S committee in April.  

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- Recover- action a). 

 
c) Work with the 

Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
(LEP) and 
other partners 
to deliver the 
Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS).  

Target date:  
December 2019 
June 2020 
Date to be 
confirmed 
(as reported to 
O&S July 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

Deferred 

pending 
response 
from BEIS  

The draft Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) had successfully passed 
through the Local Industrial Strategy analysts’ panel and was 
ready to be submitted to central government for approval. As a 
result of Covid-19, submission has been postponed with further 
guidance awaited from the Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) on the next steps and timescales. 
Further work will now be looked at to potentially to include a 
Covid-19 recovery plan/ addendum as part of the final LIS.   
 
May 2021- still awaiting response from BEIS.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 6 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate economic growth. 

a) Deliver 
employment 
land through 
allocating land 
in the Joint 
Core Strategy 
(JCS) and 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 
(TBP). 

 

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 
Target date: 
Winter 2020 
Summer 2021 
(preferred options 
consultation) 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
October 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  
 

 
 
 

112ha of employment land has been allocated within the JCS. The 
take up of employment land will be monitored in the Authority 
Monitoring Report (AMR), which government planning guidance 
requires the council to publish. 
At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 
Development Scheme was approved. This sets out the timetable 
for the JCS review.  
 

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  
• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 
• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  
• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 2023  
• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Spring 2021 
Autumn 2021 
New target date: 
Adoption: 
February 2022* 

*Timings are 
dependant on the 
inspector’s 
preliminary findings 

 
 

 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has identified further employment 
sites which have been informed by the Employment Land Review. 
Potential employment sites have been assessed to see if they 
would make sustainable allocations for inclusion in the plan. This 
has been supported by several evidence base documents to 
support evidence of deliverability. As such, over 40ha of new 
employment has been identified in the plan.  
The examination into the Local Plan started on 16 February 2021 
and completed on 18 March 2021. The council is now awaiting 
comments from the inspector with regards to the proposed 
modifications. 
Adoption is expected early next year.   

47



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 7 
 

and if further work 
is required. 

(new revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
June 2021) 

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate economic growth. 

b) Work with 
partners to 
secure 
transport 
infrastructure 
improvements 
around the 
borough, 
including the 
all-ways 
junction 10, 
junction 9 and 
the A46 
improvements. 
 
 

Target date:  
March  
2021 
 Announcement 
(Junction 10) 
 
 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  
 

 

All-ways Junction 10 
As part of the budget announcement, Gloucestershire County 
Council has been awarded £249m to deliver an all-ways J10. This 
project consists of an all-ways motorway junction, link road to the 
West Cheltenham development site and a park and ride  
interchange. 
 
Public consultation has taken place and finished on 25 November 
2020. A summary report from the Options Consultation can be 
found here.   
 
Post consultation, further engineering, design and survey work will 
be ongoing to support an announcement about the preferred route 
in Summer 2021. Another public consultation exercise will then 
accompany the planning application which follows.  

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 
performance tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action a). 

 

48

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-10-improvements-scheme/


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 8 
 

Target date: 
October 2021 
(next stage 
business case for 
Gov’t funding 
submitted) 
  

J9 and A46 Offline Solution 
The council continues to be actively engaged in both the A46 
Partnership and Midlands Connect to promote the development 
opportunities at the Garden Town. A first stage bid for major 
investment to support the delivery of an off-line J9/A46 solution 
has been submitted to the Department for Transport/Highways 
England and work continues finalising the next stage business 
case. Gloucestershire County Council continues with the project 
with next stage submission date to the Department of Transport of 
September 2021.  

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 
performance tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action a).  

c) Support the 
delivery of the 
County’s Local 
Transport Plan. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
(Ongoing project) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 

Officers have been working with Gloucestershire County Council 
on developing a revised Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 
2021-2041.  
The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan was adopted by 
Gloucestershire County Council’s full Council on 17 March 2021.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

49



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 9 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date  Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Deliver borough regeneration schemes. 

a) Work with 
partners to 
deliver the 
Heritage Action 
Zone (HAZ). 

Target date:  
March 2021 
(ongoing project) 
 
Final HSHAZ 
delivery will be in 
2024. 

 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

Although the preparation work has been ongoing, the three-year 
HAZ scheme will be officially launched in June 2021, following the 
delay caused by Covid19. All areas of the programme have been 
asked to submit a revised programme. This has been signed off by 
Historic England. 
A new temporary High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) Co-
ordinator has been appointed and bi-weekly meetings with Historic 
England are now in place. 
The HSHAZ programme will include several activities such as: 

• Manage a grant scheme for shopfront and façade 
improvements including promotion of habitation above 
historic shops and the promotion of the use of traditional 
skills and materials for repair. 

• A 'Cultural Consortium', set up by the council, consisting of 
local community groups (from business groups to amenity 
societies and schools etc.). The Consortium has been able 
to access external funding from Historic England. 

Background work is now being implemented. The final HSHAZ 
delivery will be in 2024. 

b) Bring forward 
plans for the 
redevelopment 
of Spring 
Gardens. 

Target date: June 
2019, July 2019, 
March 2020, 
October 2020 
Revised target 
date: 
To be confirmed. 

Head of 
Development 
Services and 
Head of Finance 
and Asset 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

Deferred 

 

A draft phase 1a report has been completed by the council’s 
appointed consultants and was presented to the member working 
group in November 2020. An assessment of the resource needed 
to take this project forward will need to be made as the original 
reserve allocated is spent and there is no dedicated internal 
resource for the project as these have been deployed to the Covid 
response and recovery.  
 
 

50



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 10 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date  Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 4. Promote the borough as an attractive place to live and visit. 

a) Work with 
Cotswold 
Tourism to 
promote the 
area.  

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 
 

Working with Cotswold Tourism over the last quarter, the following 
has occurred: 

• Regular social media posts 
• Website promotion 
• Promotional campaigns 

• Interactive workshops and training sessions, supporting 
businesses affected by Covid-19 

This work will be ongoing throughout the year. 

A Visit Gloucestershire Recovery Strategy was launched in April 
21 and council officers inputted into the strategy. The strategy will 
focus on attracting tourists back into the county.  

Tewkesbury TIC reopened in April 21. 

This action will also be monitored through the Corporate Covid-19 
Recovery performance tracker (economic growth- refocus- action 
c), to understand when and how to safely encourage visitors back 
to the borough.  

b) Promote, 
through the 
Heritage Action 
Zone (HAZ), 
the heritage 
offer of 
Tewkesbury 
through the 
cultural 
consortium. 

Target date:  
March 2021 
(ongoing project) 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

 
 

The Cultural Consortium (also known as Tewkesbury Culture) has 
been instigated and includes over 12 community organisations. It 
is currently chaired by the director of the Roses Theatre. The group 
has developed ideas for community projects and started drawing 
down funds from Historic England.   
The initial project, which is now completed, was entitled ‘Light Up 
for Tewkesbury’ and was in response to cancelling of the town’s 
annual Christmas lights switch on celebrations.   

51



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 11 
 

Tewkesbury Culture has been successful in its bid to historic 
England for up to £80,000 to cover projects for the next three years 
entitled ‘Rise up Tewkesbury Culture’. Projects include:  

• Setting up a ‘youth space’  

• Tewkesbury in Medieval Bloom’ (a school project)  

• Tewkesbury festival of light  

• Tewkesbury Arts Festival  

c) Celebrate with 
partners the 
significance of 
2021 for 
Tewkesbury. 

Target date: 
December 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

 
 

The 2021 committee will be focussing on three major events for 
2021, incorporating a son et lumiere, Tewkesbury Tapestry 
community artwork and school engagement through a virtual 
festival. 
 
As a result of the pandemic, much of the activity has been scaled 
back or will now not go ahead this year.  
   
In line with the Executive Committee resolution, the council has 
awarded £25,000 towards the 2021 celebrations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

52



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 12 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn  
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 
Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

1 
Employment 
rate 16-64 
year olds. 

81.8% 

 

82.4% 

     82.4% relates to 
47,700 people within 
the borough. This is 
above the national rate 
of 76.0%  

(Source ONS April 
2019 – March 2020 
current figures) 

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  
Head of 
Development 
Services 

2 
Claimant 
unemployment 
rate. 

1.8% 

 

4.2% 4.1% 3.8% 3.9% 

  March figure of 3.9% 
relates to 2205 people 
within the borough. 
This figure is below the 
county rate of 4.6% 
and UK rate of 6.5%. 

(Source: ONS).   

Lead Member 
for Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

3 
Number of 
business 
births. 

425 
(2018 
figure) 

   465 
(2019 
figure) 

   These are the current 
ONS figures for 
Business Births and 
Death Rates.  

Business births have 
increased with 465 
new businesses in 
2019.  

The number of 
business deaths has 
increased on last year 
but remains below the 
county, regional and 
national average. 

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 
4 

Number of 
business 
deaths 

395 
(2018 
figure) 

   

415 
(2019 
figure) 

   

53



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 13 
 

5 

Number of 
visitors to 
Tewkesbury 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

22,551 

4,000 
(2019-

20 
target- 
28,000) 

0 0 0 0   

Both TICs were closed 
throughout the year, 
due to Covid-19. 

The reopening of the 
Tewkesbury TIC is 
planned for week of 12 
April 2021 in line with 
government guidance 
when non-essential 
shops able to re-open. 

Discussions are 
ongoing regarding 
lease for moving back 
to the refurbished 
Winchcombe Heritage 
Centre, rather than its 
temporary location.   

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

6 

Number of 
visitors to 
Winchcombe 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

Data for 
Q4 not 

available  

(Q1-Q3= 
8,960) 

1,000 
(2019-

20 
target- 
7,500) 

0 0 0 0   

7 
Number of 
visitors 
entering the 
Growth Hub 

1346 

 
1000 0 0 0 0   

Tewkesbury Growth 
Hub remains closed to 
visitors as a result of 
Covid-19.  

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 14 
 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

a) Work with 
partners to 
undertake the 
required review 
of the JCS.  

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 
Target date: 
Winter 2020  
Summer 2021 
(Preferred 
Options 
Consultation) 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
October 2020) 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment   

 
 

Key pieces of evidence for the review have been completed or are 
nearing completion. This includes a retail assessment, a study on 
the potential for strategic sites; a sustainable transport strategy and 
an assessment of economic need requirements. Two dedicated 
JCS staff have also now been appointed to progress the plan 
towards a draft for consultation. 
At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 
Development Scheme was approved. This sets out the timetable 
for the JCS review.  

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  
• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 
• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  
• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 2023  
• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

b) Finalise and 
adopt the 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan. 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Spring 
2021Autumn 
2021 
New target date: 
Adoption: 
February 2022* 

*Timings are 
dependant on the 
inspector’s 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 
 

The examination in public was completed on 18 March 2021. The 
council is awaiting comments from the Inspector with regard to the 
proposed modifications. Adoption is expected early next year.   
 

55



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 15 
 

preliminary findings 
and if further work 
is required. 

(new revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
June 2021) 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

c) Develop a work 
programme 
with landlords 
to ensure 
residents have 
a supply of 
rented 
properties to 
meet their 
needs. 

March 2019, June 
2019, September 
2019, December 
2019, November 
2020. January 
2021 
 March 2021 
Target date: 
June 2021 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
March 2021) 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 
  

 

Work with private landlords remained limited during Q4 due to 
Covid-19 restrictions. Whilst lettings continued, the council was 
unable to meet with landlords and tenants face-to-face to build 
relationships. 
  
The county-wide pilot has ended, and a summary report has been 
produced from a county perspective. The report focussing on the 
activity for Tewkesbury specifically was received on 8 February, 
this is currently being reviewed and will be brought to the committee 
in June 2021. 
 
 

d) Carry out 
housing needs 
assessments to 
deliver 
affordable 
housing in rural 
areas. 

March 2020  
Target date: 
February 2021 
March 2023 
(overall 
completion) 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

 
 

Gloucestershire Rural Community Council (GRCC) undertakes 
Housing Needs Surveys on our behalf. To capture all rural areas 
across the borough, surveys will be carried out in phases. The 
latest round of surveys was posted to households throughout 
September 2020.  
 
These surveys went to households in Forthampton, Chaceley, 
Tirley, Hasfield, Ashleworth and Deerhurst and included a focus on 

56



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 16 
 

(Target date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
October 2020) 
  

Community Led Housing (CLH) - where people and communities 
play a leading role in addressing their own housing needs. Homes 
England is helping with funds to support the delivery of CLH and 
we have used this survey to inform our next steps in this area.  
 
The target date of February 2021 was achieved with the survey 
reports being available on the council's website.  GRCC will contact 
each parish to offer some time to discuss the findings and next 
steps.  This piece of work has been instructive and led to GRCC 
adopting a change in approach across the rest of the County in 
relation to Community Led Housing (CLH). 
 
The next phase of surveys is scheduled for spring 2021 and will 
continue until March 2023 to ensure all areas of the borough are 
covered.   
 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Ensure development plans provide for the five year land supply requirement.  

a) Ensure 
adequate land 
is allocated 
within the JCS 
and 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 
to meet 
housing need. 

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 
Target date: 
Winter 2020 
Summer 2021 
(Preferred 
Options 
Consultation) 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
October 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 
 
 

The JCS Review and the initial issues and options consultation was 
completed on 11 January 2019. Responses to the consultation are 
now being considered to progress the review to Draft Plan stage.  
The review will consider future growth requirements in the area, 
including addressing the shortfalls identified in the adopted JCS as 
well as planning for the long term. A key piece of ongoing work is 
an assessment of the potential options for strategic growth in the 
area. 
At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local Development 
Scheme was approved. This sets out the timetable for the JCS 
review.  

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19  
• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 

57



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 17 
 

• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  
• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 2023  
• Examination – Summer 2023  

• Adoption – Winter 2023 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Spring 
2021Autumn 
2021 
New target date: 
Adoption: 
February 2022* 

*Timings are 
dependant on the 
inspector’s 
preliminary findings 
and if further work 
is required. 

(new revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
June 2021) 

 

The examination in public was completed on 18 March 2021. The 
council is awaiting comments from the Inspector with regard to the 
proposed modifications. Adoption is expected early next year.   
 
 

58



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 18 
 

b) Work with 
developers and 
stakeholders to 
deliver 
sustainable 
sites to meet 
housing needs. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

The JCS was adopted on 11 December 2017. The JCS sets out the 
overall housing requirement for the borough and sets the spatial 
strategy for meeting development needs.  
In undertaking strategic duties with the planning authority, officers 
are working to deliver housing needs. 
The JCS review will further consider development needs and the 
identification of additional sites to meet growth requirements going 
forward. This will involve further work with developers and 
stakeholders to progress sustainable site options.  

c) Annually 
monitor the 
delivery of 
homes within 
the borough. 

Target date: 
October 2020 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 

Both the five-year housing land supply statement and the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council housing monitoring report for 
2019/20 is complete and are both available on the council's 
website. 
 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to enable sustainable communities. 

a) Work with 
partners, 
infrastructure 
providers and 
developers, to 
progress the 
delivery of key 
sites. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 

Innsworth 
• Phase 5 for 170 dwellings has been submitted 

(21/00133/APP) and is pending. Early stages and no 
target committee date yet. 

• A full application for 99 dwellings has been submitted 
(20/00679/FUL) within the strategic allocation but outside 
of the allowed appeal sites and is pending. No target 
committee date yet. 

Twigworth-  
• Reserved matters application received for the erection of a 

local centre has been approved.  

59



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 19 
 

• Reserved matters application received for public open 
space (including formal sports area and Multi Use Games 
Area (MUGA)), changing rooms and car park and 
infrastructure. Currently awaiting a Deed of Variation to be 
finalised in respect of the changing facilities. The Deed of 
Variation in respect of the changing facilities has been 
finalised and it’s anticipated a decision will be issued in the 
next couple of weeks. 

• Phase 2 for 147 dwellings (21/00079/APP) has been 
approved 

  
South Churchdown  

• Reserved matters application granted for 465 dwellings as 
a first phase of development within this allocation. The 
development is progressing on site with several dwellings 
now out of the ground. 

Brockworth 
• Reserved matters applications approved for 600 dwellings: 

Phase 1 (135 dwellings) and Phase 2&5 (240 dwellings) 
and Phase 3 (225 dwellings). Delivery of houses has now 
begun on two phases of this site.  No further updates. 

  
North West Cheltenham  
Outline application has been submitted. Officers are continuing to 
work with the developers on transport issues in order to progress 
the planning application. The additional transport modelling has 
now been completed with a view to resolving the highway issues.  
 
The outputs have been provided to Highways England and once it 
has provided its comments the application can progress to 
determination. Due to delays, there will need to be updates to 
matters including ecology and the Transport Statement.  A 
package of information will be submitted this month which will 
immediately go out to consultation. Work continues on the s106 
agreement. 
  
West Cheltenham  

60



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 20 
 

Related to above, officers are working on transport matters as well 
as other master planning/development issues. The Gold Valley 
(West Cheltenham) SPD has now been adopted to guide the 
development. No further updates. 
 

b) Through the 
development 
process, work 
with 
communities to 
deliver the 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) and 
Section 106. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

 
 

Funds are currently advertised for determination by a future S106 
Panel in June 21.  
Regulation 59 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 requires the council to collect and pay a ‘Neighbourhood 
Portion’ of CIL to the parish in whose area a chargeable 
development takes place. CIL monies is paid out twice a year, the 
last instalment was paid out in April 2021. Since 28 April 2020 
multiple parish councils have received CIL payments which has 
resulted in a collective total of £192,699.08 being paid. 
Town and parish councils are required to produce a ‘Parish 
Funding Statement’ in any reporting year that they receive, hold or 
spend CIL ‘Neighbourhood Funding’. In the first reported year (01 
April 2019 to 31 March 2020) no towns or parishes were required 
to do this in December 2020. However, this year (December 
2021) these parishes who have received funding in 2020/21 will 
be required to do so.  
To help in doing this the CIL pages on the council’s website 
www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/community-infrastructure-levy have been 
updated to include guidance information for parish and town 
councils.  

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

8 

Total number 
of homeless 
applications 
presented 
during quarter 

704 

 

135 178 146 132  

 This includes 58 triage 
cases as an indication 
of total service 
demand.  

 Lead member 
for Housing  
Head of 
Community 
Services 

61



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 21 
 

This quarter has again 
been quieter than the 
previous quarter.  

This demand is 
primarily made up of 
triage or advice only 
cases, indicating the 
ongoing demand for 
housing advice. 

Whilst there has been 
a steady level of 
homeless applications 
being presented. The 
number of main duty 
and relief cases 
handled shows the 
Housing Advice Team 
is still assisting 
households at an early 
stage.  

 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description Outturn 

2019-20 
Target 
2020-
21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

9 

Total number 
of homeless 
applications 
with main 
duty accepted 
at end of the 
quarter 

48 

 

7 8 12 13  

 Following changes in 
legislation,  a statutory 
homeless duty is 
accepted to all 
applicants likely to be 
homeless within 56 
days. 
 
The way in which we 
record KPI 9 and 11 
has changed due to 
updated legislation 
and practice. This 
makes the data more 

Lead member 
for Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services  

62



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 22 
 

difficult to interpretate 
in this format. This will 
be rectified in the new 
2021/22 performance 
tracker. 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description Outturn 

2019-20 
Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

10 

Total number 
of active 
applications 
on the 
housing 
register 

1775 

1 bed 
single = 
674 

1 bed 
couple = 
184 

2 bed = 
555 

3 bed = 
259 

4 bed = 83 

5 bed = 17 

6 bed = 3 

 1801 

1 bed 
single= 
699 

1 bed 
couple= 
192 

2 bed= 
538 

3 bed= 
260 

4 
bed=90 

5 bed= 
19 

6 bed= 
2 

7 bed= 
1 

1877 

1 bed 
single= 
727 

1 bed 
couple= 
200  

2 bed= 
543 

3 bed= 
279 

4 bed= 
104  

5 bed= 
21 

6 bed= 2 

7 bed= 1 

1857  

1 bed 
single=  
747 

1 bed 
couple=   
171 

2 bed=  
546 

3 bed= 
269 

4 bed= 99 

5 bed= 22 

6 bed= 2 

7 bed= 1 

1835  

1 bed 
single=  
732 

1 bed 
couple=   
170 

2 bed=  
531 

3 bed= 
272 

4 bed= 
102 

5 bed= 
23 

6 bed= 
4 

7 bed= 
1 

 

   
The breakdown of 
bands is:  
Emergency – 53 
Gold – 76 
Silver – 573 
Bronze – 1133 
  
Total – 1835 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services  

63



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 23 
 

11 

Total number 
of homeless 
prevention, 
relief and 
legacy 
prevention 
cases 
 
 
 

311  
70 
 

 
88 

(Q1 & 
Q2= 
158) 

 

74 

(Q1-Q3= 
232) 

74  
(Q1-

Q4=306
) 

  

Essentially, this is the 
total number of 
homeless applications 
present (Q4-132 
applications) minus the 
number of triage cases 
(Q4- 58 cases). This 
equates to the total 
number of homeless 
prevention, relief and 
legacy prevention 
cases opened- Q4 74.   
There are three 
distinct duties. Q4 
figures are as follows:  

• Prevention duty 
which lasts 56 
days: 48 

• Relief duty for 
homeless 
households which 
lasts 56 days: 23 

• Full or main 
statutory homeless 
duty (this is similar 
to the old duty): 3 

The way in which we 
record KPI 9 and 11 
have changed due to 
changes in legislation 
and practice. This 
makes the data more 
difficult to interpretate 
in this format. This will 
be rectified in the new 
2021/22 performance 
tracker. 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  
Head of 
Community 
Services  
 
 
 

64



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 24 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-
2020 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 
Outturn 

Q4 
2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

12 

Percentage of 
‘major’ 
applications 
determined 
within 13 
weeks or 
alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant. 

81% 

 
85% 

 

83.33% 

 
 
 

62.50% 
(Q1-Q2= 
71.43%) 

 

 
 

85.71% 
(Q1-Q3 = 
76.19%) 

 
100% 

(Q1-Q4 
= 80%) 

↓  

For Q4, 100% of major 
decisions were within 
target timescales (4 
decisions). 

For the year, 25 
decisions were issued, 
20 were issued within 
the target timescales.   

Performance fell just 
short of the local 
indicator but exceeded 
national target of 60%. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

13 

Percentage of 
‘minor’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 
weeks or 
alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant. 
 

75.27% 

 
80% 

 

93.55% 

 
 

65.12% 
(Q1-Q2= 
77.03%) 

 
 

84.44% 
(Q1-Q3 = 
79.83%) 

 

48.15% 
(Q1-Q4 

= 
69.94%

) 

↓  

In Q4, 48.15% of 
minor decisions (26 of 
the 54 decisions 
issued) were within 
agreed timescales. 
 
For the year 69.94% 
(121 of the 173 
decisions issued) were 
within agreed 
timescales. This meant 
the local indicator  
 was missed for the 
year, but in 
combination with 
‘other’ applications 
below, the national 
target for non-major 
applications (70%) 
was exceeded. 
 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

65



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 25 
 

Officers have been 
working hard to 
maintain performance 
but unfortunately there 
has been a significant 
downturn in 
performance due to 
various reasons such 
as the impact of the 
second lockdown, 
additional workloads, 
customers refusing 
extension of time 
requests and sickness.  
 

A review of current 
ways of working is 
taking place during 
which will look at 
structures, staffing 
levels, improving 
systems and decision-
making protocols.  

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-
2020 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

14 

Percentage of 
‘other’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 weeks 
or alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant.  

87% 

 
90% 

 

88.70% 

 
83.19% 
(Q1-Q2= 
85.90%) 

 

 

88.37% 

(Q1-Q3 = 
85.93%) 

 

81.40% 

(Q1-Q4 
= 

84.37%) 

 
 
↓ 
 
 

 

For Q4, 81.40% of 
other applications 
were within agreed 
timescales (140 out of 
172 decisions issued).  
A less pronounced 
downturn in 
performance than for 
‘minor’ applications 
which has remained 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

66



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 26 
 

relatively strong over 
the year. 
 
As set out above, 
whilst the local 
indicator has not been 
achieved, in 
combination with 
‘minor’ applications, 
the national target of 
70% for non-major 
applications has been 
met for the year. 

For 2020/21- 475 out 
of 563 applications 
were determined 
within the agreed 
timescale. This gives 
the cumulative 
percentage figure of 
84.37%.  

15 

Enforcement - 
Investigate 
category A 
cases within 24 
hours (without 
prompt action, 
material risk of 
further harm 
which could be 
reduced by 
early 
intervention). 

66.67% 90% 100% 

 
100% 

(Q1-Q2= 
100%) 

 
 

100% 
(Q1-Q3 = 

100%) 
 

0% 
(Q1-Q4 
= 100%) 

 
 
 
↑ 

 

There were no 
category A cases 
received in Q4. 
 
Total Category A 
cases received for 
2020/21 is four and all 
were investigated 
within the 24- hour 
target. 
 
Excellent performance 
throughout the year 
reflecting the 
importance given to 
Priority A cases 
despite the pandemic. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 

67



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 27 
 

16 

Investigate 
category B 
cases within 
five working 
days 
(development 
causing, or 
likely to cause, 
irreparable 
harm or 
damage).   

57.14% 90% 83.33% 
100% 

(Q1-Q2= 
100%) 

 
50% 

(Q1-Q3 = 
72.73%) 

 

0% 
(Q1-Q4 

= 
61.54%) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
↑ 
 

 

During Q4 two 
Category B cases 
were received and 
neither were 
investigated within the 
target timescale. 
 
In Q4 one of the cases 
registered was an 
ongoing breach which 
was registered as a 
new case but did not 
require a visit within 
five working  days of 
the case being 
opened. 
 
Overall performance 
relates to a relatively 
small number of cases 
so it only takes a 
couple of cases not 
investigated within 
target to affect overall 
figures as can be seen 
from Q4. 
 

For 2020/21, 13 cases 
of which eight were 
investigated within the 
timescale totalling to 
61.54% which is an 
improvement 
compared to last 
year's outturn of 
57.14%. 

 

 

 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

68



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 28 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-
2020 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

17 

Investigate 
category C 
cases within 10 
working days 
(risk of material 
harm to the 
environment or 
undue harm to 
residential 
amenity).   

66.10% 80% 50% 

 
40% 

(Q1-Q2= 
44.82%) 

 
 

30.77% 
(Q1- Q3 = 
40.48%) 

 

28.57% 
(Q1-Q4 
=36.51

%) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
↓  

42 Category C cases 
were received during 
Q4. 12 were 
investigated within 10 
working days.  
 

Overall performance 
for 2020/21 126 
category C cases were 
received of which 46 
were investigated 
within the timescale. 

Officers unable to 
conduct site visits for a 
significant number of 
cases due to second 
lockdown restrictions. 
There is a backlog of 
site visits waiting to be 
carried out. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

18 

Investigate 
category D 
cases within 15 
working days 
(breaches 
causing limited 
material 
disturbance to 
local residents 
or to the 
environment).   

76.92% 70% 50% 

 
50% 

(Q1-Q2= 
50%) 

 

29.41% 
(Q1- Q3 = 
42.55%) 

 

33.33% 
(Q1-Q4 
=40.68

% 

 
 
↓ 

 

During Q4, 12 
category D cases were 
reported, four cases 
were reviewed within 
15 working days.  

Overall performance 
for 2020/21 was 
40.68%- 59 category D 
cases were received of 
which 24 were 
investigated within the 
timescale.  

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

69



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 29 
 

Performance reflects 
the priority being 
Given to, and large 
amount of time 
required to deal with, 
formal action being 
taken on category A 
and B cases. 
 

Officers unable to 
conduct site visits for a 
significant number of 
cases due to second 
lockdown restrictions. 
There is a backlog of 
site visits waiting to be 
carried out. 

Performance is also  
hindered by the vacant  
senior enforcement 
post. 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target 
date Reporting Line Progress 

to date Comment   

Objective 1. Maintain our culture of continuous service improvement. 

a) Continue to 
improve the 
proactive 
homelessness 
prevention 
programme. 

Target 
date: 
March 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Housing 

Deferred 

Much has changed over the last year in the way that the housing 
team works with clients.  The learning from this will be picked up 
as part of the Covid-19 review and learning. 
This action is linked to the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan, 
Customer First – recover- action a- ‘Explore options for alternative 
ways for customer engagement e.g. housing applicants.’ 
 
 

70



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 30 
 

b) Continue to 
build on the 
success of our 
garden waste 
club. 

Target 
date: April 
2021 
 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment  

 

The annual renewal process for 2021/22 has been highly 
successful with income generated to date of £910,000.  
Over 17,300 residents have renewed. The channel split is as 
follows: 

• Online renewal (using link in email) – 11661 (67.4%) 
• Website (garden waste page) –  2901 (16.8%) 
• Service (Customer Services) – 2634 (15.2%) 

• Paypoint – 104 (0.6%)  

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target 
date Reporting Line Progress 

to date Comment   

Objective 1. Maintain our culture of continuous service improvement. 

c) Deliver the 
planning 
service 
improvement 
plan.  

New 
target 
date:  
March 
2021  
November 
2021 
(New 
revised 
date 
reported 
to O&S 
committee 
in June 
2021) 

Head of Development 
Lead Member Built 
Environment 
 
 
  

 

The previous improvement plan inherited by the Head of 
Development has been reviewed and the remaining actions are not 
proposed to be brought forward. This is due to a new review of the 
systems and procedures of Development Management Service 
being undertaken.  

This review commenced in April and is being undertaken by 
Planning Officers Enterprises, an arm of the Planning Officers’ 
Society. The review will include performance, staff structure and 
systems.  

A report is expected in July and a new action plan to be developed 
by November. The review has been endorsed by Corporate 
Leadership Team and Transform Working Group.    

 

d) Deliver the 
council’s 

Target 
date: 

Head of Corporate 
Services  The 2021/22 action plan was approved by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 12 January. There are a range of actions 

71



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 31 
 

Communication 
Strategy 

March 
2021 

Lead Member for 
Customer Focus  introduced, including carrying out a review of internal 

communications, increasing the use of video as a communications 
channel, and supporting the council’s transformation team to 
promote new online services. This builds upon the 2020/21 
actions which were mostly delivered.  
Responding to Covid-19 continues to require significant 
communications resource.  
This action is linked to the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan. 
(Customer First – rebuild- action d) 

e) Establish a new 
business 
transformation 
team to support 
service 
improvements 

Target 
date: April 
2020. 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Commercial Transformation 

 
 

See recovery tracker for further details and successful 
implementation of this action. (Recovery tracker- Customer first- 
rebuild- action a) 
 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target 
date Reporting Line Progress 

to date Comment   

Objective 2. Develop online services to achieve ‘digital by preference, access for all’. 

a) Develop and 
implement a 
corporate 
digital platform. 

Target 
date: March 
2021 

Head of Corporate Services 

Lead Member for 
Commercial Transformation 

 
 

A new digital platform has now been developed and implemented.  
The Business Transformation Team is working on moving the final 
processes from our previous digital platform to our new one.  
The team went live with bulky waste, missed bins and assisted 
waste collections in April. All of these new online services have 
been being very well received by customers and have made a 
significant positive impact on the back office processes for Ubico 
and customer services.  
Report a problem, FOIs and ‘complaints, compliments, comments 
and concerns’ will move over to the new digital platform by the 

72



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 32 
 

end of May 2021, which is when the contract for our previous 
platform ends. 
The team is also in the process of prioritising the next projects to 
be built on the new digital platform - upcoming projects include 
online licensing, online cemeteries, support to digitisation of HR 
recruitment, paperless billing and a review of our litter picking 
scheme.   

b) Implement an 
online offering 
for the licensing 
service. 

April 2021 
Target 
date: Sept 
2021 
(revised 
date 
reported 
to O&S 
committee 
in March 
2021) 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

 

This project has yet to start but it has been identified as one of the 
Business Transformation Team’s priority projects to deliver 
between June and September.  
  

c) A full review of 
the bulky waste 
service 
including the 
online 
bookings. 

Target 
date: 
March 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment  

 

The new bulky waste service went live in the first week of April. 
Although early days, all aspects of the project are positive and the 
project team has delivered the key objectives including:  

- A new set of charges 
- A new service provider who delivers a recycling/reuse 

service   
- An online booking service through our new digital platform 
- A reduction in wait times from 5-6 weeks to one week 

 
d) Explore the 

opportunity for 
an online 
offering for our 
cemeteries 
function. 

Target 
date: 31 
March 
2022 

Head of Finance and 
Asset 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management  

 

Work will start once the Business Transformation Team has 
delivered its initial priorities. Anticipated work will start 2021/22. It 
was always the intention this would be within a second phase, 
even pre-Covid.   
 
 
 

73



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 33 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KP
I 

no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

19 

 
Total enquiries 
logged by the 
Area 
Information 
Centre (AIC).  

686 

 

0 
 

0 
 

0 0 

 
 

 
 

The AICs have been 
closed since 11 March 
due to Covid-19.  Regular 
communication with the 
parish councils has been 
maintained.  No requests 
for council services have 
been received at the 
AICs. The AICs will 
reopen from 21 June in 
line with government 
guidance.  

Lead 
Member 
Customer 
Focus/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

20 

Total number 
of people 
assisted within 
the borough by 
Citizens Advice 
Bureau (CAB). 

1,644 

 

 
415 

 
 
 

 

742 

 

 

 
1,300 

 
 

1,548 

  Throughout the period 
under review face-to-face 
advice was suspended 
and the service continued 
to be a telephone and 
website service.  
 
During the 12 months, 
residents presented 3,664 
issues compared to 3,370 
last year- an increase of 
8.7% 
 
With 67% (1,907) of the 
3,664 issues raised being 
represented by the 
following: 
Benefits & Tax credits- 
22% 
Universal Credit: 9% 

Lead Member 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

74



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 34 
 

Debt and Financial: 15% 
Employment: 13% 
Housing: 8% 
Relationships: 10% 
 
Of the 1,548 Tewkesbury 
clients seen the heaviest 
demand was 
Churchdown, St. John's at 
145 (9.4%).   
The following six wards 
represent 706 (46%) of all 
clients seen:  
  
Churchdown St Johns-
145 clients 
Northway- 119 clients  
Cleeve St Michael- 119 
clients    
Brockworth West- 104 
clients    
Tewkesbury South- 115 
clients 
Innsworth- 104 clients  
 

21 

 
Financial gain 
to clients 
resulting from 
CAB advice £1,832,984 

 

£377,852 £329,926 £471,748 £605,23
8 

  During the 12 months, 
clients in Tewkesbury 
have benefitted from 
£1,784,764 of financial 
gains , of which 
£539,765  represented 
debts written-off.   

Lead Member 
Economic 
Development/
Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

22 
Community 
groups 
assisted with 
funding advice 

 
124 

 
 
 
 

71 
 
 

82 

68 
(Q1-Q3= 

221) 

55 
(Q1-
Q4= 
276) 

  Over the Quarter: 
• 55 Voluntary & 

Community 
Sector groups 
supported with 
funding advice 

Lead Member 
Community 
Development 
/ Head of 
Development 
Services 

75



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 35 
 

(Q1 & 
Q2= 153) 

 
 

• 50 attending 
training (36 
Severn Trent 
Community Fund 
workshop, 14 
Crowdfunding 
workshop) 

• 11 groups 
received a Covid-
19 Community 
grant 

• Other work 
includes the 
development of a 
Community 
Funding Toolkit 
and the launch of 
a time limited 
Capital Funding 
Scheme and two 
online funding 
seminars.    

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 
KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-
21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

23 

Benefits 
caseload: 
a) Housing 

Benefit 
b) Council 

Tax 
Reduction 

2,687 
4,318 

 

2,617 
4,747 

2,564 
4,802 

 
2,519 
4,871 

 

2,437 
4,874 

  The housing benefit 
caseload continues to fall 
due to the migration of 
claimants to Universal 
Credit, however still not to 
the extent estimated 
previously. We receive an 
average of 13 new claims 
a month. Delays in 
managed migration 
means that we will 
continue to deal with 

Lead Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

76



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 36 
 

some claim types until 
September 2024. 
  
There continues to be a 
significant increase in the 
working age Council Tax 
Reduction caseload due 
to the financial impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  
The split at year end was 
as follows: 
 
Pension age 1,847 (down 
from 1,887 as at 
31.03.2020). 
Working age 3,027 (up 
from 2,431 as at 
31.03.2020). 

24 
Average 
number of days 
to process new 
benefit claims 

6 

 
 

14 
(2019-

20 
target 
15) 

8 
 

7 

 

7 8 

 
↓ 
  
 

 

 
Performance on new 
housing benefit claims 
continues to be well below 
the national average of 17 
days. 
 
 

Lead 
Member 
Finance 
and Asset 
Manageme
nt/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 
KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
 Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

25 

Average 
number of days 
to process 
change in 
circumstances 

2 

3 
(2019-

20 
target 

4) 

3 
 

3 

 

4 2 ↔ 
 

 

Performance on change 
in circumstances 
continues to be well below 
the national average of six 
days. 
 

Lead 
Member 
Finance 
and Asset 
Manageme
nt/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

77



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 37 
 

26 
Percentage of 
council tax 
collected  

98.1%  
98.3% 29.5% 

 

57.5% 

 

85.6% 97.6% ↓  

Council tax collection 
performance continues to 
be significantly affected 
by the Covid-19 
pandemic.  We have been 
unable to take formal 
recovery action for unpaid 
council tax for 12 months 
as the magistrates’ court 
has not reopened for 
liability order hearings. It 
was also not possible to 
take meaningful 
enforcement action during 
the various lockdowns. 
 
We continue to send 
reminders for non-
payment and are trying to 
engage with residents in 
other ways by making 
alternative payment plans.  
 
More positively we now 
have a liability order court 
on 28 May which will 
assist in getting recovery 
action back on track 
again. 

Lead 
Member 
Finance 
and Asset 
Manageme
nt/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

27 
Percentage of 
NNDR 
collected 

99.2%  
98.5% 31.1% 

 

59.8% 

 

79.8% 95.9% 
↓ 
 

 
 

 
Business rates collection 
performance is 
significantly below target, 
primarily because of the 
continuing impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
We continue to send 
reminders for non-
payment, however as the 
magistrates’ court 

Lead 
Member 
Finance 
and Asset 
Manageme
nt/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
 

78



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 38 
 

remained closed to 
liability order hearings for 
the whole of the 2020/21 
financial year, we have 
been unable to take any 
further enforcement action 
to collect outstanding 
debt.  
 
More positively we now 
have a liability order 
hearing scheduled for 28 
May.  

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 
KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
 Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

28 

Average 
number of sick 
days per full 
time equivalent 

 

 

12.62 8.0 2.09  

 

2.21 
(Q1 & 

Q2= 4.3) 

 

2.95 
(Q1 -Q3 
= 7.25) 

2.43 
(Q1 – 
Q4 = 
9.68) 

   ↑  

There has been a 
significant improvement in 
absence rates from 
2019/20 (12.62 days to 
9.68 days). This decrease 
was driven by a reduction 
in short term sickness 
absence which seems 
likely to be linked to the 
increase in home working 
and the covid restrictions 
resulting in a reduction in 
transmission of common 
illnesses.  

 
The total comprised of: 
Short term = 476.6 (19/20 
= 913.3) 
Long term = 1279.4 
(19/20 = 1264.8)  
 

Lead 
Member 
Organisatio
nal 
Developmen
t/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

79



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 39 
 

The HR and OD team are 
actively supporting the 
management of those 
currently on long term 
sickness, have added to a 
wellbeing agenda and will 
be reviewing the absence 
management policy to try 
to further reduce rates.  

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KP
I 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 
Head of 
service 

29 
Food 
establishment 
hygiene 
ratings. 

3.6% 

 
5% 

With a 
food 

hygiene 
rating 
Under 
three  

 

3.47% 4.01% 

 
2.6% 3.6% 

 
↔ 

 
 

 
 

There are 840 registered 
food premises, an overall 
increase of 13 on the 
previous quarter with new 
businesses still 
registering. 
 
Food inspections have 
been on hold during 
lockdown however these 
are being restarted during 
May 2021 using external 
contractors. We have 
calculated we have a 
backlog of 474 
inspections and a further 
200 inspections due of to 
be completed in 2021/22. 
Internally we have 
continued to progress 
remote inspections in line 
with Food Safety Agency 
(FSA) guidance by virtual 
inspections.   
 

Lead 
Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment
/ 
Head of 
Community 
Services 

80



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 40 
 

This remains below the 
target of no more than 5% 
of food business having a 
food hygiene rating of less 
than 3.   
 

30 

Percentage of 
Freedom of 
information 
(FOI) requests 
answered on 
time. 

90%  
80% 91% 

 
 

92% 
(Q1 & Q2 
= 92%) 

85% 
(Q1-Q3= 

89% 

81% 
(Q1-
Q4= 
87% 

 
↓ 
 
 

 
 
 

164 FOIs were received in 
Q4. 133 of these were 
answered within the 20 
working days deadline.  
 
Total received in 2020-
21= 575 of which 498 
were answered in time 
(87%).  
(565 received during 
2019/20) 

Lead 
Member 
Customer 
Focus/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

31 

Percentage of 
formal 
complaints 
answered on 
time. 

86% 90% 97% 

 
 

93% 
(Q1 & Q2 
= 95%) 

 

 
70% 

(Q1-Q3= 
89% 

75% 
(Q1-
Q4= 
84%) 

↓ 
 

 

 

47 formal complaints were 
received in Q4. 35 were 
answered within the 20 
working days deadline.   
Total received to date for 
2020-21= 144 of which 
121 were answered on 
time and two were 
withdrawn.  
(199 received during 
2019/20) 
 

Lead 
Member 
Customer 
Focus/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Delivery of Tewkesbury Garden Town 

a) Formally establish the 
Garden Town planning 
status. 

Target date: 
Submission for 
examination 2022  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  

 
 

The Garden Town will form part of the Joint Core 
Strategy Review which is scheduled for submission for 
examination in 2022.  

81



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 41 
 

 Director of Garden 
Communities 

At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 
Development Scheme was approved. This sets out the 
timetable for the JCS review. 

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 2018/19 
• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 2021 
• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022 
• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 

2023 
• Examination – Summer 2023 
• Adoption – Winter 2023  

 
b) Establish a governance 

structure and ways of 
working with key 
stakeholders. 

Target date:          
March 2021 
 
 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 

 The Tewkesbury Garden Town governance structure 
was approved at Executive Committee on 3 February 
2021. This will now be taken forward by the Tewkesbury 
Garden Town Team.  
 
 

c) Prepare a masterplan 
that sets out the key 
principles, quality 
development and 
infrastructure 
requirements. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
(Evolution of 
masterplan) 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 

 
 

The evolution of the concept masterplan is in its final 
draft form and has been presented to the Member 
Reference Panel. The team are making the final 
amendments before the plan is submitted as supporting 
evidence for the JCS Review later in the year.  
 
Linked to Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 
performance tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- 
action b). 
 

d) Deliver the first phase of 
the ‘bridge project’, in line 
with the funding 
requirements. 

New target date:  
March 2021 
 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 

 
 

The Ashchurch Bridge was approved at planning 
committee in March.  

 

Work is now starting on the next stage of the 
programme, finalising detailed design and assembling 

82



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 42 
 

the land required, ahead of commencing the 
procurement of a contractor in Spring 2022. 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Delivery of Golden Valley Garden Community. 

a) Produce a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) for 
West Cheltenham Cyber 
Park in collaboration with 
Cheltenham Borough 
Council. 

Target date: 
Summer 2020 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 

 

 

The SPD, now known as the Golden Valley 
Development SPD, was adopted by Tewkesbury 
Borough Council on 28 July 2020. 

 

 

b) Prepare a land assembly 
programme to aid in the 
delivery of the Golden 
Valley Garden Village 

 
 

Target date: 
March 2021   
 
 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 

 
 

Work underway in collaboration with Cheltenham 
Borough Council and Homes England to identify key 
land holdings for potential acquisition.   

 

Linked to Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan- Garden 
Communities, refocus- action a.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

83



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 43 
 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the climate emergency action plan 

a) Review and update our 
plans in relation to 
environmental 
sustainability and carbon 
management, taking 
account of the latest 
evidence and national 
policy. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

All Heads of Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

 

Early work on drafting year two of the Climate Change 
and Carbon reduction action plan has now begun ready 
for adoption in early Summer. 

b) Seek to reduce waste 
and emissions across our 
own estate, assets and 
activities, and use natural 
resources more 
efficiently. 

Target date: July 
2021 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 
 

 

The year one outturn report for Climate Change Strategy 
will be brought to O&S Committee on 13 July 2021, this 
will highlight the achievements during the year to reduce 
waste and emissions.  

Feasibility studies for the replacement of the heating 
system at the Public Service Centre have now 
concluded with the recommendation of an Air-to-Air 
system being the most efficient for the council’s needs. 
The council has also secured £284,000 of grant funding 
from Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) to support this project. The intention is 
for the project to be completed by Autumn 2021. 

In addition, carbon surveys of our homeless properties 
and the Horsford Trust properties continue to be 
undertaken as the properties become vacant which will 
then provide a mini-action plan for works to these 
properties.  

 

84



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 44 
 

c) Work with 
Gloucestershire County 
Council and other 
partners to help local 
residents and businesses 
take action to reduce 
their own carbon 
footprint, and to make 
better use of resources. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

Deferred 
for six 

months 

Discussions are underway reviewing and implementing 
cycle pathways and other measures with Gloucester 
County Council to increase the options of walking and 
cycling.   

 

  

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Promote a healthy and flourishing environment in the borough. 

a) Establish planning 
policies to ensure the 
delivery of healthy and 
sustainable communities. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
(ongoing as 
action is across a 
number of plans) 

Head of Development 
Services  
Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

 
 
 

 

The adopted JCS already contains strategic policies 
around sustainability and health. 

The emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan is proposing 
further detailed policies around environmental quality, 
green infrastructure and biodiversity and sustainable 
transport to help to deliver healthy and sustainable 
communities. The Borough Plan has been submitted for 
examination which finished in March 2021. The council 
are awaiting comments from the inspector on any 
modifications required.    

The JCS review will reconsider existing strategic policies 
around health and sustainability as well as whether any 
additional policy guidance would be appropriate.  

At Executive Committee on 6 January 2021 the Local 
Development Scheme was approved. This sets out the 
timetable for the JCS review as: 

• Issues & Options Consultation – Winter 
2018/19  

85



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 45 
 

• Preferred Options Consultation – Summer 
2021 

• Pre-Submission Consultation – Winter 2022  
• Submission to the Secretary of State – Spring 

2023  
• Examination – Summer 2023  
• Adoption – Winter 2023 

b) Improve bio-diversity 
across the borough and 
educate communities on 
its benefits. 

Target date: 
March 2023 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 
Deferred 
for six 

months 

Quotes are being sought to create, design and install 
interpretation signage in the Grangefield to help educate 
the community. This will be in line with the European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) funding criteria to 
enhance biodiversity.   
 
Green space improvements are incorporated within the 
Local Plan. 
  
 

c) Work with volunteers 
across the borough, and 
help communities to 
maintain our “place”. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 
 

 

Officers have been continuing to assist the community 
through the pandemic, proving support to residents 
through the:  

1. Community Help Hub  

2. Contacting the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable  

3. Those self-isolating  

The Help Hub is now in the process of being scaled 
down, in line with reducing need. 

The team continues to work closely with the Voluntary 
and Community Sector to provide support to residents in 
need through the Covid-19 pandemic.  

86



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 46 
 

The council has also continued to run the Emergency 
Community funding scheme for the Voluntary Sector. 

A Winter Grants scheme has also been in operation 
providing financial support to vulnerable people who 
required assistance with food, fuel and essential 
supplies. 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Promote responsible recycling across the borough. 

a) Take a robust approach 
towards fly-tipping and 
other enviro-crimes. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

 

Flytipping complaints have increased by 92% in this 
quarter; noise complaints by 48%, with a slight increase 
in bonfire complaints.   

Abandoned vehicle and dog fouling complaints have 
reduced in 20/21 by 15.5% and 11.9% respectively 
compared to 2019/20 - however there has been an 
overall increase in envirocrimes of 61% compared to 
2019/2020.    

There has been one successful prosecution in the year 
and this has mainly been due to the courts being closed.  

 There are a number of active investigations underway 
with two further prosecutions pending. 

b) Working with 
Gloucestershire Waste 
and Resources 
Partnership to encourage 
recycling and reduce 
plastic waste. 

Target date: June 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

 

The Gloucestershire Waste and Resource partnership is 
currently running a “Be Clear on Plastics” Campaign to 
cover all the issues regarding the different types of 
plastics and how people can reduce, reuse and recycle 
their plastics.  Tewkesbury Borough Council’s 
communication team are and will continue to promote 
the ‘Gloucestershire recycles’ campaigns through social 
media channels. 

87



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 47 
 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 4.  Preserve and enhance the natural assets and built heritage of our borough. 

a) Work with the local 
nature partnership on the 
natural capital asset 
mapping. 

Target date: 
March 2021  

Head of Development 
Services  
Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

 
 
 
 

Natural capital assets mapping is now complete and 
available online- https://naturalcapital.gcerdata.com/ or 
via www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk.  

 

b) Publish the heritage 
strategy to set out the 
actions to protect our 
built environment. 

 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Development 
Services  
Lead Member for Built 
Environment 

 
 
 

The draft Heritage Strategy is one of the evidence 
documents that is being used to support the examination 
in public for the local plan- 
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-
plan-examination-library 

 
Key performance indicators for priority: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 
 
KPI 
no. 

KPI 
description 

Outturn 
2019-20 

Target 
2020-
21 

Outturn 
Q1 

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2 

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3 

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

32 
Number of 
reported 
enviro 
crimes 

1,271 1000 419 

 

508 
(Q1 & Q2  

= 927) 

 

542 
(Q1-
Q3= 
1,469) 

716 
(Q1-Q4= 

2185) 

↓ 
 

 
 

Enviro crime figures 
for Q4 (figures in 
brackets comparable 
for 2019/20) 
• fly tips- 570 (124)  
• Littering - 5 (3)  
• dog fouling- 

34(22)   
• abandoned 

vehicles- 54 (32)  
• noise- 43 (21)   
• Bonfire – 10 (7) 

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 
Services 

88

https://naturalcapital.gcerdata.com/
http://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan-examination-library
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan-examination-library


Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 48 
 

Flytipping complaints 
have increased by 
92% in this quarter; 
Noise complaints by 
48%, with a slight 
increase in bonfire 
complaints.  
Abandoned vehicle 
and dog fouling 
complaints have 
reduced in 20/21 by 
15.5% and 11.9% 
respectively 
compared to 2019/20 
however there has 
been an overall 
increase in enviro 
crime of 61% 
compared to 
2019/2020.    

33 
Percentage of 
waste 
recycled or 
composted. 

51.47% 52% 50.26% 

 
 
52.79% 
(Q1+Q2= 
51.54%) 

 
 
 

45.92% 
(Q1-
Q3= 
49.82%) 

 
 
45.18% 
(Q1-Q4= 
48.73%) 

 

↓ 

 

 
 

 
 

The figure for Q4 is 
an unverified figure 
and may be subject 
to change.  The 
downturn in recycling 
is in part due to the 
number of loads 
rejected at the MRF 
in Avonmouth and 
partly due to the high 
levels of waste we 
have seen as part of 
the third lockdown 
period.  Indications 
for the first month of 
the new contract are 
positive with no loads 
rejected by the new 
contractor. 

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 
Services 

89



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 49 
 

34 

Residual 
household 
waste 
collected per 
property in 
kgs. 

414KG 430kg 117kg 

114KG 
(Q1 & Q2 
= 263KG) 

 

114KG 
(Q1- 
Q3= 

377KG) 
 

116KG 
(Q1-Q4= 
461KG) 

↓ 
 

 
 

In line with the 
comments above, as 
the impact of Covid-
19 has had a 
detrimental effect on 
the waste sent for 
disposal which in turn 
impacts the % of 
waste collected sent 
for recycling or 
composting. The 
amount sent for 
energy from waste 
disposal per 
household remained 
high again for Q4 and 
is similar to the 
figures seen during 
the first lockdown. 
Increased residual 
waste is being seen 
across the county 
and country as more 
people are at home 
for the majority of 
time and working 
from home also. This 
is also an initial figure 
and will need 
verification and is 
subject to minor 
change. 

Lead Member 
Clean and Green 
Environment/Head 
of Community 
Services 

 

90



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 1 

 

 
PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Continue to work with 
partners to ensure 
adequate measures are 
in place on our high 
streets to enable social 
distancing.  

Target date:  
August 2020 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 
 

All required and agreed health and safety signage and 
systems now installed on our High Streets. Further 
signage and hand sanitisers have now been agreed to be 
installed. Any further measures agreed will be 
implemented as and when required. 

b) Monitor the financial 
impacts of Covid-19. 

Target date: 
March 2021  

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 
Monthly monitoring and reporting, including detailed 
financial returns to MHCLG, is in place and will likely 
continue for the rest of the financial year and into the new 
year.  

c) Produce a new six-
monthly internal audit 
plan and review the 
whole suite of internal 

New target 
date: October 
2020 

Head of Corporate 
Services  

At present, due to a new roll out of government grants, 
internal audit work is limited to reviewing the suite of 
previous audit recommendations. No planned audit 

Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan tracker actions: 

 Action progressing well/ on or above target 

 Action has some issues/delay but not significant slippage/ below target but likely to achieve end of year target 

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance is below target/ 
significantly below target and unlikely to achieve target 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or required to report 

 Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

91



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 2 

 

audit recommendations 
to determine if 
recommendations 
remain relevant and 
timescales for 
implementation remain 
feasible. 

April 2021 
July 2021 
New target 
date reported 
to O&S June 
2021) 

Lead Member for 
Corporate Governance 

assignments have yet to commence. It is anticipated this 
work will start end of June/early July.  

 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Agree and monitor the 
Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre recovery plan in 
partnership with Places 
Leisure.   

Target date:  
September 
2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management  

 

Monitoring arrangements are in place and the council 
maintains a good working relationship with Places 
Leisure as both parties look to return to normal levels of 
activity as soon as possible. 

The centre re-opened on the 12 April for individual 
activities whilst classes will open as soon as government 
restrictions allow. 

A number of campaigns are being run by the centre 
including NHS thank you and home town heroes.  

An additional £11k grant has been received from Sports 
England to support the costs of re-opening the centre. A 
total of £181k has now been received. 

b) Ensure adequate 
measures are in place 
and government 
guidance is adhered to 

Target date: 
September 
2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management  

We are aligning our return to work in accordance with the 
government’s roadmap – the key date being 21 June. 
Directed through the operational manager’s cohort 

92



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 3 

 

for those staff that need 
to return to the Public 
Services Centre offices, 
whilst exploring the 
future demand for space 
in light of new ways of 
working. 

June 2021 
(aligned to 
govt roadmap) 

Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

services are currently working on various work streams to 
meet this date.   

c) Produce a revised 2020/ 
2021 budget. 

Target date: 
No longer 
required 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

No longer 
required 

Following consideration of all issues relevant to 
producing a revised budget, it was agreed that the 
council’s needs would be better served by maintaining 
the original budget. 
 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Revise the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) in light of 
additional financial 
pressures arising from 
Covid-19. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

The MTFS was approved at Council on 26 January 2021. 
 
The ‘production of an MTFS’ action can also be found 
within the Council Plan performance tracker. (Finance 
and resources- objective 2- action a).  

b) Maximise the use of 
business intelligence 
within the council to 
ensure the accuracy of 
the rating list and help 

New target 
date: 
 March 2021 

March 2022 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

 

Recruitment of a new Business Intelligence Officer has 
commenced. A cross service project plan will need to be 
developed so business intelligence is shared by relevant 
services moving forward.   

93



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 4 

 

businesses build 
resilience.  

(New target 
date reported 
to O&S June 
2021) 

c) Work with businesses 
and residents and seek 
to rebuild council tax 
and business rate 
collection rates.  

New target 
date: 
March 2021 
March 2022 
(New target 
date reported 
to O&S June 
2021) 

 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

 
 

Formal recovery action has been outside of the control of 
the Revenue’ team for over 12 months as the magistrates 
court has remained closed. In the absence of formal 
action, softer action has been taken during the year and 
the team has continued to engage with residents and 
business to identify the reasons for non-payment and 
signposting to further support and assistance if required. 

Positively, in recent weeks the court has re-opened (by 
telephone) and authorised the recovery action on 1,820 
council tax accounts and 140 business rates accounts.  

 
PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Review the Economic 
Development and 
Tourism Strategy to 
identify any actions 
required to respond to 
Covid-19.  

Target date:  
June 2021 
June 2022 
(revised date 
reported to 
O&S 
committee in 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 
 

The priorities within the strategy will need to reflect the 
changing needs of businesses resulting from Covid-19. 
 
In consultation with the lead member, due to the uncertain 
business climate, it was agreed that a new strategy will be 
developed for 2022, and the current strategy will continue 
until then. This was reported to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in November 2020.  

94



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 5 

 

November 
2020) 

 
Delivery of ‘the next year of the current Economic 
Development and Tourism Strategy’ action can be found 
within the Council Plan performance tracker. (Economic 
Growth- objective 1- action a). 
 

b) Undertake an 
economic impact 
assessment and 
analysis to understand 
the needs of local 
businesses. 

Target date:  
January 2022 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

Deferred  

This economic assessment will help to inform the new 
Economic Development and Tourism Strategy. This 
assessment will be commissioned once the long-term 
impact on the business community is clearer.  
 
As some businesses are still in the process of reopening 
as well as the furlough scheme still being in operation the 
economic assessment will not commence until at least the 
autumn.   

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

c) Work with our partners 
at Cotswold Tourism to 
understand when and 
how to safely 
encourage visitors 
back to the borough.  

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 

 

In line with Government guidance, as of 12 April 2021 self 
-catering accommodation and camping could re-open.  
 
Tewkesbury Tourist Information Centre re-opened in week 
of 12 April. 
 
The council has been working with Cotswold Tourism on 
low level promotional messages and marketing, including: 

• Social media 

95



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 6 

 

• Website 
• Campaign work 
• Interactive workshops 

 
The focus has been particularly on the domestic market 
and post Covid 19 restrictions. 
 
The newly established Visit Gloucestershire launched a 
recovery strategy in April 2021, this was developed in 
engagement with districts. 
 
This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 4- 
action a). 

d) Work closely with 
partners, businesses 
and groups to enable 
the safe and 
successful reopening 
of high streets and 
retail centres. 
 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment  

 

Most businesses across the Borough have remained very 
compliant with Covid-19 regulations with a few notable 
exceptions where advice and guidance has been provided 
and in a very few exceptional cases enforcement action. 
  
Officers have been extremely busy in carrying out regular 
patrols and providing advice including to licenced premises 
at weekends and evenings often alongside the police 
where necessary. 
Further and continuing changes to legislation and 
guidance means that this area of work is ongoing and will 
be for some time.    

 
 
 
 

96



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 7 

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Work with our partners 
to engage with 
businesses to create 
tailored business 
support solutions 
through Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub, as a 
single point of contact 
to support business 
recovery- helping 
businesses to recover, 
innovate and thrive.  

Target date: 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 

 

Delivering tailored covid-19 business support interactions 
and online events through Tewkesbury Growth Hub. 
20 online webinar workshops and 1-2-1 sessions were 
delivered in quarter 1, 21 in quarter 2, 23 in quarter 3 and 
23 in quarter 4 - With over 364 attendees. Events included 
support with online marketing, video development, social 
media, goal setting and Covid-19 support plan 
development. 
The team also proactively contacted over 2,000 businesses 
to offer advice and support and promote the Government 
grant opportunities available. 
The Growth Hub Network promoted and delivered the 
Government’s Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) 
Recovery Grant and Kickstart Tourism Grant.  
A dedicated Survive and Thrive section has been set up on 
the Growth Hub Website – providing Covid-19 support.  
Growth Hub Mentors ran three panel Q&A sessions 
providing Covid support and advice. 
 
This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 1- 
action b). 
 
 

97



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 8 

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

b) Deliver sector specific 
advice and events, 
helping support local 
supply chains. 

Target date: 
July 2021 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 

As part of a Growth Hub Network and GFirst LEP project - 
specialist advisors have been employed across priority 
growth areas, providing support to local supply chains. 
Specialist advice includes the following areas: 

• Digital transformation 

• Low carbon / renewable energy sector 

• Change Management and transition, including 
Covid 19 recovery 

• Advanced manufacturing  
The support can be accessed through each growth hub. 
Sector-specific campaign work has included Destination 
Growth – Rebuilding the Tourism sector in the county. This 
has also included online training for businesses. 
A dedicated Survive and Thrive section to provide targeted 
Covid-19 support to businesses has been set up on Growth 
Hub Website.  

c) Work with partners to 
support employment 
and skills initiatives 
targeted at those 

Target date: 
 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 

A draft bid has been developed with Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) to offer a Youth Hub service hosted 
within Tewkesbury Growth Hub. Providing advice and 
information for young people, particularly focussing on 
young people impacted by Covid-19. Likely to be a virtual 

98



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 9 

 

affected by 
unemployment.  

service to start with. Working with DWP to make 
amendments before submission. 
Promotion of the Kickstart Campaign to local businesses.  
Promotion of support and webinars delivered through the 
National Careers Service to help job seekers.  

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Launch grant and 
support packages 
focused on innovation 
and growth, linking 
grants and Growth 
Hub advice. 

Target date: 
December 
2020 
March 2021 
(revised date 
reported to 
O&S 
committee in 
January 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion  

The delivery and promotion of the Government’s Small and 
Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) Recovery and Kick-
starting Tourism Package Grant Schemes, (administered 
through the Gloucestershire Growth Hub Network) has 
been delivered.  
The council has continued to provide Covid-19 business 
grants including the recently launched Additional Restriction 
Grants.  

 

b) Support the 
revitalisation of the 
High Streets and retail 
centres across the 
borough, including 
delivery of the 
Tewkesbury Heritage 
Action Zone 
programme, to help 

Target date: 
March 2024 
 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 
 

 

Delivery of Reopening High Street Safely Fund project work. 
Grant action plan in development with key themes focussing 
on: 

1. Communications and public information activity to 
ensure that reopening of local economies can be 
successfully and safely 

99



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 10 

 

drive economic 
recovery.  
 

 2. Business-facing awareness raising activities to 
ensure that reopening of local economies can be 
managed successfully and safely 

3. Temporary public realm changes to ensure that 
reopening of local economies can be managed 
successfully and safely 

Work includes: 

• Promotion and marketing contract with V8 – 
promotional material produced 

• Posters and stickers in town centres 

• Accessibility audits completed  

• Footfall counts commissioned and in process 

• Social media campaign work 

The Government has announced a follow on, extension 
scheme to the Reopening the High Street Safely Funding 
Programme. This is called The Welcome Back Fund and is 
proposed to run until March 2022. 

c) Work with partners to 
identify funding 
opportunities and 
support key 
infrastructure projects. 

Target date: 

December 
2022 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion  

Successful funding allocation from Reopening High Street 
Safely Fund to support Tewkesbury, Bishop’s Cleeve and 
Winchcombe centres 

Grant Action Plan for the reopening of the high street safety 
fund has been submitted to Government and approved. 
The Government has announced a follow on, extension 
scheme to the Reopening the High Street Safely Funding 
Programme. This is called The Welcome Back Fund and is 
proposed to run until March 2022. 

100



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 11 

 

d) Promote Tewkesbury 
Borough as an 
excellent location for 
business and 
investment.  

Target date: 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic Development/ 
Promotion 

 

Working with the Countywide Inward Investment Project 
Team to promote investment opportunities within the 
borough and fielding enquiries. Working with Department 
for International Trade (DIT) to help promote the trade and 
investment in the Western Gateway partnership 
(Gloucestershire, West of England, Swindon & Wiltshire 
and South Wales). DIT employed two specialists in 
advanced manufacturing and tech/cyber security to support 
inward investment. 
Promotion activity taking place through 
www.investingloucetsershire.com website and campaign 
work, where possible, under government Guidance  

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Refocus the council’s 
Place Approach to 
reflect the issues 
within our communities 
arising from Covid-19. 
 

Target date:  
January 2021 
September 
2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community 

Deferred  
for six 

months 

The place approach will be simplified to reflect some of the 
key priorities arising through the community from Covid-19. 
Principles around how we can work best with our 
communities have been drafted. 
Until now the focus has been on responding to our 
communities during the pandemic. The focus will now move 
towards the recovery element.  
 

b) Assess the additional 
demand on those 
using the housing 
service, taking into 

Target date:  Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Housing 

 

The Housing Advice Team is still maintaining an active 
part of the county response to rough sleepers. The initial 
assessment has been completed and has shown that 
there was an increase in numbers of housing advice cases 

101



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 12 

 

consideration the 
county wide rough 
sleeper initiative. 

Initial 
assessment 
October 2020 

presenting but still within the usual range from recent 
years. The number of temporary accommodation 
placements decreased slightly. 
  
The focus on rough sleepers has led to weekly meetings 
between county operational housing managers, the county 
homelessness coordinator and homeless outreach 
representatives to enable a swift response and deliver 
suitable outcomes. 
 
New Temporary Accommodation (TA) placements Q1 = 26  
Q2 = 21, Q3 = 25, Q4 = 30.   
New approaches for homelessness assistance Q1 = 135, 
Q2 = 178, Q3 = 146, Q4 = 132. 
  
TA placements have increased slightly again from Q3 to 
Q4 despite a further decrease in total homeless 
approaches.  This is likely to be linked to the ongoing 
‘lockdown’ restrictions and a period of severe weather.  Of 
these 30 only 7 remain in TA as of 15 April. 
  
While the numbers of rough sleepers identified have 
remained low (zero recorded in TBC area during Q4), 
there is a level of ‘hidden homelessness’ of households in 
insecure accommodation.  
 

c) Work with landlords 
and tenants to assess 
the potential demand 
once restrictions are 
lifted. 
 

Target date: 
 First stage 
December 
2020 
To be 
repeated 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Housing 

 
 

 

To gain an understanding of ‘pent up’ homelessness, 
contact was made with all households on the housing 
register and separate posts made through social media 
outlets to target tenants.   
During quarter four- the survey was refreshed and was sent 
out again to all households on the housing register. 
Responses have been collated and analysed in to highlight 

102



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 13 

 

 ending 
February 2021  

 
 

any broad trends and issues.  There appears to be positive 
trends regarding percentages of respondents in fields such 
as difficulties paying rent and furloughed or lost 
employment. 
In the initial survey (first stage) there was a strong response 
from social housing tenants.  We have started to engage 
regularly with Bromford Housing at an operational level to 
ensure struggling tenants are flagged to us at an early 
stage.  Bromford have prepared information regarding 
Notices of Seeking Possession, Court Orders and tenants 
in arrears in order for us to gauge possible future cases 
approaching in housing need.  This information shows an 
improving picture regarding arrears levels.   

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Support our 
communities to 
become more resilient 
and harness 
community spirit. 

Target date:  
December 
2021 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community  

 

The council has been particularly focussing on the Clinically 
Extremely Vulnerable in this quarter, supporting them with 
basic care needs. Shielding has now paused. 
 
In addition, the council has been working with groups such 
as Caring for Communities and People (CCP), Foodbanks, 
Children’s Centres and Health Visitors on a Winter Grant 
Scheme, with funds from Gloucestershire County Council. 
This has helped 556 vulnerable families who are struggling 
to pay for food, essential supplies and fuel costs. 
 
Emergency community grants continue to be awarded. 

103



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 14 

 

b) Respond to localised 
outbreaks of Covid-19 
quickly and effectively 
and in conjunction with 
the Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Local 
Outbreak Management 
Plan. 

Target date: 
August 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

 

 

This work has continued throughout quarter four. Joint 
working between all districts, Police and Public Health has 
been key to reducing the risk of local outbreaks.  
Numbers are now decreasing however we need to remain 
vigilant through the final stages of the easing of restrictions.  
The number of deaths and people entering hospitals with 
significant illness has also decreased. 
 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Recognise and 
harness our 
relationship with 
Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
(VCS) to support the 
building of resilient 
communities.  

 
 
 

Target date: 
 
December 
2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

The council has been working with groups such as Caring 
for Communities and People (CCP), Foodbanks, Children’s 
Centres and Health Visitors on a Winter Grant Scheme, with 
funds from Gloucestershire County Council. This has 
helped 556 vulnerable families who are struggling to pay for 
food, essential supplies and fuel costs. This fund ended at 
the end of March 21. 

The council continues to support the VCS sector. The 
council has been distributing emergency community 
grants. The criteria has been adapted again to take into 
account the changing needs of the VCS over the course of 
the pandemic. It particularly now focusses on assisting 
community groups reopen following a relaxation in the 
guidelines. 

104



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 15 

 

Supporting the VCS has been identified as a key issue 
within the County Community Resilience Recovery Plan. 

The council’s community funding officer has been 
supporting the VCS to find external funding to support their 
communities, as well as offering online funding workshops. 

Volunteers are continuing to be sent a list of volunteering 
opportunities to access. 

b) Build on the Local 
Housing Needs 
Assessment and start 
developing the 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Housing Strategy for 
2021 onwards. 

Target date:  
6 April 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Housing 

 

The new five-year term Housing Strategy was due to be 
renewed this year but has been deferred due to the 
resources required to respond to Covid-19. This will now be 
produced ready for Spring 2022.  
In the meantime, an interim version of the current strategy 
will be refreshed to cover 2021-2022, this will include 
updates to any legislation changes. 

On 23 February 2021 Council approved the interim Housing 
Strategy. 

 

c) Consider future 
working arrangements 
within new 
communities to ensure 
there are adequate 
local businesses and 
self-employment hubs.  
 
 

Target date:  
To be 
confirmed 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community Deferred 

Work has not yet commenced. 

 

105



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 16 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Officer/Group  Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Review the 
effectiveness and 
efficiency of the 
Environmental Health 
Service, including an 
assessment of 
additional demand and 
available resources. 

 

Target date: 
December 
2020 April 
2021 
Target date:  
September 
2021 
(target date 
reported to 
O&S 
Committee 
in March 
2021) 

 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

Deferred 
 

The effectiveness review has been on hold due to the level 
of Covid-19 response needed.  Once we are through the 
remaining stages of lockdown and seen cases further 
stabilise this can be revisited. 

 

b) Develop a new 
customer care 
strategy. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 

 

A new strategy was endorsed by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in January 2021 and approved by Executive 
Committee in February 2021. The strategy is accompanied 
by an action plan and refreshed set of Customer Care 
Standards, which will now be rolled out across the council.  
 

 
 
 
 

 

106



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 17 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Recover 

a) Explore options for 
alternative ways for 
customer engagement 
e.g. housing 
applicants. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 

 

 

 

• The bulky waste service was launched in April, which 
offers customers the opportunity to make bulky waste 
bookings online for the first time. The aim is for online 
take-up to reflect our garden waste service, which sees 
85 per cent of customers book through our website. 
Previously all bookings were made through our 
customer services team.  

 
• An officer working group has been set up to establish 

what the office set-up will look like for staff returning, 
and how this will work for customers. This includes 
considering face-to-face contact, as well as alternative 
customer engagement such as online appointments.  
 

• The customer services team is now supporting the 
planning admin team by aiming to resolve less 
complex enquiries at the first point of contact, and only 
passing the more complex/detailed issues through to 
the planning admin team/officers. A detailed set of 
FAQs has also been added to the website to avoid the 
need for contact in the first place.  

 
This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action 
a).   
 

107



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 18 

 

b) Support the safe re-
opening of buildings 
that provide a council 
service. 

 
 
  

Target date: 
June 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services/Head of 
Development  
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 

 
Since the last quarterly update, government announced 
their roadmap out of lockdown and we are aligning the re-
opening of our buildings to this roadmap. Tewkesbury 
Tourist Information Centre (TIC) and Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre both re-opened in the week of 12 April. 
Winchcombe TIC will open shortly once a lease has been 
agreed with the newly refurbished Winchcombe Heritage 
Centre. A key work stream, led by the operational manager 
cohort is to oversee the re-opening of the main offices in 
line with the government’s key date (21 June). 
 

c) Set up the new 
Business 
Transformation Team 
and shape the year 
one priorities. 

Target date: 
September 2020 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Commercial 
Transformation  

 
 

The team is up and running and working on the 
implementation of the new digital platform (‘report it’ forms, 
waste services, FOI system, complaints etc), has 
successfully delivered the new bulky waste service project, 
has delivered council tax paperless billing to test stage, 
undertaken a review of the website, leading on the Ubico 
‘spare resource’ project and is responsible for the 2021 
garden waste renewals. Updates on the work of team are 
reported to Transform Working Group.  
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action e). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

108



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 19 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Review the corporate 
website and Covid-19 
microsite. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 
  

 

The website project team has identified a preferred new 
platform. It is anticipated the website will be delivered by 
December 2021, taking into account the additional 
pressures that covid-19 is placing on instrumental 
members of the team.  
The new site will need to continue to offer excellent value-
for-money, as well as offer improvements for the search 
function and our recruitment section. In addition, the new 
site must work well with our digital platform – given our 
website is the front face of the council for 
most customer interactions. The actual delivery of the 
project will be a new action within the refresh of the council 
plan and corporate recovery plan.  

b) Re-instigate and 
deliver the council tax 
and business rates 
paperless project. 

Target date: 
February 2021 
 May 2021 Revised 
target date: July 2021 
(New target date 
reported to O&S 
Committee in June 
2021) 
 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

A paperless billing solution has been developed by the 
Business Transformation Team, and testing by the 
revenues team will take place from June. This was delayed 
due to the requirement for the revenues team to focus on 
the annual billing run.  
 

109



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 20 

 

c) For the benefit of 
customers, exploit the 
opportunities provided 
through agile working. 

Target date: 
December 2020 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Organisational 
Development 

 

 

The Agile Working Policy has been consulted on by 
management and unions and was approved then 
published on 26 November 2020. 

d) Review 
communications 
strategy in light of new 
ways of working and 
remote meetings 
technologies. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 

The communications strategy was reviewed and endorsed 
by Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting in 
January 2021.  

This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action d). 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Refocus 

a) Work with partners at 
Cheltenham to speed 
up delivery of the 
garden village site. 

New target date: 
March 2021  
 
 

 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment  

 
 

 

Working closely with Cheltenham Borough Council and 
Homes England regarding the J10 Housing Infrastructure 
Fund (HIF) delivery as well as land assembly opportunities 
and the possible relocation of the Hayden Sewerage 
treatment works. 
 
Board meetings and other meetings with partners, Severn 
Trent etc have been scheduled to look at these 
opportunities.  
 
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden Communities- objective 2- action b). 
 

110



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 21 

 

b) Explore opportunities 
to enhance new digital 
jobs and training with 
the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and 
partners at Cyber 
Central. 

New target date: 
March 2021  
 

 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 
 

Continue to work with LEP and Cheltenham Borough 
Council as the Cyber Central project develops. Current 
activity includes the formation of a Cyber Leadership 
Board and a Cyber Festival, planned for the future, both to 
be led by the LEP currently.     
 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Recover 

a) Seek further 
government funding 
with our partners to 
support sustained 
delivery of the garden 
community 
programmes. 

Target date: 
December 2020 
(Awaiting MHCLG 
decision) 
(target date reported 
to O&S committee in 
9 March 2021)  

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment  

A bid for further capacity funding to support the 
development of the early stages of the Garden Town 
programme is under preparation and was submitted to 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) in September. A decision was due in December, 
but this has yet to be received. The team have been 
informed by MHCLG it is still pending (covid delays).    
 
 

b) Actively seek capital 
funding with our 
partners to support the 
programme. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 

Discussions continue on many aspects of the programme 
to identify potential external funding opportunities/income 
streams, including direct grant aid, land purchase options, 
utility services provision, as well as private 
equity/investment avenues.  
 

 

111



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 22 

 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Work with partners to 
seek resolutions to 
infrastructure 
requirements around 
Junction 9 and 
Junction 10. 

Target date: March 
2021 
(Junction 10)  
 
 
 
 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 

All-ways Junction 10 

As part of the budget announcement, Gloucestershire 
County Council has been awarded £249m to deliver an all-
ways J10. This project consists of an all-ways motorway 
junction, link road to the West Cheltenham development 
site and a park and ride interchange. Public consultation 
has taken place and finished on 25 November 2020. A 
summary report from the Options Consultation can be 
found on the GCC webpages -  

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-
projects-list/m5-junction-10-improvements-scheme/ 

Post consultation, further engineering, design and survey 
work will be ongoing to support an announcement about 
the preferred route in Summer 2021. Another public 
consultation exercise will then accompany the planning 
application which follows. 

This action can also be found within the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 2- 
action b).  
 

112

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-10-improvements-scheme/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-10-improvements-scheme/


Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 23 

 

Target date: October 
2021 (next stage 
business case for 
Gov’t funding 
submitted - J9 and 
A46) 
 

 

J9 and A46 Offline Solution 
The council continues to be actively engaged in both the 
A46 Partnership and Midlands Connect to promote the 
development opportunities at the Garden Town. A first 
stage bid for major investment to support the delivery of an 
off-line J9/A46 solution has been submitted to the 
Department for Transport/Highways England and work 
continues finalising the next stage business case. 
Gloucestershire County Council continues with the project 
with next stage submission date to the Department of 
Transport of September 2021. 

 
This action can also be found within the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 2- 
action b).  

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

b) Work with partners to 
maximise sustainable 
development and low 
carbon technologies 
as part of the Garden 
Communities 
programme. 

Target date: March 
2021   

 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
Built Environment  

To meet the principles of the garden community 
developments sustainability is a core requirement. West 
Cheltenham Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is 
now adopted (Tewkesbury Borough Council adoption 28 
July 2020), which promotes a number of sustainability 
objectives and work continues on the evolution of the 
Tewkesbury Garden Town masterplan to better define the 
principles of development and how key features of 
sustainability and low carbon can be fully integrated and 

113



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 24 

 

actively promoted, from the outset. The Garden Town 
Team are in the process of contracting a consultant to help 
support this work.   
 
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden Communities- objective 1- action c). 
 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Exploit the opportunities 
provided through agile working 
to enhance or accelerate 
carbon reduction and climate 
change initiatives. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

Head of Corporate 
Services  

 

Lead Member for 
Organisational 
Development  

 
With the majority of staff working from home then 
this will naturally contribute to reducing cost and the 
carbon footprint of the council e.g. reduced paper 
consumption, reduced travel, heating and lighting 
etc. The impact will need to be determined through 
the capture of baseline data and monitoring 
procedures – a recommendation from the audit.  It is 
very likely that beyond the government roadmap, the 
‘new norm’ will see most staff working in a hybrid 
way.  

b) Work with our businesses and 
communities to support 
cleaner and greener living and 
working. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

Virtual support and advice sessions are currently 
being offered to businesses through the Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub on ‘how to build an eco/green business’. 
Sessions took place on 21 and 22 October 2020, the 
31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021.  
Further sessions are planned for the 7 and 8 July. 
 
 

114



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 25 

 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Increase awareness in the 
effects of recycling 
contamination. 

 

Target date: July 
2021. 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

 

Ubico crews continue to deliver to all properties a 
revised information sticker for blue bins. This will 
ensure that at the point of use, the bins will show 
information on what can and cannot be recycled. 
Crews are still carrying out additional checks and 
reporting the bins with contamination. These bins are 
being left with an information sticker to ensure they 
know why it's not been emptied.  This has been 
supported by a communications campaign for social 
media and the new refuse and recycling calendar 
have a feature on recycling contamination. 

b) Work with our communities to 
minimise waste to minimise 
the impact on our 
environment. 

Target date: 
October 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

 

 

 

A new communications strategy has been developed 
by the Gloucestershire Resources & Waste 
Partnership (GR&WP) and there will be a major 
campaign in each quarter of the year, including: 

May/June- Metal Matters, an Alupro supported 
campaign aimed at recycling more metal (cans, 
trays, foil etc) at kerbside. 

Summer- A campaign to focus on recycling in other 
rooms in the house (rather than kitchen). 

Christmas- A Christmas campaign with a focus on 
wasting less, and recycling . Campaign to start late 

115



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 26 

 

autumn so that choices can be informed in plenty of 
time.. 

Spring- A campaign to promote reuse/repair 
messages (repair cafes, reuse and charity shops 
etc). To include videos on how to do things such as 
repairing clothing and ‘upcycling’ furniture. 

These four campaigns will be supplemented with 
ongoing service specific communications and 
supporting projects (eg composting, real nappies, 
website development and maintenance). 

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild  

a) Support the deployment of the 
carbon reduction action plan. 

Target date: July 
2021 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management. 

 
Feasibility studies for the replacement of the heating 
system at the Public Service Centre have now 
concluded with the recommendation of an Air-to-Air 
system being the most efficient for the Council’s 
needs. The Council has also secured £284,000 of 
grant funding from Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to support this project. 
The intention is for the project to be completed by 
Autumn 2021. 

In addition, carbon surveys of our homeless 
properties and the Horsford Trust properties 
continue to be undertaken as the properties become 
vacant which will then provide a mini-action plan for 
works to these properties. 

116



Appendix 2- Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 27 

 

b) Work on the Mixed Recycling 
Facility (MRF) contracted 
services procurement. 

Target date: April 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services  

Lead Member for Clean and 
Green Environment 

 
 

 

The new contract has been mobilised and recent 
monitoring appears to be going well. 

c) Build on our communities’ 
connections with green space, 
walking and cycling to 
encourage healthy, 
sustainable living and 
appreciation of biodiversity.  

Target date: 
March 2022 
 
 

Head of Development 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Community 

 
 

Elements of this action has been deferred for six 
months. Some work continues through the 
Community Funding Officer as the council continues 
to provide funding advice for community projects, 
including environmental and health initiatives. Also, 
through the development process there are health 
and community policies to encourage new 
communities to access facilities and green space 
that encourage healthy, active lifestyles.  

 

117



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 8 June 2021

Subject: Corporate List of Policies and Strategies

Report of: Head of Corporate Services 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Lead Member for Organisational Development

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously requested that a list of policies and strategies 
be produced so as to help inform the Work Programme of the Committee and to provide 
support to the Executive Committee. The list is updated on an annual basis and identifies the 
policies and strategies that are due for review in 2021/22. The list is attached at Appendix 1. 

Recommendation:
To NOTE the list of policies and strategies that will inform the Executive Committee Work 
Programme 2021/22. 

Reasons for Recommendation:
To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to fulfil its Terms of Reference by assisting the 
Council and Executive Committee in the development of policy. 

Resource Implications:
None arising directly from this report.  

Legal Implications:
None arising directly from this report.

Risk Management Implications:
Effective overview and scrutiny supports delivery of the Council’s vision, values and priorities.

Performance Management Follow-up:
The Committee’s Work Programme is continually monitored to ensure emerging issues are 
considered.

Environmental Implications: 
None arising directly from this report.

118

Agenda Item 9



1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 The remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee includes the monitoring and 
development of policy which complements the work of the Executive Committee.  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously requested that a list of policies and 
strategies be produced so as to help inform the Work Programme of the Committee and 
to provide support to the Executive Committee. 

2.0 LIST OF POLICIES AND STRATEGIES

2.1 The list is updated on an annual basis and can be found at Appendix 1. The list identifies 
the policies and strategies that are due for review in 2021/22. The Committee is asked to 
note the list of policies and strategies that will inform the Work Programme of the 
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee’s Work Programme is a standing 
agenda item and is considered at each Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting. A 
role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to assist the Executive Committee in 
policy formulation and therefore has the ability to scrutinise appropriate policies and 
strategies prior to presentation at Executive Committee. In terms of appropriate, for 
efficiency purposes, it should not duplicate the work of other Committees, for example 
the Audit and Governance Committee who review governance related policies, nor 
should the Committee review policies that fall within the responsibility of quasi-judicial 
Committees such as the Licensing Committee or Planning Committee. 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 None.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Council Plan 2020-24.
Tewkesbury Borough Council Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 None.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 Officer time to support the review process and if necessary, possible use of an external 
consultant to assist with the review process.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 None directly related to this report.

119



9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 None directly related to this report.

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Head of Corporate Services
Tel: 01684 272002     Email: graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1 – List of policies and strategies for review in 2021/22.

120

mailto:graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Strategies & Policies Summary                       Review date

Corporate Services – Head of Service Graeme Simpson

Data Protection Policy

The policy sets out our commitment to protecting personal data and how we 
implement that commitment with regards to the collection and use of 
personal data. 

(This strategy will be considered by the Audit & Governance Committee)

August 2021

Equalities and Diversity Policy 
Sets out our equality objectives, including how we will make equality an 
integral part of the way in which we support our employees, deliver our 
services, reach decisions and involve our partners and service users. 

September 2021

Risk Management Strategy

A strategy which sets out how the council identifies, evaluates and mitigates 
risk. 

(This strategy will be considered by the Audit & Governance Committee)
December 2021

Absence Management Policy
To manage attendance and absence effectively to ensure the well-being of 
employees and to control and minimise the cost and impact of working days 
lost.

November 2021

Redundancy and redeployment 
policy

Provides a procedure in the event of the council having to reduce workforce 
numbers, aiming to avoid redundancies, setting out how redundancies will 
be made and the redundancy payments staff are eligible to receive. 

November 2021

Allocations Policy 

Linked to the redundancy policy above – manages the process of 
redeployment of potentially redundant “in scope’ employees to suitable 
alternative posts within the proposed new structure where these can be 
found. 

November 2021

Social media policy and 
guidelines

The social media policy aims to provide good practice guidelines to ensure 
that the reputation of the Council is maintained and enhanced through the 
effective and appropriate use of social media tools. December 2021

121



Strategies & Policies Summary                       Review date

Digital Strategy

The strategy sets out the way in which we plan to meet the changing 
expectations of our customers using digital technology and supporting 
delivery of value for money services. March 2022

Revenues and Benefits - Head of Service Graeme Simpson

Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Guidelines for the granting of business rates relief to charities and non-profit 
making organisations. December 2021

Revenues & Benefits Write-off 
Policy Guidelines on the treatment of irrecoverable debts for revenues & benefits. October 2021 

Finance and Asset Management – Head of Service Simon Dix

Money Laundering Policy
The policy sets out the Council’s pro-active approach to the detection and 
prevention of money laundering within its activities

(This strategy will be considered by the Audit & Governance Committee)

September 2021

Tree safety management policy
Management of trees that fall under Tewkesbury Borough Council 
ownership. The policy establishes how often the trees should be inspected, 
by who, where they are located and how it’s recorded.

November 2021

Procurement Strategy Describes protocol for purchasing to support the local economy and ensure 
value for money. December 2021

Medium Term Financial Strategy Establishes current financial situation and future savings/spends. Covers a 
5 year period but is re-approved annually. January 2022

122



Strategies & Policies Summary                       Review date

Investment strategy

This comes from updated MHCLG statutory guidance and applies to 
accounting periods starting 1 April 2018. The strategy provides oversight on 
how the Council undertakes transactions of this nature, the proportionality of 
these investments and a one year forecast of a range of financial indicators 
based on the standing investment decisions of Council.

January 2022

Capital Strategy
This is a requirement of CIPFA’s Prudential Code to place decisions around 
borrowing in the context of the overall longer term financial position of the 
authority and to improve links between the revenue and capital budgets.

January 2022

Minimum Revenue Provision 
policy

The policy outlines how the Council will make financial provision for the 
repayment of borrowings undertaken January 2022

Flexible use of capital receipts 
policy

The Secretary of State has allowed, for a temporary period only, the flexible 
use of capital receipts to support transformational projects. The policy 
outlines the Council’s approach to this temporary freedom.

January 2022

Treasury Management Strategy

In February 2012 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: 
Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Council 
to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year.

January 2022

Asset Management Strategy To maximise the potential of the council’s asset portfolio March 2022

Community Services – Head of Service Peter Tonge

Housing Strategy

In the face of complex housing challenges, comprehensive local housing 
strategies serve a number of key purpose in providing a framework to draw 
together the many sources of funding and relevant policy strands into a 
single, coordinated strategy to tackle local housing challenges.

March 2022

Managing contractors safely 
policy

Manging contractors for all areas within the authority in line with the Health 
and Safety Executive and good practice.  August 2021

123



Strategies & Policies Summary                       Review date

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
Licensing Policy

Policy and conditions for approving Hackney Carriage driver and vehicle 
licences, Private Hire driver, vehicle and operator licences, relevance of 
convictions when granting drivers licences and the suspension, revocation 
or refusal to renew licences. The new Policy will streamline the council’s 
existing taxi policies.

(This policy will be considered by the Licensing Committee)

September 2021

Mobile Homes & caravan site 
Licensing Policy

Policy sets out licensing of residential and temporary caravan sites and 
mobile homes.
(This policy will be considered by the Licensing Committee)

September 2021

Statement of Licensing Policy 
under the Licensing Act 2003.

Framework for promoting the licensing objectives.  How the council will 
consider and determine applications for licences in conjunction with the 
statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

(This policy will be considered by the Licensing Committee)

October 2021

Fixed penalty policy and fine 
levels for environmental offences

The policy outlines the Council’s approach to the use of fixed penalty 
notices and clarifies the Council’s position on several key operational 
matters relating to the use of fixed penalty notices. 

October 2021

Environmental Health 
Enforcement Policy

The aim of the policy is to outline the parameters within which the council 
will improve its environmental performance across 5 themes (own house in 
order; climate change; waste & recycling; biodiversity; sustainable planning 
& enforcement). 

November 2021

Gambling Act 2005- Statement 
of Principles

The Licensing Authority's approach to applications under the Gambling Act 
2005 and the information it expects applicants to provide.

(This policy will be considered by the Licensing Committee)
January 2022

Sandbag Policy This policy has been created to set clear priorities for the use of sandbags 
in relation to a potential flood event. January 2022

124



Strategies & Policies Summary                       Review date

Action for Affordable Warmth 
2013-18

A strategy for Gloucestershire and South Gloucestershire to assist with fuel 
poverty, improve energy efficiency in houses and provide advice. March 2022

Tewkesbury Borough Council 
domestic waste and recycling 
collection services policy and 
procedures

A policy and procedure for the councils waste and recycling collection 
services.

March 2022

Street Trading Licensing Policy Policy on approving applications for street trading consents.
(This policy will be considered by the Licensing Committee) March 2022

Development Services – Head of Service Sandra Ford

Playing Pitch Strategy Outlines future playing pitch requirements and standards for the borough.
Strategy will be merged into 
the Tewkesbury Borough 
Plan. Adoption due by 
February 2022.

Car Parking Strategy Council agreed and implemented a new parking strategy in April 2015 of 
which a new parking order and charges have been implemented. March 2022

Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy

A strategy on how the council will support the borough’s economy and 
tourism. April 2022

125



126



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 8 June 2021

Subject: Corporate Peer Challenge – Progress of Action Plan 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Members: Leader of the Council 

Number of Appendices: Two

Executive Summary:
As part of its approach to sector led improvement, the Local Government Association (LGA) 
offers a fully funded corporate peer challenge to Councils every four to five years. Tewkesbury 
Borough Council accepted the LGA offer and welcomed an LGA led team on site during week 
commencing 2 March 2020. 
As with all peer challenges, this included a review of five core components. This is essentially a 
high level, external ‘health-check’ centred upon: understanding of local context and priority 
setting, financial planning and viability, political and managerial leadership, governance and 
decision making and organisational capacity. In addition, the scope of the challenge was 
localised, to ask the challenge team to also focus on: are we set up organisationally to 
successfully deliver our growth plans and ambitions?, are we confident in the delivery of the 
Garden Communities projects? and in more general terms, the ability and capacity to deliver the 
new council plan? 
During the four day challenge, the team spoke to more than 120 people including a range of 
Council staff, Councillors, external partners and stakeholders and gathered information and 
views from more than 40 meetings. The final report from the LGA was very positive about how 
the Council performs across the subject areas. 
As with all challenges, areas for improvement were identified in the form of five key 
recommendations. An internal action plan comprising these recommendations with associated 
action points and other less implicit recommendations were approved by Council on                                 
8 December 2020. Council delegated the monitoring of progress in delivering those actions to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a six-monthly basis.  

Recommendation:
To NOTE the progress made in delivering the corporate peer challenge action plan. 

Reasons for Recommendation:
There is an expectation from the Local Government Association that following the issuing of 
their report, appropriate action is taken to implement their recommendations.  

Resource Implications:
None directly arising from this report

Legal Implications:
None directly associated with this report.

127

Agenda Item 10



Risk Management Implications:
If the Council does not implement the recommendations made by the peer challenge team then 
this will be a lost opportunity for improvement. 
If the Council does not implement the recommendations made by the peer challenge team then 
there is a potential reputational risk of not accepting critical feedback. 

Performance Management Follow-up:
The action plan will be monitored on a six-monthly basis by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

Environmental Implications: 
None directly associated with this report. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 As part of its approach to sector led improvement, the Local Government Association (LGA) 
offers a fully funded corporate peer challenge to Councils every four to five years. 
Tewkesbury Borough Council accepted the LGA offer and welcomed an LGA led team on 
site during week commencing 2 March 2020. 

1.2 As with all peer challenges, this included a review of five core components. This is 
essentially a high level, external ‘health-check’ centred upon: understanding of local context 
and priority setting, financial planning and viability, political and managerial leadership, 
governance and decision making and organisational capacity. In addition, the scope of the 
challenge was localised, to ask the challenge team to also focus on: are we set up 
organisationally to successfully deliver our growth plans and ambitions?, are we confident in 
the delivery of the Garden Communities projects? and in more general terms, the ability and 
capacity to deliver the new council plan? 

1.3 During the four day challenge, the team spoke to more than 120 people including a range of 
Council staff, Councillors, external partners and stakeholders and gathered information and 
views from more than 40 meetings. The final report from the LGA was very positive about 
how the Council performs across the subject areas. For reference, the report is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

1.4 As with all challenges, areas for improvement were identified in the form of five key 
recommendations. An internal action plan comprising these recommendations with 
associated action points and other less implicit recommendations were approved by Council 
on 8 December 2020. Council delegated the monitoring of progress in delivering those 
actions to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a six-monthly basis.  

128



2.0 THE ACTION PLAN  

2.1 The action plan can be found in Appendix 2. The template is the same as approved by 
Council but with an additional column so commentary can be added on how the actions are 
progressing. Though the LGA team made a number of recommendations these were small 
in number and the majority of the key recommendations simply asserted what we already 
had corporate awareness of. For example:

 financial scenario planning.

 branding, governance and engagement of the Tewkesbury Garden Town project.

 prioritisation and allocation of resources.

2.2 In terms of the actions, they are at various stages of delivery. For example, elements of the 
financial related action are complete whereas other elements of the action are of an ongoing 
nature as part of the cycle of the Council’s strategic financial planning. Other actions are 
wholly complete, such as the governance structure of the garden town project, a small 
number of actions have been impacted by the Council’s response to COVID-19, such as 
how the Growth Hub model is delivered and others have revised dates as the focus of the 
action has moved on, for example the consideration of webcasting for Council meetings. 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 The undertaking of a peer review was approved by Executive Committee. A significant 
number of Officers, Members and partners were consulted during the peer review week. 
Heads of Service have been consulted with regard to the development of the action plan.

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 Council Plan 2020-2024.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 None. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 None directly arising from this report.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 None directly arising from this report. 

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety)

9.1 None directly arising from this report.  

129



10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 Council 8 December 2020 – LGA final report and TBC action plan to implement the 
recommendations made. 

Background Papers: None 
Contact Officer:   Head of Corporate Services 
 Tel: 01684 272002 email: Graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk                                  
Appendices: 1 – LGA Peer Challenge Final Report.
                                       2 – Action plan to deliver recommendations.

130



 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Peer Challenge 
Tewkesbury Borough Council 

 

03 - 06 March 2020  

 
Feedback Report  
 

 

 

131



 

1 

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

1. Executive Summary  
  

This review was conducted prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and the world is now a different 
place in many ways. Nevertheless, this report reflects the views of the Peer team at a specific 
point in time and the recommendations made in this report will be for the council to consider 
within the new global, national and regional context. 

 
The Peer Team would like to acknowledge the level of support provided to them both before 
and during the onsite visit by members of the Corporate Services Team as well as the positive 
way in which the whole council engaged in the process. 

 
Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) is a well-run organisation, with well-respected 
management team, officers and members. The council shows a good understanding of place 
and has a strong presence within it. Officers and members have a passion for their borough 
which is recognised and valued by partners, with whom they have strong working relationships. 
The council takes a leading role in developing and maintaining these relationships for the 
benefit of its residents and communities. 

 
TBC benefits from the highly effective personal leadership of its Chief Executive (CEO) is 
unanimously well regarded and respected both within the council and amongst partners and 
stakeholders. The supportive leadership style he models is valued by staff at all levels. We 
heard of numerous hard won projects and relationships that are of significant benefit to the 
council and can be directly attributed to the CEO, for which he is to be commended. 
However, the council needs to continue to take steps to ensure effective succession 
planning.  

 
Staff are dedicated, forward looking and open to change – they represent an asset to the 
organisation and should continue to be nurtured and engaged in taking TBC forward. The ‘can 
do’ attitude of staff is an enviable strength, but with the strategic and operational demands 
increasing as the new council plan comes online, along with the emerging work to support the 
Garden Town plans, there is a risk this willingness to help could lead to staff being over 
committed and this strength becoming a weakness. 

 
The council could take a more proactive approach to external communication - when they have 
taken the lead in the past, such as press briefings on key initiatives, they do it well and this is 
welcomed by stakeholders, but there is a need to recognise the strategic value of effective 
comms and look to build specialist/dedicated capacity in this area. 

 
In relation to Garden Town Delivery, clearly defined next steps are now needed to define the 
programme within the external context, to ensure the output is co-owned and co-produced with 
the full range of stakeholders. Effective multi-agency governance is now required and the 
council needs to consider how to structure and resource this. 

 
There is an experienced and technically strong finance team and members and officers are 
confident that the financial position is being well managed. The council recognises their 
significant dependence on New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding the base revenue position and 
there is some visibility of the risk this represents given the likely changes coming down from 
government. Greater organisational awareness of this risk, its potential impact and viable 
mitigation options is needed. This should be prioritised in order to ensure that any alternative or 
additional efficiency programmes that need to be initiated to offset this income risk have time to 
deliver savings in advance of any change in funding approach by government.  

 

132

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

2 

TBC has proactively embraced the commercialisation agenda and has a well-performing 
portfolio which makes a valuable contribution to the Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
More detailed scenario planning to map the impact of potential changes to the commercial 
investment regulatory framework would be beneficial. This is to ensure the council is 
comfortable with the level of risk being managed, rather than presupposing a change is 
required. 

 

2. Key recommendations  
 

These recommendations were made at a point in time, reflecting the thoughts of the team at 
that time, and based on the evidence gathered. As part of the LGA’s ongoing role supporting 
our members in the region, we have seen that TBC, like many others, has responded well to 
COVID-19 and that the post-emergency landscape for the council will be very different. 
Nonetheless, these recommendations provide the thoughts of the LGA team at the time of the 
visit and, it is hoped, provide valuable reflections back to the council on the pre-pandemic 
situation that might help inform future considerations and prioritisation. 

 
There are a range of suggestions and observations within the main section of the report that 
will inform some ‘quick wins’ and practical actions, in addition to the conversations onsite, many 
of which provided ideas and examples of practice from other organisations.  The following are 
the peer team’s key recommendations to the council and are caveated in that they were made 
in a pre-COVID-19 world and the council will need to consider the relevance of these 
recommendations accordingly: 

 
1. Build upon your effective and well-embedded budget planning arrangements into the 

future by ensuring that you: 
- Take appropriate steps to minimise reliance on NHB as a means of sustaining 

the base revenue requirements of the organisation.   
- Prepare for possible changes to commercial investment regulatory framework 

through detailed scenario planning. 
 

2. Create the necessary senior leadership resilience, focus on prioritisation and overall 
resource requirements within the organisation going forward so that so that the council 
is on as sound a footing as possible to continue to meet the challenges facing the 
sector. As part of this: 

- Clarify roles and responsibilities of Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and 
Management Team in order, ensuring that opportunities for senior officers to 
contribute and influence are well understood; 

- Build on partnership and shared service delivery strengths to cement your ‘place 
leadership’ role and from this explore further opportunities as to how these 
arrangements will help build capacity  

- Build on existing corporate project evaluation mechanisms to develop a clear 
process for prioritisation and changing resource requirements 

  
3. Consider ways and approaches to promote the ‘Tewkesbury Brand’ more effectively as 

part of your successful leadership of place approach. 
 

4. Agree how you can proactively move the Garden Town delivery programme to the next 
phase by establishing/ developing stakeholder governance and engagement structures 
and processes. 
 

5. Building upon your existing sound governance arrangements review both: 
- the timings of key meetings so that all members can contribute effectively 

133

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

3 

- the length/ style of member reports so they more effectively inform and enable 
better decision making. 

 
 

3. Summary of the Peer Challenge approach  
 

3.1 The peer team  
 
Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  The make-
up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge.  Peers 
were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise and agreed by you.  
The peers who delivered the peer challenge at TBC were: 
 

- Stephen Walford – Chief Executive, Mid Devon District Council (Lead Peer) 
- Councillor Linda Haysey - Leader East Herts District Council 
- Councillor Allan Knox – Leader, Liberal Democrat Group, Ribble Valley District Council 
- Jo Yelland – Strategic Director – Exeter City Council 
- Mark Green – Director of Finance and Business Improvement, Maidstone Borough Council 
- Emily McGuinness – LGA Peer Challenge Manager 

 
3.2 Scope and focus 
 
The peer team considered the following five questions which form the core components looked 
at by all Corporate Peer Challenges cover.  These are the areas we believe are critical to 
councils’ performance and improvement:   
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting: does the council understand its 
local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and set of priorities? 
 

2. Leadership of Place: does the council provide effective leadership of place through its 
elected members, officers and constructive relationships and partnerships with external 
stakeholders? 
 

3. Organisational leadership and governance: are there effective political and managerial 
leadership supported by good governance and decision-making arrangements that 
respond to key challenges and enable change and transformation to be implemented? 
 

4. Financial planning and viability: does the council have a financial plan in place to ensure 
long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented successfully? 
 

5. Capacity to deliver: is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does the council 
influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed outcomes? 

 
In addition to these questions, you asked the peer team to consider the following questions: 
 

- Are we set up organisationally to successfully deliver our growth plans and ambitions? 
- In more general terms, do we have the ability and capacity to deliver the new Council 

Plan, particularly around our new priorities? 

 
3.3 The peer challenge process 
 
It is important to stress that this was not an inspection.  Peer challenges are improvement focussed 
and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs.  They are designed to complement and add value 

134

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

4 

to a council’s own performance and improvement.  The process is not designed to provide an in-
depth or technical assessment of plans and proposals.  The peer team used their experience and 
knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, 
things they saw and material that they read.  
 
The peer team prepared for the peer challenge by reviewing a range of documents and 
information in order to ensure they were familiar with the Council and the challenges it is facing.  
The team then spent 4 days onsite at TBC during which they: 
 

- Spoke to more than 120 people including a range of council staff together with 
councillors and external partners and stakeholders. 

- Gathered information and views from more than 40 meetings and additional research 
and reading. 

- Collectively spent more than 220 hours to determine their findings – the equivalent of 
one person spending more than 5 weeks in the council. 

 
This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings.  It builds on the feedback 
presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their on-site visit (3-6 March 2020).  In 
presenting feedback to you, they have done so as fellow local government officers and 
members, not professional consultants or inspectors.  By its nature, the peer challenge is a 
snapshot in time.  We appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you are 
already addressing and progressing 
 

4. Feedback  
 
4.1 Understanding of the local place and priority setting  
 

The TBC Plan, adopted in January 2020 and running until 2024, provides a sound blueprint 
for the future delivery of services within the borough as well as reaffirming a longstanding 
commitment to driving an ambitious growth agenda.  

 
The council is rightly seen as a ‘market leader’ in identifying and more importantly, leading 
the delivery of local growth – something which is evidenced by the two Garden Community 
initiatives planned for the borough. This proactive approach is welcomed across the piece 
and the strong working relationships with partners from all sectors is testament to this. The 
council clearly has a strong sense of place, and its role within it – especially when it comes 
to leading successful growth plans. 

 
The Council plan is a sound basis upon which to build and shape how the council supports 
its communities and stakeholders going forward, but there is more that could be done to 
ensure greater ownership of the plan and its priorities both within the council and externally 
with partners. The plan sets out the council priorities of: 

 
- Finance and Resources 
- Economic Growth 
- Housing 
- Customer First. 
- Garden Communities 
- Sustainable Environment 

 
The partners and staff we met with were clear about the council’s commitment to making 
Tewkesbury the place of choice for business and the accompanying aims of delivering 
employment land and housing, together with the right infrastructure and skills. There is less 

135

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

5 

clarity around the other new priority areas – understandably given their relatively recent 
adoption.  

 
There is a lack of clarity around how data is used to determine priority areas and if the 
council wishes to see parity across the four priority areas in terms of successful delivery, a 
clearer narrative would be helpful, explaining the rationale behind each priority area. 
Similarly, whilst it is encouraging to note the council makes effective use of benchmarking 
data such as CIPFA and LGInform in some areas of performance management, there is 
more that could be done to underpin more robust service planning in terms of gathering, 
analysing and using customer insight to inform prioritisation discussions and decisions. 

 
The need for a more consistent approach to using customer insight is perhaps most relevant 
when considering the Customer First Council Plan Priority and improvements in this area will 
help inform the emerging Digitalisation and Transformation Programmes, ensuring that the 
needs of customers are clearly understood and services reshaped or redesigned 
accordingly. 

 
The council clearly understands and is well embedded in the local business community and 
became one of the first district councils to work with the Local Enterprise Partnership to 
establish a Growth Hub on the site of the council offices. This is an excellent initiative and 
within the first year of operation over 1000 local businesses have interacted with the Hub 
with some impressive examples of supporting new business that have gone on to grow their 
business within the borough. Stakeholders from the business community hold the council in 
high regard, and they have a well-earned reputation of delivering results. 

 
The co-location of other key public sector partners such as Gloucestershire Police, 
Department for Work and Pensions, Citizens Advice Bureau and Children’s Services in the 
Public Services Centre demonstrates the council’s commitment to not only making the best 
use of its assets, but also seeking to provide the most ‘joined up’ end-to-end service for 
some of their most vulnerable customers and residents.  

 
The council’s plans to meaningfully respond to the Climate Change Emergency declared by 
members needs further detail and articulation. There are active campaign groups within the 
community, and indeed amongst elected members and how the council will meet climate-
related targets alongside ambitious growth plans will be a considerable challenge, helped by 
the imminent appointment of a County-wide Climate Change co-ordinator. 

 
4.2 Leadership of Place 
 

Being identified as the ‘Fastest growing district outside of London’ in an ONS report in 2019 
is a strapline that TBC is rightly proud of, and this has been achieved through a proactive 
approach to leadership of place, led from the front by the CEO but supported across the 
council. Officers and members have a visible and commendable passion for the district 
which is appreciated by partners and translates well within the partnership arena. 

 
The council clearly has a good understanding of place and a strong presence within it - 
particularly in relation to growth. The adopted Joint Core Strategy, working in partnership 
with Gloucester City and Cheltenham Borough Councils is an impressive and challenging 
framework for sustainable growth which seeks to deliver: 

- 35,000 homes by 2031 – half will be built within Tewkesbury Borough 
- 50% increase in housing to 2031 
- 200 hectares of employment land – 75% of which will be in Tewkesbury Borough 
- 40,000 new jobs. 

 

136

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

6 

Such stretching targets cannot be delivered in isolation, and the council have forged highly 
effective working relationships with key local, sub-regional, regional and national partners, 
resulting in tangible outcomes such as delivering 25% extra homes over a 3 year period. 

 
The council is well placed to exploit the opportunities presented by City Region proposals, 
where they will be fulfilling the Senior Responsible Officer role, along with the Midlands 
Connecting Corridor plans. Their positioning in these key regional programmes is testament 
to the personal, and therefore, organisational credibility of the CEO. In order to de-risk any 
strategic reliance on any one individual, some thought could be given to succession 
planning in this area. Ensuring sufficient and sustainable senior leadership capacity in these 
areas will be crucial to continuing success. 

 
Small and medium businesses value the communication and advice channels that exist with 
TBC with the Growth Hub cited as excellent innovation. Building on the knowledge and 
expertise developed through the Growth Hub, the council may wish to consider slightly 
redefining its support for local business growth – moving more towards an enabling role 
rather than delivery. This will help manage resource requirements whilst wishing to maintain 
a strong economic development focus. 

 
The council is able to work well across geographical and sector boundaries and this enables 
them to exert a level of influence disproportionate to the size of the organisation. 
Opportunities exist to broaden and strengthen these partnership arrangements - we heard 
from key partners that approaches to enhance partnership working would be well received 
and that the council would be ‘pushing on an open door’. Capitalising on the credibility of 
leading officers and members will help build capacity to deliver mutually beneficial ambitions 
within the borough, for example through more integrated working with Parish Councils. 

 
Work to deliver the Town Centre Strategy, and in particular issues around parking, 
demonstrated that the working relationship between the County Council and the District 
Council is not always aligned – this relationship is crucial to the delivery of major projects 
e.g. Garden Communities and it is important that effective communication is maintained. 

 
Nearly half of members were newly elected in May 2019, and bring with them a wealth of 
new skills, knowledge and experiences. Whilst members have the opportunity to engage in 
key policy areas through Scrutiny and the cross-party Cabinet, there is huge potential for all 
members to further develop their leadership roles. We mention elsewhere in this report the 
need for TBC to seek greater customer insight to inform key future decisions about service 
delivery and design, and elected members can play a useful role in this as conduits between 
their communities and the council. The Garden Communities projects will need careful 
community liaison and elected members are perfectly placed to support this and should be 
proactively engaged at the earliest opportunity. 

 
External communication from TBC can be reactive and this will not serve the council well as 
high profile projects such as the Garden Communities move to the delivery phase. When 
press briefings have been held in the past, they have been well received as have website 
updates, press releases etc. The council has a small communications team – with only one 
dedicated officer who also edits the twice-yearly magazine posted to every household and 
leads on internal communications. A more proactive approach to external comms and 
branding of place would be valued by residents and businesses alike.  

 
Given the pace of change at TBC - particularly large projects such as the Garden Town 
Communities and The Joint Core Strategy, there is a need for a more proactive external 
communication in the near future. Addressing this will require additional, specialist capacity 

137

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

7 

and expertise, but will prove invaluable as the council seeks community engagement in, and 
support of major growth plans. 

 
In times of crisis, most notably significant flooding events, TBC is able to show visible and 
effective leadership of place, and the same is true in terms leading on the growth agenda. In 
order to fulfil the ambitions of the Council Plan, similar levels of leadership and energy will 
need to be shown in other priority areas such as Garden Communities and Sustainable 
Environment. 

 
4.3 Organisational leadership and governance 
 

TBC benefits from the highly effective personal leadership of its CEO who is unanimously 
well-regarded and respected both within the council and amongst partners and 
stakeholders. The supportive leadership style he models is valued by staff at all levels. We 
heard of numerous hard-won projects and relationships that are of significant benefit to the 
council and can be directly attributed to the CEO, for which he is to be commended. The 
Council, in appointing a Deputy CEO, is already taking steps to ensure these impressive 
gains are not risked in the future by being too dependent on any one individual. The council 
could be more cognisant of this risk moving forward, especially as many high-profile projects 
will depend on a consistent approach from the council in the medium to longer term, and 
ensure that clarity exists around succession planning at a senior level. 

 
The current senior management structure works well at the CLT level, which consists of the 
CEO, Deputy CEO and Monitoring Officer and we heard that other officers, including the 
s151 are involved when considered appropriate. This provides a good forum to establish 
Leadership level thinking and a collective position on important issues.  

 
However, there is some confusion amongst both the next tier of management and the wider 
organisation about the roles, responsibilities and functions of the CLT and how it interacts 
with the Management Team – a much larger forum consisting of all Heads of Service along 
with CLT. Whilst the view from CLT is that the majority of key decisions are taken 
collectively at Management Team level, some greater clarity on the respective roles of each 
group would enhance transparency and confirm confidence that all key officers (especially 
those responsible for finance and planning) are appropriately involved in decision making. 

 
Staff hold the authority in high regard as an employer – citing the benefits of the successful 
apprenticeship scheme, the numerous opportunities for personal and professional 
development and excellent working relationships amongst other examples. This investment 
in staff translates into an impressively enthusiastic and committed workforce. Transformation 
Plans, including the Workforce Development Strategy are at an early stage, as is the Digital 
Strategy, and whilst staff can see the rationale for needing to adapt the organisation to meet 
new and emerging challenges, those leading the process will need to ensure staff are fully 
engaged in shaping thinking at the earliest opportunity, creating a sense of ownership. 
There are enviable levels of good will amongst staff and it is vital these are maintained if 
organisational change and development are to be meaningful and sustainable. 

 
Middle (Operational) Managers, as a cohort, are well engaged and have considerable 
development potential – and are keen to develop within and for the benefit of the council. 
However, they are under a lot of pressure and are at risk of becoming the “squeezed 
middle.” They can suffer from a lack of clear direction around prioritising competing 
demands, for example. All the staff we spoke to appreciate and support the council’s 
commitment to growth, but some also felt that there can sometimes be a conflict between 
the ‘nice to have’ ambitions and the ‘need to maintain’ core services. The mutually beneficial 
relationship between income generation and the ability to continue to deliver services valued 

138

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

8 

by the community is well understood, but a better articulated rationale for project 
prioritisation is needed. 

 
Elected members from all parties are positive about governance and decision-making 
processes, citing a particularly good approach to consensus building and collaborative 
decision making – the inclusion of an opposition member on the Executive Committee is 
testament to this. Through the Democratic Services Team, members are well supported and 
have an innovative member development programme that meets the needs of councillors 
now as well as looking at succession planning. There is an impressive Member Induction 
Process which was well regarded by all members and seen as setting the tone for positive 
member/officer relations and good working relationships. 

 
Overview and Scrutiny has improved following changes made over the past 2-3 years; 
members and officers have more clarity on the role and purpose of the function and there 
seems to be appropriate levels of challenge in many cases. Opportunities exist to 
strengthen the role of Scrutiny in pre-decision and policy development work, thus creating 
greater capacity and eventually ownership of ultimate decisions – this will be particularly 
important should the council adopt the recommendations of this report and look to prioritise 
projects and activities in the future. 

 
There is more that could be done to meet the needs of those members newly elected to the 
Council in May 2019, many of whom have work and/or family commitments which mean 
they find the current timing of meetings difficult to manage. Greater use of technology could 
promote virtual engagement outside of formal meetings and thus make better use of the 
skills and expertise of all members. Similarly, some new members of the council find formal 
committee reports inaccessible and reviewing how key information is presented to them, 
and the communities they serve, would be beneficial and further enhance engagement. 

 
4.4 Financial planning and viability 
 

The council benefits from an experienced and technically strong finance team supporting 
them as they address a potentially significant budget shortfall, resulting in members and 
officers being confident that the financial position is being well managed. However, the base 
revenue position continues to rely on NHB to a concerning degree.  There is a likelihood that 
New Homes Bonus will either be significantly reduced/restructured or not be available 
beyond the short term. This poses a strategic risk to the future financial stability of the 
council. More detailed scenario planning involving members and officers would give greater 
visibility on various ‘what if’ scenarios and their impact. This will help the council manage 
this risk and inform wider prioritisation conversations within the council. Low Council Tax is 
an inherent handicap from a financial viability viewpoint, but to some extent this is now 
irretrievable (due to ‘capping’ restrictions) and other more innovative options will need to be 
played into the scenario planning work. 

 
The Transform Work Group have proved a useful and successful forum for discussing 
savings ideas to date, although targets remain challenging e.g. £400K waste and recycling, 
£265K commercialisation, £500k other efficiencies. Continued, and perhaps widened, use of 
this group would support greater organisational input into defining future plans and in doing 
so, ensure the financial landscape is understood by all members and officers. 

 
Even though the council is currently reporting a favourable variance from the 19/20 budget, 
latest revenue projections from Pixel are more pessimistic than those in the MTFS and the 
council should assure itself that it is adequately sighted on the risk judgements being made. 

 

139

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

9 

Reserves have increased over past few years from a very low level and this is further 
evidence of sound financial planning and management. The successful approach to building 
levels of reserves should be documented in a formal, member approved Reserves Strategy 
to enhance financial monitoring and oversight. 

 
The council has amassed a significant commercial portfolio from a small legacy investment 
and is now a major contributor to the revenue budget generating a net return of around 
£2.8m per annum. The council plans for further investment, continuing to use their ‘risk 
versus return’ decision making process. Due to a lack of investment opportunity within the 
borough, the council has made large investments across the country which could potentially 
expose them to greater risk, especially should the economic forecast shift in the future. More 
needs to be done to ensure there is greater organisational awareness and understanding of 
the risks of potential changes to the Commercial Investment Regulatory Framework to 
protect the interests of the council. 

 
The Garden Town Programme represents major investment in and by the borough council, 
but successful delivery is dependent on Homes England funding of around £8.1 million and 
this is a risk to the council. Enhanced planning around alternative options – and likely impact 
– should these funds not materialise in part or in full would enhance financial and risk 
management. 

 
4.5 Garden Town 

 
TBC has taken a bold grasp of the opportunity to seek Garden Town Status for delivery of 
major projects in Ashchurch in Tewkesbury and in partnership with Cheltenham Borough 
Council on the Cyber Park development. These Garden Communities provide the 
opportunity for the council to deliver on its aims to deliver sustainable, well designed and 
vibrant communities. 

 
These projects are complex and require effective stakeholder management from the outset. 
Tewkesbury Borough Council has made good progress to date in establishing an effective 
member reference group. The focus now needs to shift to the next phase and defining the 
projects in the wider community and sub-region. To be successful, the projects will need to 
demonstrate they are rooted in the community and that going forward, plans are co-owned 
and co-designed. In order to achieve this more effective multi-governance structures will 
need to be developed – the existing work has had limited exposure to other key players and 
this needs to be addressed before undertaking further work. 

 
The Council needs now needs to consider how to structure and resource the various 
governance and delivery requirements such as: 

 
- stakeholder panels,  
- Parish Council engagement  
- community groups 
- strategic delivery partners,  
- infrastructure groups,  
- landowner forums. 

 
Outside the capacity-funded programme team, it is unclear if wider organisational capacity 
requirements are fully appreciated, and therefore adequately addressed. These major 
projects will require specialist communication and engagement support alongside the likely 
impact on support services such as Legal and Finance teams. When taken alongside wider 
organisational capacity concerns, and the need to prioritise both current and planned work, 

140

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

10 

the council would benefit from taking time to map in more detail the likely resource 
implications of the Garden Towns across their projected delivery timescales. 

 
4.6 Capacity to deliver 

 
The council benefits from a hardworking and committed workforce which is ready to respond 
to the challenges ahead and to deliver the priorities of the new council plan.  Staff are 
dedicated, forward looking and open to change – they represent an asset to the organisation 
and should continue to be nurtured and engaged in taking TBC forward.  

 
The ‘can do’ attitude of staff is an enviable strength, but with the strategic and operational 
demands increasing as the new council plan comes online, along with the emerging work to 
support the Garden Town plans, there is a risk this willingness to help could lead to staff 
being over committed and this strength becoming a weakness.  

 
There is a strong organisational focus on developing and retaining staff which has created a 
dedicated and loyal workforce. The Apprenticeship Scheme is particularly well-regarded and 
is a commendable reflection of the supportive workplace culture that is evident at TBC – the 
team heard some heart-warming stories from members of staff about the support and 
guidance they had received from all levels of the organisation as they developed in a series 
of roles. Staff recognise and value this investment in them, as reflected in the very positive 
2018 staff survey responses, and this will stand the authority in good stead as it embraces 
future challenges. 

 
There is a lack of clarity around priority work areas and projects, which impacts on 
organisational capacity to deliver. We heard numerous staff state that ‘everything is a 
priority’ and this, combined with a genuine desire to support the organisation, runs the risk of 
overloading staff and an inevitable drop in capacity. The extent, and process by which 
actions are prioritised is unclear and understanding is varied across the organisation. Some 
dedicated time spent prioritising the aims and ambitions of the Council Plan alongside 
available resources would go a long way to ensuring a committed, talented and capable 
workforce are deployed to maximum benefit and effect.  

 
In the Corporate Project Management framework and process, the council already has a 
potentially effective means through which to manage change and demand. This process 
could be used to assess all projects and activities against the Corporate Priorities but there 
is a need for more organisational rigour and discipline to ensure a consistent approach 
across the whole organisation -  it is vital that there is a focus on identifying and tracking 
benefits realisation, prioritising and even saying ‘no’ where resources do not permit. 

 
There are recruitment concerns in key professional areas such as planning and legal 
services. Recent recruitment drives have had disappointing results, and although issues in 
these fields is not uncommon in the sector, when looking at the future significant growth 
plans for the borough, some more innovative thinking may be required to build capacity in 
these areas. The council benefits from the shared knowledge and capacity generated by the 
shared legal partnership although the partnership is now having to turn away work due to a 
lack of capacity. A review of pay banding may be one option to ensure the council is 
adequately and appropriately resourced to deliver ambitious growth plans. 

 
The council has embraced alternative means of service delivery such as the local authority 
owned teckal company, Ubico Ltd, which operates the council’s waste, recycling, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance contract and the One Legal shared services 
partnership. Given the positive relationships that exist across the sector and region, there is 
potential for the council to explore more commissioning opportunities, building on 

141

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

11 

organisational knowledge and expertise in this area to ensure the council is always an 
effective client. 

 
There are a suite of updated policies and strategies (Workforce development, ICT, Digital 
and Transformation) that will provide important cornerstones for organisational 
Transformation Plans, as will the creation of the new Corporate Business Transformation 
Team. Members of this team are positive about the potential of their role in helping the 
council deliver efficiency savings through greater digitalisation. In order for the programme 
to be truly transformational, the team may benefit from spending time establishing clear 
baseline metrics and targets so that statements such as ‘meeting our customer needs’ can 
be better quantified and measured e.g. what are the needs of customers, to what extent are 
we currently meeting them and where are the gaps? A comprehensive and regular 
resident’s survey could be an effective way of achieving this, and if the questions 
recommended via LGInform are used, the council will have ready access to comparative 
data in order to monitor performance. The work the council carried out in November 2019 
through a snapshot survey and use of the Citizens Panel should prove useful foundations 
for this. 

 
The Transformation Programme is well embedded in the organisation and has successfully 
delivered innovation and financial savings since its inception in 2014, however, taking into 
account the points made above about priority-setting and better management of staff 
resources, skills and knowledge, greater clarity around what success will look like – beyond 
digital enhancements – will give the programme greater longevity and sustainability. It will 
also ensure that the programme can be robustly managed, with benefits-realisation being 
key to delivering the efficiencies required to meet future budget requirements, or to free up 
resources to redeploy into other priority areas of work. 

 

5. Next steps  

 
5.1 Immediate next steps  

 
We appreciate the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on these 
findings and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to take things 
forward.  
 
As part of the peer challenge process, there is an offer of further activity to support this. The 
LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on several areas for 
development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this. Paul Clarke Principal 
Adviser is the main contact between your authority and the Local Government Association 
(LGA). His contact details are: paul.clarke@local.gov.uk 
 
In the meantime we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with the Council 
throughout the peer challenge.  We will endeavour to provide signposting to examples of 
practice and further information and guidance about the issues we have raised in this report to 
help inform ongoing consideration.  
 
5.2 Follow up visit  
 
The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow up visit. The purpose of the visit 
is to help the council assess the impact of the peer challenge and demonstrate the progress it 
has made against the areas of improvement and development identified by the peer team. It is a 
lighter-touch version of the original visit and does not necessarily involve all members of the 

142

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:andy.bates@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

12 

original peer team. The timing of the visit is determined by the council.  Our expectation is that it 
will occur within the next 2 years.  
 
5.3. Next Corporate Peer Challenge 
 
The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all councils 
will have a Corporate Peer Challenge or Finance Peer Review every 4 to 5 years.  It is therefore 
anticipated that the council will commission their next Peer Challenge before 2024.   
 
 

143

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

1 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

KR1. 
 
(page 2, 
recommendation 1) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

(page 8, para 5) 

 

 

 

(page 9, para 3) 

 

Build upon your effective and 
well-embedded budget 
planning arrangements into the 
future by ensuring that you: -  
 
- Take appropriate steps to 

minimise reliance on New 
Homes Bonus (NHB) as a 
means of sustaining the 
base revenue 
requirements of the 
organisation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The MTFS recognises the likely 
withdrawal of NHB from the next 
financial year.  
 
Information is currently being 
gathered to allow Transform 
Working Group to understand 
the scale of the deficit that this 
will cause and the choices that 
will need to be made between 
services and council priorities, if 
the full effects of the withdrawal 
are felt. Recommendations from 
the working group will be made 
to the appropriate decision 
making body.  
 
Detailed scenario planning 
regarding the regulatory 
framework is not possible at the 
current time and our central 
understanding of the position will 
be fed into financial planning 
until the position is either clear or 
resources are free to undertake 
scenario analysis. 
 
 

Head of Finance 
and Asset 
Management  

 
 
 
 
 
 
December 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 - There are a number of individual 
action points which are all being con-
sidered within financial planning as-
sumptions.  

New Homes Bonus has been phased 
out of the Council’s MTFS as per the 
latest Government financial settle-
ment. Although a replacement 
scheme is likely, no final decision has 
been made by Government and 
therefore nothing for housing reward 
is included in the MTFS. The Council 
will need to budget for the shortfall in 
housing reward in the coming years 
and this will be highlighted within the 
MTFS once the net position is known. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

144



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

2 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

- Prepare for possible 
changes to commercial 
investment regulatory 
framework through 
detailed scenario planning. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(incl. continued and possible 
widened use of Transform 
Working Group would support 
greater organisational input 
into defining future plans and 
in doing so, ensure the 
financial landscape is 
understood by all members 
and officers). And; 
 
 
 
The Garden Town Programme 
represents major investment in 
and by the borough council, 
but successful delivery is 
dependent on Homes England 
funding of around £8.1 million 
and this is a risk to the council. 
Enhanced planning around 
alternative options – and likely 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TWG will be used to review the 
gap between cost and resource 
and make recommendations on 
the changes necessary to ensure 
the council remains financially 
sustainable. 
In addition, the MTFS will 
become a biannual exercise to 
increase member understanding 
and awareness of the financial 
challenges facing the Council. 
 
The council is dependent on the 
funding being secured in order to 
deliver the bridge. Given the 
MTFS deficit, it is not possible to 
add to this to in order to self fund 
the bridge. All resources will be 
focussed on ensuring the funding 
is available and drawn down. It is 

 
Complete  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
December 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 

No further commercial property pur-
chases are planned and we are now 
in a phase of managing the existing 
portfolio. The council will be comply-
ing with the regulatory framework 
around borrowing for commercial in-
vestment. 

 

 

Opportunities for briefing TWG on 
emerging issues which will have a 
transformative or financial impact as 
well as a service delivery impact will 
be considered. Future agendas could 
include details around the Environ-
ment and the Planning Bills and their 
impact on the organisation.  

 

Agreements are in place with Homes 
England for the delivery of the bridge 
and quarterly draw downs of funding 
are taking place. 

 

145



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

3 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

impact – should these funds 
not materialise in part or in full 
would enhance financial and 
risk. 
 

expected that a first draw could 
take place by December 2020. 

 

 

KR2. 
 
(page 2, 
recommendation 2) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(page 6, para 2) 
 

Create the necessary senior 
leadership resilience, focus on 
prioritisation and overall 
resource requirements within 
the organisation going forward 
so that so that the council is on 
as sound a footing as possible 
to continue to meet the 
challenges facing the sector. 
As part of this: -  
 
- Clarify roles and 

responsibilities of 
Corporate Leadership 
Team (CLT) and 
Management Team in 
order, ensuring that 
opportunities for senior 
officers to contribute and 
influence are well 
understood;  

- Build on partnership and 
shared service delivery 
strengths to cement your 
‘place leadership’ role and 
from this explore further 
opportunities as to how 
these arrangements will 

This recommendation was pre-
covid and therefore the financial 
and resource challenge is more 
significant than at the time of the 
LGA report and even then there 
was a large degree of 
uncertainty in relation to Local 
Government finances. Actions 
currently being undertaken 
around prioritisation and 
resources with regards to the 
current challenge (if and when 
the council is the other side of 
Covid then further prioritisation, 
resource and senior leadership 
resilience will need to be looked 
at)  include: 
 
- Heads of Service prioritising 

their work streams to identify 
what could be deferred 
including project related 
work. 

- Update on capacity list to 
identify any potential spare 
capacity 

Corporate 
Management 
Team 

March 2021 
 
March 2022 

 
In the short term and in response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic a review of 
key actions within the council plan 
has been undertaken and where 
necessary actions have been 
deferred. In addition, a number of 
actions have been refocused as part 
of the corporate Covid-19 recovery 
plan.  
 
Where pressure points have arisen as 
result of responding to Covid-19 
additional resources have been 
deployed to those areas.  
 
As a result of the Deputy Chief 
Executive (DCE) leaving the council 
this has provided the opportunity to 
clarify the roles and responsibilities of 
CLT and management team. In 
addition, management team members 
have successfully taken on the 
responsibilities of the vacant DCE 
post. This will be subject to a further 
report to Council in June as it was 

146



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

4 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

help build capacity (see 
also page 10)  

- Build on existing corporate 
project evaluation 
mechanisms to develop a 
clear process for 
prioritisation and changing 
resource requirements 
(‘prioritise the priorities – 
see page 10) 

 
(incl. thought be given to 
succession planning to fulfil 
the council’s leadership 
responsibilities re: city region, 
midlands connecting corridor) 
 

- Recovery fund has been 
approved that could be used 
for additional resources. 

- Clarity of roles and 
responsibilities will be re-
affirmed as part of the 
interim arrangements to 
cover the Deputy CEO role.  

agreed arrangements would be 
reviewed after six months.  
 
Once the council is well on its 
recovery journey then the medium 
term aspects of the recommendation 
can be considered, for example 
senior leadership resilience, 
partnerships, ‘prioritising the priorities’  

KR3. 
(page 2, 
recommendation 3) 
 
(page 6, para 7) 

Consider ways and 
approaches to promote the 
‘Tewkesbury Brand’ more 
effectively as part of your 
successful leadership of place 
approach. 
 
 
(incl. more proactive approach 
to external comms) 

Branding, particularly around the 
Garden Town project will be 
considered moving forward.  
 
An additional communication’s 
officer has been recruited to give 
additional resilience to corporate 
communications.  

Head of 
Development/G
arden Town 
Programme 
Director/Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

Spring 2021 
 
December 2021 

 
Tewkesbury Garden Town have 
branding as part of the thinking place 
commission which is complete. (This 
is different to the Tewkesbury 
branding).  
 
The TGT team are now considering 
further support to agree a complete 
marketing/comms programme.to 
proactively promote the benefits of 
the garden town.  

147



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

5 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

KR4. 
 
(page 2, 
recommendation 4) 
 
(page 6, para 6) 
 
 
 
(page 9, para 7) 

Agree how you can proactively 
move the Garden Town 
delivery programme to the next 
phase by establishing/ 
developing stakeholder 
governance and engagement 
structures and processes. 
 
(incl. community liaison and 
engaging with members at the 
earliest opportunity) and; 
 
(the council would benefit from 
taking time to map in more 
detail the likely organisational 
resource implications of the 
Garden Towns across their 
projected delivery timescales) 

TGT team are working with 
ARUP to develop the govern-
ance and are working to estab-
lish governance structures for 
the program. 
  
The TGT team meet regularly 
with Northway and ARPC and 
Member Reference Panel to en-
gage them with the work being 
carried out and this will be con-
tinued. A terms of reference are 
being created to support the 
group. There will also be full 
member briefings to ensure all 
members are kept up to date 
with relevant work. 
  
  
The TGT are currently recruiting 
a Place Manage which will focus 
on developing the “place” aspect 
of the Garden Town. Along with 
discussions with finance regard-
ing for funding for wider Garden 
Town support. 
 

Garden Town 
Programme 
Director 

Spring 2021 
  
  
  
  
  
 Spring 2021 
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
Spring 2021 
 

Complete 
 
A governance structure has been 
agreed by Council and is now being 
implemented. his updated govern-
ance structure includes a member liai-
son group and distinct engagement 
with community and business. (Busi-
ness and community panel). Resourc-
ing is under review as funding be-
comes available. 

148



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

6 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

KR5. 
 
(page 2, 
recommendation 5) 
 
 
 
(page 8, para 3) 
 

Building upon your existing 
sound governance 
arrangements review both: -  
- the timings of key 

meetings so that all 
members can contribute 
effectively  

- the length/ style of 
member reports so they 
more effectively inform and 
enable better decision 
making. 

 
(incl. greater use of technology 
to promote virtual 
engagement.) 

The Council determines the 
Schedule of Meetings, including 
the time those meetings 
commence. Individual 
Committees are always free to 
review and revise start times and 
any changes are made in 
consultation with the Chair and 
Lead Member as appropriate. 
Similarly, Working Groups, Ad-
Hoc meetings, seminars etc. are 
set in consultation with the 
appropriate Lead Member and 
take place at a variety of times in 
the morning, afternoon and 
evening to cater for all Members.  

Head of 
Democratic 
Services  

Current practice, 
no change is 
anticipated.  

Not applicable.  

A review of the report format is in 
the Democratic Services Work 
Programme but due to other 
commitments it is not anticipated 
that this will be complete until the 
end of next year. 

March 2022.  Not yet commenced.  

All the Council’s meetings are 
currently held virtually and the 
use of new technology has been 
embraced by Members. 
 
 

Current Practice.  
 
December 2021 

  
Members have embraced the use of 
technology and have successfully 
participated in 90+ virtual commit-
tee/council/working groups during 
2020/21. There is also an appetite 
amongst a number of Members to 
continue using this technology for less 

149



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

7 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

formal meetings such as lead mem-
ber briefings.  

As we move back to meetings in per-
son consideration is being given to 
webcasting meetings. Currently legis-
lation does not allow for the continu-
ance of remote, including hybrid, 
meetings.   

 
6.  
 
(page 6, para 3) 
 

Building on the knowledge and 
expertise developed through 
the Growth Hub, the council 
may wish to consider slightly 
redefining its support for local 
business growth – moving 
more towards an enabling role 
rather than delivery. This will 
help manage resource 
requirements whilst wishing to 
maintain a strong economic 
development focus. 
 

Consideration will be given to the 
recommendation. This needs to 
be balanced with the contractual 
obligation the council has with 
the Local Enterprise Partnership 
regards to the running of the 
Growth Hub. This will be looked 
at as part of the development of 
the new Economic Development 
and Tourism Strategy.  

Head of 
Development 

Jun 2021 
 
June 2022 

Deferred. 
 
This recommendation has been im-
pacted by Covid-19. The Growth Hub 
Team have been working virtually 
since March 2020 to support the busi-
ness community who have been im-
pacted significantly by the pandemic. 
As reported to O&S committee in No-
vember, the current strategy will now 
run until 2022. A new strategy will 
start to be developed later this year.  
 

7. 
 
(page 8, para 2) 
 

Opportunities exist to 
strengthen the role of Scrutiny 
in pre-decision and policy 
development work  
 

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee receives the 
Executive Committee Forward 
Plan at each of its meetings and 
has been particularly keen to 
ensure the document is well 
populated. The Committee also 
considers its own Work 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services/Head 
of Democratic 
Services  

March 2021 
 
December 2021 

Deferred. 
 
It is anticipated that as meetings start 
to return to normal a session will take 
place before the end of the year (Dec 
2021) which will include identification 
of any further development needs that 
the Committee would find helpful. 

150



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

8 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

Programme at each meeting and 
conducts an annual review of 
policies to ascertain whether 
they require review and what, if 
any, the Committee’s role is in 
that review. Progress on projects 
are reviewed as part of the 
performance tracker and any 
requiring further scrutiny are 
highlighted by Members for 
further work to be undertaken. 
The Council and the Executive 
Committee also refer matters 
directly to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for further 
work to be undertaken. A 
session  with the committee will 
be held to obtain their views on 
how to maximise the value of 
O&S.  

 
During the course of the year the 
committee have received reports on 
new or updated policies and 
strategies such as corporate 
enforcement policy, customer care 
strategy, complaints policy.  

8. 
 
(page 10, para 6) 
 

Look at innovative recruitment 
initiatives, particularly around 
Planning and One Legal 
services  

We are in the process of 
procuring and installing a new 
system for recruitment which will 
make our ‘front-face’ much more 
attractive and modern to 
prospective applicants. This 
should be in place by Spring 
2021. Also more broadly we are 
building a ‘total rewards’ offer to 
sell the considerable benefits of 
working for our Council.  
 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services/Head 
of 
Development/Bo
rough Solicitor 

Spring 2021 
 
September 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
This work is well underway with a 
‘go’live’ date of the end of June 2021. 
A new microsite for recruitment is 
being designed to showcase our 
council as a great place to work. An 
end-to-end recruitment system has 
been purchased to modernise and 
make more effective our recruitment 
process.  
 

151



Corporate Peer Challenge 2020- recommendation action plan 
  Appendix 2 

9 
 

Recommendation 
number  
 
KR = key 
recommendation  

Details of recommendation  Action to be taken  Responsible 
Officer  

Implementation 
Date  

Progress to date 

We will be joining new national 
initiatives to recruit those who 
previously were employed in 
Legal, Planning, and ICT, but 
have taken time out (to look after 
children for example).   

 
November 2020 

In respect of ‘total rewards’, the Agile 
Working policy has been completed 
and will be highlighted alongside 
training and development 
opportunities on the new recruitment 
microsite. Plans for salary sacrifice 
initiatives such as cars and bikes 
have been delayed by Covid – these 
have been included within the service 
plan for this year. 
 
The council has registered for these 
returners initiatives and 
communicated to candidates via the 
portal regarding opportunities. 
However, to date this has been of 
limited value as many of those who 
have registered are London-based. 

9. 
 
(page 11, para 1) 

Consider the undertaking of a 
comprehensive and regular 
resident’s survey. 
 

By the end of the financial year 
the Corporate Services Team will 
consider the options and engage 
Member’s appropriately. This 
could include: 
- the undertaking internally of 

a snapshot survey (using 
Borough News and online) 

- commissioning externally a 
statistically weighted 
snapshot survey 

- an ongoing survey through 
the website and hardcopy 
forms.   

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

March 2021 
 
January 2022 
 

 The favoured option is to com-
mission a statistically weighted snap-
shot survey and centre the questions 
around a good practice framework ad-
vocated by the LGA. It is not pro-
posed to undertake the survey until 
the autumn. An earmarked reserve 
has been requested to fund the sur-
vey.  

  

 

152



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting: 8 June 2021

Subject: Private Rented Sector Housing Scheme

Report of: Interim Housing Services Manager

Corporate Lead: Head of Community Services

Lead Member: Lead Member for Housing

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary: 
The Private Rented Sector (PRS) Housing Scheme has now closed with just over £290,000 
funding from Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) used to 
support 234 households into PRS accommodation across Gloucestershire and West 
Oxfordshire districts.  
The report found at Appendix 1 provides some background to the scheme, details of actions 
completed and some learning points to inform future work in this area.

Recommendation:
To NOTE the achievements of the scheme and that it has now closed.

Reasons for Recommendation:
To provide Councillors with feedback on the success of the scheme. 

Resource Implications:
Tewkesbury Borough Council will continue to use its allocation of MHCLG homeless prevention 
funding to support prospective tenants into the private rented sector and to maintain their 
tenancies wherever possible.

Legal Implications:
None arising directly as a result of this report.

Risk Management Implications:
None arising directly as a result of this report.

Performance Management Follow-up:
None arising directly as a result of this report.

Environmental Implications: 
None arising directly as a result of this report.

153

Agenda Item 11



1.0 INTRODUCTION / BACKGROUND

1.1 The Private Rented Sector Access Fund was launched on World Homeless Day (10 
October 2018) by Communities Secretary, Rt Hon James Brokenshire MP.  It was a one-
off bidding opportunity through competition with a bidding process close date of                           
21 November 2018.  

1.2 In March 2019, MHCLG confirmed that the proposed pilot project met the bid criteria and 
complemented the existing partnership activities for homelessness across the County 
and those which will be undertaken through the current new funding streams.  They 
notified the bid had been successful and had been awarded £363,408 – for an initial 12-
month pilot project.  Following initial delays this was reduced to £292,333. 

1.2 The principal objective of the fund was to support innovative measures that provide 
additional support for single homeless people and/or reduce the numbers of households 
in temporary accommodation.  This scheme identified the Private Rented Sector as an 
area that could help meet these objectives.  Tewkesbury Borough Council developed this 
initiative to deliver incentives to landlords and provide support to both landlords and 
tenants to ensure that they can build relationships and give the tenants the best chance 
of success whilst minimising the risk for the landlord.

1.3 The fund also had a further aim to develop an evidence base of what effectively tackles 
homelessness and rough sleeping and will enable the introduction of new schemes or 
bolster and extend existing schemes.

2.0 THE SCHEME IN TEWKESBURY BOROUGH

2.1 The Housing Advice Team at Tewkesbury Borough Council were able to use just over 
£45,000 to support 34 households that applied as homeless or threatened with 
homelessness.  These would have included a variety of cases from single homeless 
cases to larger families. The team have built relationships with landlords and secured a 
level of trust in our financial support and assessment of tenants.   

2.2 Incentives offered to landlords included: 

 One off finders’ fee.

 Rent in advance and deposits.

 Local Housing Allowance (housing benefit) shortfall payments.

 Contribution to Energy Performance Certificates or House of Multiple Occupation 
licences.

In addition to financial assistance, Officers were able to offer an ongoing relationship with 
the landlord or letting agent to provide advice to them or support the tenant with any 
problems.  Regular meetings were offered to both landlords and tenants to try and 
ensure the tenancy was a success. 

2.3 The value of working closely with housing applicants as well as landlords has been 
identified to ensure they are ready to take on a tenancy and present themselves as good 
prospective tenants.  This will not only benefit applicants considering the private sector 
but also other housing solutions.

154



3.0 BENEFITS OF ACCESSING PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR ACCOMMODATION

3.1 Accommodation can become available a lot more quickly in the Private Rented Sector 
than social housing through the housing register. This speeds up the process of 
rehousing applicants, reducing stress felt by households, reducing financial insecurity 
and reducing total cost to a local authority of assisting a homeless case.

3.2 Applicants have a greater number of property types and areas they can be considered 
for.  Social housing can be limited by traditional areas of stock and build type.  Access to 
the Private Rented Sector provides more options and better outcomes for households 
that need to be in a particular area e.g., for family support or particular property type due 
to health needs.

3.3 The impact on timely assistance with a homelessness case is felt much more widely than 
within a Local Authority Housing Team.  Health, Criminal Justice, Social Care and Drug 
and Alcohol services are just a few of the departments that see benefits from early 
intervention for homelessness cases.

3.4 The scheme has helped develop positive and trusting relationships with landlords 
through careful consideration of the tenants suitability to maintain the tenancy.  This has 
meant that landlords and agents have a better understanding of how we work and are 
open to future arrangements.

3.5 It is to be noted however that in a buoyant housing market, landlords do not need to rely 
on local authority ‘business’ to let their properties and financial incentives have been 
seen to have some limits to securing tenancies.  There is still work to be done to break 
through the barriers such as the, “No DSS” attitude (refusing applicants who are getting 
assistance with their rent) and stigma around getting support from a local authority in any 
form.  There is also often resistance from applicants to consider Private Rented 
accommodation with rogue landlords, less secure tenancies or affordability raised as 
concerns.

4.0 LESSONS LEARNT

4.1 The scheme took some time to show results as there were delays in getting approval 
from each district involved and different ways of working across the partnership 
developed.  Future joint ventures will need to address this and/or factor it into the early 
stages of a project.

4.2 The different ways of working and different interpretation of how the scheme should run 
led to diverging versions of the scheme within the partnership.  Future schemes can seek 
to avoid this by having: 

o Clear agreed guidance and monitoring process set out at beginning, that is 
followed.

o Timeframes set in place to claim back money.
o Consistent following of agreed guidance.
o Clear ownership of project/scheme at managerial level required.

4.3 Management of a future scheme could fall under the remit of the new Housing 
Partnership Team to provide consistency and oversight rather than relying on one district 
to lead.

155



5.0 NEXT STEPS

5.1 The intention is to continue providing financial support to our homeless applicants to help 
them secure PRS properties.  Engagement with landlords will also continue to keep 
improving our relationship with the sector and challenge myth and misunderstanding 
about what we can offer.     

5.2 We also aim to support and engage with future ‘Tenancy Ready’ projects on a County-
wide basis and improve employability outcomes by working with Going the Extra Mile.  
Both of these channels will help open up PRS to a wider number of households.  This 
interaction can also help challenge some of the concern around Private Rented 
accommodation from potential tenants.

5.3 The Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership will continue to seek innovative ways 
to support those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness and will continue to work 
to incentivise private sector landlords to take tenants on lower incomes wherever 
possible.

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

6.1 None.

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES

7.1 None.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

8.1 None.

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

9.1 None.

10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

10.1 None.

11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS

11.1 None.

Contact Officer: Interim Housing Services Manager. Tel:  07458 053603   
Email: john.bryant@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices:      Private Rented Sector (PRS) access scheme report.

156

mailto:john.bryant@tewkesbury.gov.uk


PRS access scheme - 19 January 2021

Appendix 1

Private Rented Sector (PRS) access scheme – Closing summary and 
recommendations

This report provides a closing summary of the County-wide PRS access scheme.

The partnership was initially awarded £363,408 following a successful bid to the MHCLG but 
following initial delays this was reduced to £292,333. Forest of Dean District Council became 
the lead authority, taking ownership from Tewkesbury Borough Council several months into 
the scheme. 

The partnership was due to close later this year, but two partner members tidied up their 
administration and claimed for £54,000 through the scheme (46 properties). With £2,544 
left in the pot to cover potential hidden costs and further reconciliation the PRS partnership 
has ‘closed’ in terms of funding. 

The partnership members are keen to meet on a regular basis as it is agreed that the shared 
learning and practices has and will continue to be beneficial.

There will be a closure meeting and information provided to the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government. Publica provided the administration of the scheme, 
were the budget holders, and will lead on this.

To summarize we can look at the initial proposal and targets that were set.

Proposal/target Achieved?
Landlords Forums and launch event

200 properties secured and let through the scheme

Provision of a ‘menus of incentives’ for landlords

Properties to be ‘fit for rent’

Provision of HHSRS training to all relevant officers

Agreed advertising package across the partnership

Introduction of a new private rented arm to Homeseeker Plus

157



PRS access scheme - 19 January 2021

Number of properties secured:

Local authority partner
Total 
Expenditure

Number of 
Properties 
August 2020

Number of 
properties at 
closure – Jan 2021

Cost per 
property

Cheltenham Borough Homes £87,310.41 60 89 £981

Cotswold District Council £9,431.76 5 6 £1,571

Forest of Dean DC £16,249.30 4 8 £2,031

Gloucester City Council £59,597.57 37 56 £1,064

Stroud District Council £31,274.05 4 28 £1,116

Tewkesbury Borough Council £45,694.16 6 28 £1,631

West Oxfordshire DC £40,930.54 13 19 £2,194

Running Total £290,487.79 129 234 £1,241

Key successes

The number of homes secured, and foundations laid for future working relationships with 
landlords and letting agents were the primary success stories from the scheme.

 234 properties secured
 Enhanced relationships with landlords and letting agents
 Trust and rapport developed
 Foundation laid with many landlords, and ‘word of mouth is working’ that LA can be 

trusted
 Additional options for housing teams, and applicants applying as homeless now 

more aware that the PRS is a realistic option
 Opportunities provide for non-priority applicants who were previously unlikely to 

have secured a property
 Deposits coming back to be recycled to the individual local authorities where correct 

process followed
 Increase in landlords on board and awareness of local authority homeless services 
 Training opportunities maximized
 Legislative standards met

158



PRS access scheme - 19 January 2021

Learning points and recommendation

There were some initial delays in the scheme commencing, around cabinet approvals and 
agreement for some of the scheme proposals, which led to a reduction in monies made 
available.  This is a known issue across multi-authority schemes with varying levels of 
approvals required and different timescales.

Other issues were LA’s bulk claiming back for properties (24 and 22) six to 12 months after 
the properties had been secured. This caused some issues as it was considered that there 
were ‘surplus’ monies available and the MHCLG were not willing to support further bids for 
PRS monies within the next steps funding. 

A menu of options to incentive landlords was set up but in most cases landlords wanted to 
be able to trust the local authority in terms of transparency, and on-going support if they 
experienced issues with the tenancy. The incentives became less necessary.

In future would suggest

 Clear agreed guidance and monitoring process set out at beginning, that is followed
 Timeframes set in place to claim back money
 Consistent following of agreed guidance
 Clear ownership of project/scheme at managerial level required

It could be in the remit of the new Partnership manager within the County-wide Strategic 
Housing network to oversee future schemes of this nature.

The officers involved in securing PRS solutions have agreed to continue to meet on a regular 
basis to share good practice and ongoing experiences.

Every local authority partner is committed to working with the PRS sector, and many now 
have solid foundations in place. Monies will need to be made available through homeless 
prevention funding, discretionary housing payments, or other funds secured.

159



Document is Restricted

160

Agenda Item 13


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	O&S Minutes 4 May 2021 FINAL

	5 Executive Committee Forward Plan
	6 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2021/22
	8 Council Plan Performance Tracker and COVID-19 Recovery Tracker - Quarter Four 2020/21
	Appendix 1- Council Plan Performance Tracker Q4 2020-21 (Inc KPI)
	KPI direction of travel key:
	Council Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key:

	Appendix 2- Recovery Plan Performance Tracker Q4 2020-21 (Inc KPI)
	Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan tracker actions:


	9 Corporate List of Policies and Strategies
	List Policies and Strategies 2021-22 Appendix 1

	10 Corporate Peer Challenge - Progress of Action Plan
	Peer challenge final report - Appendix 1
	Corporate Peer Challenge 2020 action plan update May 2021 Appendix 2

	11 Private Rented Sector Housing Scheme
	Private Rented Sector Scheme Appendix 1

	13 Separate Minutes

